
EXECUTIVE

Date: Tuesday 9 October 2018
Time: 5.30 pm
Venue: Rennes Room - Civic Centre

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business. 

If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Sarah Selway, Democratic 
Services Manager (Committees) on 01392 265275.

Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street.

Membership -
Councillors Edwards (Chair), Bialyk, Denham, Harvey, Leadbetter, Morse, Packham, Pearson and 
Sutton

Agenda

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present

1   Apologies

To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.

2   Minutes

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2018. (Pages 5 - 
8)

3   Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press 
and Public

RESOLVED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of items 16 
and 17 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 of Part I, Schedule 12A of the 
Act. 



4   Declarations of Interest

Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.  
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting.

5   Corporate Plan

To consider the report of the Chief Executive & Growth Director. (Pages 9 - 
36)

6   South Street Regeneration

To consider the report of the City Surveyor.

Place Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 13 September 
2018 and its comments will be reported.

(Pages 37 
- 92)

7   PSPO Spotlight Review Report

To consider the report of the Councillor Matthew Vizard and Councillor Laura 
Wright.

Place Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 13 September 
2018 and its comments will be reported.

(Pages 93 
- 98)

8   Proposal to introduce an updated Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Licensing Policy

To consider the report of the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.

Licensing Committee considered this report on 18 September 2018 and its 
comments will be reported 

(Pages 99 
- 158)

9   Additional Staffing to deal with changed in Mandatory Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) Licensing

To consider the report of the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager (Pages 
159 - 164)

10   Overview of the General Fund Budget 2018/19

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer.

Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 
27 September 2018 and its comments will be reported.

(Pages 
165 - 180)



11   2018/19 Capital Monitoring Statement - Quarter 1

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer.

Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 
27 September 2018 and its comments will be reported.

(Pages 
181 - 202)

12   Replacement Audio and Visual Equipment

To consider the report of the Corporate Manager Democratic & Civic Support.

Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 
27 September 2018 and its comments will be reported.

(Pages 
203 - 206)

13   Neighbourhood portion of Community Infra-Structure Levy/ Grants Roots 
Grants recommendations October 2018

To consider the report of the Programme Manager  - Communities. (Pages 
207 - 210)

14   TEDxExeter

To consider the report of the Chief Executive & Growth Director. (Pages 
211 - 212)

15   Local Industrial Strategy

To note the report of the Chief Executive & Growth Director. (Pages 
213 - 236)

Part II: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public excluded

No representations have been received in respect of the following items in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012.    

16   Future of Growth & Enterprise

To consider the report of the Director (DB). (Pages 
237 - 260)

17   Additional Resources - Finance

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
261 - 326)

Date of Next Meeting

The next scheduled meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 13 November 2018 at 5.30 
pm in the Civic Centre.

A statement of the executive decisions taken at this meeting will be produced and published 
on the Council website as soon as reasonably practicable.



Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer 
(Committees) on (01392) 265115 for further information.

Follow us:
www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265275.

http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil


EXECUTIVE

Tuesday 11 September 2018

Present:

Councillor Edwards (Chair)
Councillors Bialyk, Denham, Harvey, Leadbetter, Morse, Pearson and Sutton

Apologies:

Councillor Packham

Also present:

Director (BA), Director (DB), MRF Manager and Democratic Services Manager

87  MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2018 were taken as read, approved and 
signed by the Chair as correct.

88  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest were made.

89  URGENT DECISION  - MATERIAL RECLAMATION FACILITY

The Director (DB) advised Members on the urgent decision to allocate £15,000 of 
capital funding to install four CCTV cameras and an intruder alarm in the Material 
Reclamation Facility (MRF) building.  The operation of the MRF was regulated by 
the Environment Agency (EA). The EA had advised the Council that improvements 
were needed to its fire prevention measures and that the Council’s permit to operate 
was dependent on these measures. 

This decision had been made by the Director (DB) in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Place and Commercialisation and the Chair of Place Scrutiny Committee.

In response to a Member, the Director clarified that the Control Centre would 
undertake the surveillance.

The urgent decision was noted.

90  GREATER EXETER STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE

The Leader advised that in light of the decision taken by East Devon District Council 
the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) would be withdrawn to enable further 
work to be undertaken on the GESP. 

RESOLVED that the report be withdrawn.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



91  FREEDOM OF THE CITY

The Democratic Services Manager presented the report setting out a proposal to 
offer the Freedom of the City to:-

 Sir Steve Smith in recognition of his outstanding service to the City of 
Exeter, during his period as Vice Chancellor of the University of Exeter; and 

 Dr Todd Gray in recognition of his passionate interest in Exeter’s historic 
buildings and his concern for their continued preservation.

Members were advised that the way in which such nominations were considered by 
the Council had been changed earlier this year, whereby an Assessment Panel now 
sat to consider the written submissions received.

Members supported the nominations.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:-
 
(1)        the title of Honorary Freeman of the City Status be conferred on Sir Steve 

Smith and Dr Todd Gray; and
 
(2)        the Right Worshipful the Lord Mayor be requested to convene an 

Extraordinary Meeting of the Council to be held on the rising of the Ordinary 
Meeting on 16 October 2018, for the purpose of passing the appropriate 
resolution under Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972.

92  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - EXCLUSION 
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Act.  

93  MATERIALS RECLAMATION FACILITY INVESTMENT

The Director (DB) presented the report which discussed the reasons for investment 
in the Materials Reclamation Facility (MRF), and proposed options for increasing 
income and reducing costs.

In response to Members’ questions, the MRF Manager commented that the options 
would look to take advantage of advances in technology.

Members supported the benchmarking exercise.

RESOLVED that:- 

(1)   the comparison of the five options considered in sections 14 – 17 of the 
circulated report be noted, and the preparation of a full business case for 
capital investment in improvements to the storage and sorting of recycling at 
the MRF be supported; and  

(2)   the allocation of £10,000 to carry out a benchmarking exercise to compare 
the Councils current service against a kerbside-sort recycling scheme as 
outlined in Option 4 in Sections 17 and 18 of the circulated report be 
supported.

Page 6



(The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 5.49 pm)

Chair
The decisions indicated will normally come into force 5 working days after 
publication of the Statement of Decisions unless called in by a Scrutiny 
Committee.  Where the matter in question is urgent, the decision will come 
into force immediately.  Decisions regarding the policy framework or 
corporate objectives or otherwise outside the remit of the Executive will be 
considered by Council on 16 October 2018.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 9 October 2018 
Report of: Chief Executive and Growth Director

Title: Corporate Plan – “Our Strategy 2018-21”

Is this a Key Decision? No

Is this an Executive or Council Function? Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 The report presents the council’s draft 2018-21 Corporate Plan.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 It is recommended that:

 Executive notes and Council approves the council's 2018-21 draft Corporate 
Plan.

 Any necessary drafting amendments before publication be delegated to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 To endorse publication of the plan, to enable members, employees and stakeholders 
to be informed about the council’s key priorities up to 2021.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 There are no resource implications. Funding for any projects or initiatives identified in the 
plan will be considered as they are approved on an individual basis.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no additional financial implications arising from the report for the Council to 
consider.  The Corporate Plan, once adopted, will drive the medium term financial plan 
going forward in support of delivering a balanced budget for the Council.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 None

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 None

8. Report details:

8.1 The aim of the Corporate Plan is:  

 to promote understanding and ownership of the council’s achievements, direction 
and priorities;

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
 to set out some of the key actions the council will be taking;
 to enable reporting on progress with priorities

8.2 The plan sets out how, as leaders of the city and the council, we will:

 Help deliver the emerging Exeter Vision 2040, by providing services and 
developments that build on Exeter’s growth and success and meet local 
communities’ aspirations

 Focus on three strategic programmes that address the current, major challenges 
facing the city:

o Promote active and healthy lifestyles
o Build great neighbourhoods
o Tackle congestion and accessibility

 Provide value-for-money services despite continuing central government budget 
reductions

 Lead a well-run council

8.3 In December 2017, we invited a team from the Local Government Association, 
comprising members and officers from other councils to undertake a Corporate Peer 
Challenge. The peer team commended our role as leaders of place and how we work 
with our partners to influence and shape the city and the wider area both now and in 
the future:

“The council can be proud of its prominent role to position Exeter as one of 
country’s leading cities and as a principal business location in the South West 
and the benefits that this has provided for residents, stakeholders and 
businesses.”

“Exeter City Council can justifiably take pride in its leadership role, over the last 
15 years, in promoting economic growth.”

8.4 The peer team also concluded that a number of factors demand a re-balancing of our 
focus on the wider Exeter area with our focus on the interests of the city and the 
council as an organisation. This was a point highlighted by the Corporate Peer 
Challenge:

“The council has managed a period of change since 2010 in response to 
austerity.  These include:  setting aside unitary government proposals; reducing 
staff numbers (by 100) to 685 over the last five years; delivering the spending 
cuts needed without detrimental impact on services …  This backdrop of reduced 
resources and managing significant change makes the achievements of 
economic growth even more impressive.”

“The council has reached a point where some major programmes of work now 
need priority, for example around digital transformation, organisational change 
and commercialisation.”

8.5 Changes in the way customers access our services in a digital world, the changing 
nature of the workplace, commercial opportunities and ICT-enabled, new ways of 
working and delivering services, all require us to turn our attention to the 
transformation of the council. Faced with the Government’s ongoing austerity 

Page 10



 
measures, operating costs were reduced by £1.27m in 2017-18 and we need to 
reduce operating costs by an additional £3.9m over the next two years

8.6 The plan is intended primarily as an electronic document that is simple to navigate and 
provides easy access for members, officers and the public.  The plan can also be 
easily printed in a readable format and hard copies will be available on request.   

9. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

9.1 The risks of projects or initiatives identified in the plan will be assessed as they are 
approved on an individual basis and included in the Council’s Risk Register as 
appropriate.

10. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

10.1 The impact of the projects or initiatives identified in the plan will be assessed as they 
are approved on an individual basis.

Karime Hassan
Chief Executive and Growth Director

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



our strategy
2018-21 

P
age 13



as leaders of the city & the council we will:

n Help deliver the emerging Exeter Vision 2040, by providing 

services and developments that build on Exeter’s growth and 

success and meet local communities’ aspirations

n  Focus on three strategic programmes that address the 

current, major challenges facing the city:

 Tackling congestion and accessibility

 Promoting active and healthy lifestyles

 Building great neighbourhoods

n  Provide value-for-money services despite continuing 

central government budget reductions

n  Lead a well-run council

our strategy 2018-21

contents

Our Strategy 2018-21    2

The emerging Exeter Vision for 2040  4

Promoting active & healthy lifestyles   5

Building great neighbourhoods   10

Tackling congestion & accessibility   14 

Providing value-for-money services   18

Leading a well-run council    21

6

P
age 14



ta
c

k
li

ng c
ongestion

&
 a

ccessibility
building great

neighbourhoo
d
s

& a
c

ti
v
e

 l
if

e
s

t
y

l
e

s

pro
m

o
t
in

g
 h

e
a

lt
h

y
f

o
r

-m
o

n
e

y
 s

e
r

vic
es

p
r

o
v

id
in

g
 va

lu
e-

well-run council
leading a 

Our
priOrities

2018-21

our strategy 2018-21

providing 
value-for-money 
ServiceS
We will continue to improve the way we deliver services 

to meet residents’ day-to-day needs recognising that 

financial constraints are placing a premium on efficient 

and customer-focused services.

promoTing acTive 
& HealTHy lifeSTyleS

We will strive to make Exeter the most 

active city in England with a high-quality 

and accessible built environment and green 

spaces that encourage active and healthy 

lifestyles in communities that support 

wellbeing and reduce social isolation.

leading a Well-run council
To run the council well and deliver our strategy we will 

ensure effective governance, accountable decision 

making and good management of our business, assets 

and people. We will continue to seek opportunities to 

add value by working in partnership with others.

TacKling congeSTion & acceSSibiliTy 
We will work with our partners to make Exeter 

a city where active travel is promoted and 

where transport is not a barrier to accessing 

education, jobs, services or social activities 

and where sustainable means of travel 

are safer, cheaper, quicker and more 

convenient than private car ownership.

building greaT neigHbourHoodS
We will strive to ensure that every resident 

has a home that is secure, affordable 

and healthy in a neighbourhood where 

local services support wellbeing and 

promote community cohesion.

our 
values
HOW WE WOrk

m
e
et

 c
ust

omers’ needs 

h
ig

h
 q

uali
ty services

be flexible & have
 

a can-do approac
h

a
n

d
 r

e
s

p
e

c
t

s
h

o
w

 t
r

u
st

for our city & council
be proud to work

respo
n

d
 t

o
 p

e
o

p
l

e
’s

 v
ie

w
s

in
fo

r
m

, 
l
is

t
e

n
 &

 

P
age 15



the emerging exeter vision 2040

exeter needs a new vision to replace exeter vision 2020. We have been working with 
our partners and communities to understand their aspirations for the next 20 years. 

the emerging picture is captured below and we will be refining this over the coming months.

“By the time they are an adult, a 
child born in Exeter today will live 
in a city that is inclusive, healthy 
and sustainable – a city where 
the opportunities and benefits 
of prosperity are shared and all 
citizens are able to participate 
fully in the city’s economic, social, 
cultural and civic life.”

innovaTive & analyTical ciTy

Exeter will be a model of strong local 
democracy. Communities will organise 
themselves and use their assets and 
resources to reduce inequalities and create 
a sense of belonging. Active, engaged 
citizens and communities will be empowered 
to create, share and use data to respond to 
shared problems and needs. Exeter will be a 
young people-friendly city and young people 
will have a meaningful voice in the decisions 
that affect them and their communities. 

An innovative and analytical culture will 
support communities, businesses, civil 
society and public bodies to work together 
to solve the city’s challenges and achieve its 
ambitions.

HealTHy & incluSive

Exeter will be healthy and happy and local 
services will support people to live their lives 
well, in the ways that matter to them. Every 
resident will have a home that is secure, 
affordable and healthy in a balanced and 
connected neighbourhood that supports 
wellbeing and reduces social isolation. 
Access to clean, secure and affordable 
energy will help to eliminate fuel poverty. 
Health, care and wellbeing services will be 
designed and delivered in partnership with 
the communities who use them.

THe moST acTive ciTy in THe uK

Exeter will be the most active and accessible 
city in England – transport will not be a 
barrier to economic or social activities, and 
sustainable means of travel will be cheaper, 
quicker and more convenient than private 
car ownership. Land currently dominated 

by driving and parking will be freed up for 
social, economic and environmental uses 
and air will be clean and healthy. A high-
quality and accessible built environment and 
green spaces, with great arts and cultural 
facilities, will encourage healthy, active 
lifestyles. A comprehensive network of 
safe routes will ensure that most everyday 
journeys are made by walking and cycling.

acceSSible World-claSS educaTion

Exeter will be agile and innovative, and 
economic growth will be clean, inclusive 
and resilient. Local supply chains will be 
stronger, supporting the city’s businesses 
and social enterprises and keeping more 
money within the local economy. All 
residents will have access to world-class 
education and training, and meaningful, 
high-quality employment with fair wages. 
The life-changing benefits of access to and 
participation in arts, culture and physical 
activity will be realised. Employers will be 
able to recruit, nurture and retain a skilled 
local workforce as well as attracting the best 
global talent.

liveable & connecTed

Exeter will be a liveable city, with a thriving 
city centre, within a network of thriving rural 
and coastal towns and villages. The impacts 
of growth will be managed and mitigated 
and communities will lead development, 
helping to create a city where everyone has 
access to the places and services which 
enable them to meet their needs and lead 
fulfilling lives. Urban planning will protect 
and enhance Exeter’s exceptional natural 
and historic environment, safeguard its 
iconic landscape setting, and encourage 
high-quality contemporary design that 
complements and enhances the city’s 
heritage.

a leading SuSTainable ciTy

Exeter will be recognised as a leading 
sustainable city and a global leader in 
addressing the social, economic and 
environmental challenges of climate change 
and urbanisation. The Exeter of the future 
will have grasped the opportunities ahead of 
us today.

4

P
age 16



Promoting active & healthy lifestyles

45

P
age 17



Background

A quarter of the population (11.5 million people) are inactive, 

meaning they do less than 30 minutes of exercise that gets them 

slightly out of breath each week. In Exeter, some people are 

already more physically active than the national average and two 

years ago Exeter became the most active city in the South West. 

However, there are certain groups, such as those on low incomes 

or unemployed, women and people living with disabilities who 

struggle to be physically active in their everyday lives.

Whist Exeter is overall a healthy place to live some areas in the 

city have poorer health outcomes than others and whilst prosperity 

overall in the city has grown in recent years the health inequalities 

gap between the most and least well-off areas has increased.

Yet we know that active and healthy lifestyles bring wider benefits 

to individuals and communities and can help tackle strategic 

challenges. In particular, more people leading an active and healthy 

life could reduce health inequality, tackle congestion, improve 

community connectivity and reduce social isolation.

Promoting active & healthy lifestyles

6

P
age 18



7

Promoting active & healthy lifestyles

the challenge

n The most recent Active Lives survey data shows 

17% of people (18,900) in Exeter are inactive, taking part 

in less than 30 minutes a week of physical activity. In total, 

including children and young people, we estimate that over 

30,000 residents are doing less than the recommended 

150 minutes of physical activity per week.

 

n There is a widening inequality gap for Exeter communities 

in terms of health, employment and access to services. 

Exeter has populations that face social and financial exclusion, 

particularly in the six wards lying in the top 20% most deprived 

in the country.

 

n  Some groups are at significant disadvantage and 

communities are unequal. The life expectancy at birth 

for residents in Topsham is over 86 years. This is more than 

12 years greater than for those living in Sidwell Street where 

life expectancy is just 74.5 years. This is close to the maximum 

life expectancy inequality (16.7 years) between most and least 

deprived areas in England.

n Exeter has significant congestion challenges and is the 

slowest moving city in the Uk. Over 40% of car journeys 

within the city boundaries are between 0-5kms.

P
age 19



Promoting active & healthy lifestyles

exeTer & cranbrooK SporT england

local delivery piloT

In December 2017, Sport England confirmed Exeter and the East 

Devon new town of Cranbrook as one of twelve places selected to 

work on a ground-breaking new approach to tackle inactivity. Through 

its ‘Towards an Active Nation’ strategy, Sport England aims to build 

healthier, happier communities and to discover a blueprint for tackling 

inactivity. Around £100million of National Lottery funding will be 

invested in the twelve pilot areas over four years to make it easier for 

people in these communities to access sport and physical activity.

 

Competing with over 100 other local authorities in the country, the 

Exeter and Cranbrook bid was selected as one of the national pilots 

due to our strong track record of partnership working in the city. Also 

critical were the success of programmes such as Active Exeter and 

Wellbeing Exeter and the commitment of city leaders to work together 

to make Exeter the most active city in England and, with Cranbrook 

our local NHS Healthy New Town, to become pioneering places that 

lead active lifestyles.

8

P
age 20



Promoting active & healthy lifestyles

our plans 

over the next three years we will work with Sport england and local delivery partners to 

focus resources on finding out how to get everyone more active in everyday life with a focus on:

n People at the highest risk of physical inactivity and families on low incomes

n People living within a 10-mile radius of Exeter who regularly commute to the city and those who use 

their car to drive to work for local facilities, the school drop-off or leisure activities

n Modernising our leisure facilities and improving playing fields, parks and open spaces. 

by 2021 we will have achieved:

n Year-on-year increases in physical activity levels and less people inactive

n Exeter is the most active city in England

n An increase in the health span of citizens with a reduction in the years spent in frail condition

n Indications of future narrowing health inequality with more, previously inactive people now leading active lifestyles

n A new city centre swimming pool & leisure centre with improving facilities at riverside, Wonford & Exeter Arena

n A reduction in congestion through more people walking and cycling

n Cycling to work doubled (from 6% to 12%), with 50% of people walking or cycling to work

n Improved inclusivity and sense of community connectivity and belonging

n Data and integrated analytics to understand how to get more people more active in everyday life

10,000 Residents changing from inactive to a regular active lifestyle

6,000 People at highest risk of inactivity becoming active 

4,200 More people choosing active travel for work

9

P
age 21



Building great neighBourhoods

10

P
age 22



11

Background

Exeter has always ranked very highly as a great place to live in 

comparison with other cities in the Uk. It is the quality of the 

environment, the friendliness of local people and the quality of life 

that make it so. Its popularity and its attractiveness as a place, 

drive growth and investment. This fuels demand for more housing, 

placing greater pressures on an overloaded infrastructure including 

hospitals, schools and other public services. Much of the new 

housing and the new jobs have migrated to the edge of the city and 

there remains great reliance on the private car to get about. It is 

clear that congestion on the city’s roads is having a direct impact 

on quality of life, while at the same time undermining Exeter’s 

economic success story.

The emerging Exeter Vision 2040 captures the sense of the city’s 

importance on a global stage, as the home of world-renowned 

businesses, institutions and organisations such as the Met Office 

and the University. With people living in connected, cohesive, 

healthy safe and active communities. This means attracting and 

retaining the most talented individuals by offering a fantastic 

quality of life in the very best kind of environment whilst ensuring 

local communities can continue to connect and flourish. It is also 

about embracing the new and relishing change and making sure 

no one gets left behind with everyone in the city benefiting from 

growth and opportunity. It is about finding a place for the new 

entrepreneurs and the new businesses that will spring up in the city 

and finding ways to help existing businesses to evolve and flourish.

 

The city is already home to a rich network of diverse and friendly 

neighbourhoods. The aim is  protect and nurture these communities 

but also to ensure that existing and new residents will have a home 

that is secure, affordable and healthy in a balanced and connected 

neighbourhood that supports wellbeing and reduces social isolation 

with new communities built around hubs of activity, workspaces, 

schools, community spaces and local shops.

Building great neighBourhoods

P
age 23



Building great neighBourhoods

12

the challenge

n There is a shortage of social and affordable one and two 

bedroomed homes in the city with over 3,000 people on the waiting 

list for social and affordable housing.

n Section 106 agreements currently deliver on average 

110 affordable homes per year: but the Greater Exeter Strategic 

Plan (GESP) highlights the need for an additional 627 homes per 

year across the city of which half will need to be affordable.

n Unless we change our approach we could have a shortfall 

of approximately 7,000 affordable homes by 2040. 

n Typical house and flat prices in Exeter are increasing. 

The September 2017 Land registry/Yorkshire Building Society 

Uk Home Affordability Index shows that Exeter’s house price 

to earnings ratio is 8.8:1

P
age 24



Building great neighBourhoods

our plans 

We will:

n Create a council-owned and controlled housing development company 

to build the new one and two bedroomed homes the city needs 

n Build on our strategic partnerships:

  

...continuing our work with neighbouring local authorities to deliver a GESP

...working with Exeter City Futures & partners to explore a sustainable, city development fund

n Continue to build more social housing

13

P
age 25



tackling congestion & accessiBility

14

P
age 26



Background

Arguably, traffic congestion is one of the biggest problems facing 

Exeter today. A growing population and increases in people 

living in, visiting and working in the city mean that this will only 

become a bigger challenge and a potential inhibitor to future 

economic growth. Any further development of land for housing and 

employment will potentially have a negative impact on our road 

network.

Devon County Council, as the Transport Authority, is responsible 

for roads, traffic management and road safety. They have worked 

with us to manage the impact of traffic on the highway network and 

are implementing a range of congestion management solutions. 

Increasingly, financial constraints have restricted what can be done 

to mitigate the impact of continuing economic growth.

 

As Exeter continues to grow and we build the housing numbers 

required to support this growth it is critical that we work continue 

to closely with Devon Country Council and our neighbouring 

authorities via the GESP to ensure that we can meet our vision of a 

connected city that is a great place to live.

 

To help address this issue we have partnered with key city 

stakeholders to form Exeter City Futures (ECF), an independent 

Community Interest Company with a mission to make Exeter 

congestion free and energy independent by 2025.

 

ECF is building a strong network of partner organisations who are 

committing to the mission and it is setting out specific goals relating 

to reduction in private car use, increase in shared and active 

transport and improvements in air quality.

tackling congestion & accessiBility

15

P
age 27



tackling congestion & accessiBility

the challenge

n Census data shows that in 2011 there were 37,000 people 

commuting to work in the city each day, leading to an increase of 

28.5% in Exeter’s work day population

n In 2017, Exeter was named as the fastest growing city in the 

Uk (Centre for Cities). That same year it was named the slowest 

moving city in the Uk with an average speed of just 4.6 mph 

during peak hours (The INrIX 2017 Global Traffic Scorecard)

n Exeter drivers spend an average of 24.9 hours a year sitting in 

traffic congestion at rush hour (INrIX)

n residents in the Greater Exeter area spend around £500 million 

every year on fuel for their cars

n It is expected that 40,000 new residents will be living in the 

Greater Exeter by 2026 which could add 14,000 car journeys 

to the roads

n Exeter City Council receives significant income from its car 

parks; congestion reduction schemes must address this reduction 

in revenue

16

P
age 28



tackling congestion & accessiBility

our plans 

We will continue to work with Devon County Council, neighbouring councils 

and Exeter City Futures to:

n Create a strong collaborative environment that brings together councils, 

the private sector and communities to solve jointly the transport and accessibility 

challenges facing our city

n Promote and support the use of open data, data analytics and engagement approaches 

to identify clear challenges to be solved

n Through collaboration, co-creation and social enterprise, access innovative solutions 

to those challenges that meet the needs of people 

Working collaboratively with the City to build 
a healthier and more sustainable Exeter

17

P
age 29



Providing value-for-money services

18

P
age 30



19

Providing value-for-money services

Background

We provide more than 100 services to those living in, working, 

visiting and studying in the city from our annual budget of £11.8m.

formula grant

reduction from £12m to £4.8m 2010-18

cost reductions to date

  2012-13   £0.947m

  2013-14   £1.441m

  2014-15   £1.465m

  2015-16   £1.377m

  2016-17   £1.825m

  2017-18   £1.265m

  TOTAL    £8.32m

net Budget

30% reduction

2010

£16.8m

2018

£11.8m

60%

the challenge

In the face of ongoing austerity there is less money and more demand 

on our services than ever before. If we continue delivering services in 

the same way as we do today there will be a significant funding gap 

over the next five years. This is despite a track record of reducing 

our cost base by £8.32million over the last six years. This on-going 

requirement to ‘balance the books’ each year means we have to 

continue to reduce our costs, generate additional income and prioritise 

spending. We also need to balance our successful strategy of growing 

the city with a focus on the council itself and how we deliver our 

services.

A focus on value for money is therefore critical for our strategy moving 

forward. To provide value for money services we must:

Spend less  Minimise the cost of delivering services

Spend wisely  Prioritise what we spend money on 

Spend well  Provide services efficiently, making the best 
   use of available resources

anticipated cost reductions

2019 - 2021 £3.9m

P
age 31



our plans

To meet ongoing reductions in central government funding we will:

n Expand our commercial activity and generate more income

n Improve the management of our built assets, improving value for money, 

income potential and maximising longevity

n Procure goods and services as efficiently and effectively as possible

n Modernise our policy and processes for allocating grants

n Make it as easier as possible for more people to help themselves by providing 

high quality information and advice through digital and self-help services

n Provide accessible, high quality, customer-focused, efficient and effective one-stop shop 

services for people who need our help and advice

n Support our staff to shift to agile, mobile and remote working, ensuring we make 

the best use of the skills and experience of all our staff

Providing value-for-money services

20

P
age 32



leading a Well-run council

21

P
age 33



leading a Well-run council

As for all organisations, delivery of our strategy relies on us 

being a well-run council. For us this means having open and 

accountable governance arrangements, adopting management 

best practice and complying with a range of regulations and 

statutory requirements.

as a well-run council, we will:

n Inform and engage openly with our stakeholders

n Ensure that health and safety at work is a priority for the 

council and that all staff are aware of its significance for their 

roles and responsibilities

n Develop the capability of our staff to ensure they are highly 

motivated, well trained and meet our values

n Promote equality and diversity and tackle social exclusion in 

all of our work

n Manage risks and performance

n Ensure we are resilient to deal with emergencies and 

disruptive incidents

n  Use data to inform our decisions and priorities

n Manage and secure our information, which will be 

transparent and accessible

n reduce our carbon and waste production and reduce our 

energy consumption to help make Exeter a greener place

22

our 
values
HOW WE WOrk

h
ig

h
 q

uali
ty services

be flexible & have
 

a can-do approac
h

a
n

d
 r

e
s

p
e

c
t

s
h

o
w

 t
r

u
st

for our city & council
be proud to work

respo
n

d
 t

o
 p

e
o

p
l

e
’s

 v
ie

w
s

in
fo

r
m

, 
l
is

t
e

n
 &

 

P
age 34



our strategy
2018-21 

for more information: exeter.gov.uk/strategy

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Final

REPORT TO: PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE and EXECUTIVE 
Date of Meeting:  13th September 2018 (Executive) 9th October 2018
Report of: City Surveyor
Title: South Street Regeneration

Is this a Key Decision? 

No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Executive

1. What is the report about?

1.1 This  report follows the resolution of Executive in October 2017 that an Urban Design 
Consultancy be appointed to give the context for current and future development 
opportunities in South Street and consider the Street’s role in the link between the City 
and the Quay

1.2 Lacey Hickie Caley,Exeter based Consultants were appointed following a procurement 
exercise. They have prepared a set of Urban Design Proposals for the South Street 
area which are annexed to this report.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1    That Place Scrutiny Committee and Executive note the Urban Design Proposals and    
         confirm their support for implementation on an incremental basis subject to 
         appropriate consultation and budget availability; and

2.2    That the proposals be incorporated into the developing City Centre Strategy; and

2.3    Officers with the help of DCC and others to explore the implementation of the Early 
    Interventions set out on Page 50 of the Urban Design Proposals report.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 South Street is an important part of the City which is changing as the city centre 
transforms. 
The street needs to create its own identity and clarify its function. Potentially it can act 
as an important link between the city centre and Exeter Quayside. It would be 
appropriate to incorporate the suggested proposals for South Street and the 
surrounding areas of the wider West Quarter into any revision of the City Centre 
Strategy.

3.2      A practical approach to moving these priority improvements forward is an incremental 
one based on a series of dialogues and further consultation with stakeholders 
including our tenants, BID representatives etc. There are a number of conversations 
already initiated with developers and others who have an interest in various 
development projects. The proposals identify “Early Interventions” which can be 
explored first, potentially as a catalyst to further improvement.

3.3       Many of these interventions will require cooperation and support from DCC as 
Highway Authority. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



Final

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

4.1 Broad Budget Guidelines are set out in the Urban Design Proposals. Offices will 
explore these opportunities and report back on initiatives as they emerge.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no additional financial requests contained within the report for Council to 
approve at this stage.  However there is a long list of projects in the report that would 
require significant investment.  The Council’s current financial position is such that any 
investment, if not financed from capital resources such as CIL, would require 
borrowing and add to the significant savings required by the Council.  Therefore 
Members must weigh up this potential scheme against all the other priorities it has that 
require funding.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 In the event that the acquisition of land needs is considered, then the costs of 
acquisition, negotiation and ultimately Compulsory Purchase Orders under the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will need to be considered.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues of concern for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Next steps

8.1 A number of dialogues are ongoing with developers. The outcome of these will be 
shaped by the Urban Design Proposals.
An incremental approach to be adopted commencing with the “Early Interventions” 
suggested in the Proposals, as resources permit

9. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

9.1 There will be no adverse impact.

10. Are there any other options?

10.1 The proposals set out a range of options for the improvement of South Street. Earlier 
consultation and review indicated that a substantial urban redevelopment proposition 
would not be suitable for the area. That approach has therefore been discounted.

Michael Carson
City Surveyor

Page 38



August 2018

South    
Street
Urban Design Proposals

Prepared by.

Page 39



2

Unless otherwise stated, the Ordnance Survey 

mapping included within this document is provided 

under licence from the Ordnance Survey. Persons 

viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey 

copyright for advice where they wish to licence 

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. 

Unless otherwise stated, copyright for photographic 

and other illustrative material is owned by Lacey 

Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC). 

Any reproduction of this publication or of any 

pictures /drawings in whole or in part without Lacey 

Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC) express written permission is 

prohibited. 

All rights reserved Lacey Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC). 

© LHC May 2018

Page 40



3

Contents

1 Introduction

1.1 Purpose 

1.2 Aims and Objectives

1.3 Approach to the Project

2 Understanding the Site

2.1 Site Location & Role

2.2 Historic Development

2.3 Strategic Policy Background

2.4 Site Ownership and Management

2.5 Site & Context Appraisal

2.6 Existing Vehicular and Pedestrian 
Movement 

3 Consultation Process

3.1 Previous Consultation

3.2 Stakeholder Workshop

3.3 Summary of Feedback

4 Strategy & Vision

4.1 Vision

4.2  Objectives

5 Life

5.1 Highways Circulation Review

5.2 Intensification and 
Diversification of Uses

5.3 Maximise street life and encourage 
community involvement

6 Spaces

6.1 Public Realm Enhancements

6.2 Pedestrian and cycle link 
improvements to the Quay

6.3 Project Areas

6.4 Improve Legibility and Wayfinding

7 Buildings

7.1 Potential opportunities for building 
refurbishment and redevelopment

7.2 Shop frontages and street 
level architecture

7.3 Mixed-use development

7.4 Building character and sustainable 
forms of development 

8 Early Interventions

8.1 Early Highways Interventions

8.2 Low cost and deliverable 
interventions

9 Summary of Projects

9.1 Summary of Projects

9.2 High Level Costing

9.3 Phasing

10 Next Steps

10.1 Next Steps   

10.2 Further Studies

10.3 Exeter City Member Engagement

“First life, then 
spaces, then 

buildings - 
the other way 
around never 

works”
Jan Gehl

4

4

4

6

6

8

9

10

12

14

14

14

16

16

20

22

22

26

26

 
27

33

36 

37

 
37

37

44

44

48

48

48

51
51
51
Page 41



4

1.1 Purpose

Exeter City Council has identified the importance of South 
Street and the surrounding area as a key part of the 
city centre and the interface between the High Street, 
Cathedral Quarter, West Quarter and Quay. 

LHC Architecture and Urbanism were commissioned by 
Exeter City Council to prepare an Urban Design Strategy 
for South St and the surrounding area in early 2018, 
with the aim of identifying potential enhancement and 
development opportunities that will benefit local business, 
community and visitors to the City Centre. 

Exeter City Council is committed to the improvement of 
South Street and its surroundings for the benefit of local 
business, citizens and visitors. The Council is a stakeholder 
in the South Street area, being a landowner, leisure facility 
operator as well as being a custodian of the public realm 
and the visitor offer.

The approach taken builds upon previous studies into 
the future and role of the City Centre, and engagement 
with stakeholders to develop a responsive design which 
addresses the key aims and objectives set by the brief.

1.2 Aims and Objectives

A number of key aims and objectives were set by Exeter 
City Council within the project brief. These can be 
summarised as;

1) To identify in a document proposal for improved 
Urban Design focussed on South Street to unleash 
its potential.

2) To have particular regard to a key link and other 
supporting links crossing South Street between City 
and Quay.

3) To prioritise a schedule of improvements with 
indicative costings.

4) To ensure the Urban Design proposals reflect 
ambitious but deliverable projects with an 
incremental approach to improvements identified 
therein.

5) The document has regard to the context and 
framework for the key priorities and improvements 
identified from public consultation and for future 
developments.

6) The improvements identified have regard to ongoing 
negotiations with developers, consultants and 
others in the six areas shown in the report to Exeter 
City Council’s Executive 

7) To consult with local stakeholders and relevant 
Executive Members at the stages of formulating 
the proposals and then with the prioritised design 
solutions proposed.

So
ut

h 
St

re
et

 A
re

a 
of

 F
oc

us
 

1 Introduction

Site and Context Appraisal

Stakeholder Engagement

Define Aims & Objectives

Identify Potential Projects

1. Life 2. Spaces 3. Buildings 4. Early 
Interventions

Next Steps

Page 42



5
Page 43



6

2.1 Site Location

The study area is located in the south-western part of 
Exeter City Centre, roughly defined by Cathedral Yard 
and the High Street to the north, Fore Street and the 
West Quarter to the north west, Western Way and the 
Quayside to the south and Southgate roundabout to the 
southeast. 

A flexible approach to the study area was taken, with 
a primary focus on South Street, but consideration of 
the wider area to reflect the importance of the area as 
transition area and movement zone between the City 
Centre and the Quay and adjacent residential areas.

2.2 Historic Development

The site is at the core of the historic city centre; roughly 
at the centre of the walled city  and one of the key 
historic routes into the city from the south (and quayside).  
The top of South Street is the junction between the four 
key routes through the city centre - High Street, Fore 
Street, North Street and South Street - historically known 
as Quatrefoix or Carfax, and the location of the Great 
Conduit (a public water fountain located in the centre of 
the street, which was demolished in the 1770s).

Much of the historic fabric of this part of the city centre 
was destroyed during World War II, and by subsequent 
post war demolition and clearance. The construction of 
Western Way required further demolition and introduced a 
barrier between the city centre and quayside.

Subsequent post war development has resulted in the loss 
of the historic street pattern and much of the historic built 
form, a wider street form, and the retention of isolated 
remnants of the city wall and older buildings in the 
southern part of South Street and at the corner of North 
Street. This is demonstrated in the overlay plans provided 
opposite.

The post war development created larger buildings 
footprints and a horizontal building emphasis, reducing 
density and contrasting with the more detailed 
fenestration and vertical emphasis of the older buildings.

A number of the historic east – west streets, namely 
Guinea Street, Sun Street and George Street have been 
closed off by post war development,  reducing the 
permeability of the area and limiting connectivity between 
the Quayside and Cathedral Precinct/City Centre.

South Street has been widened since the post-war period, 
resulting in a wide street sided by relatively low-level 
buildings.

A
er

ia
l S

ou
th

 S
tr

ee
t 

 

2 Understanding The Site

Page 44



7

 Current built form

 Pre-war built form 
Overlay - 1890-1914 OS Map and current built form

The White Hart, South Street

Historic Map Besley’s Historic Map of Exeter 1905 
showing streets linking the city centre to the Quay 

Photo of South Street in 1900Page 45



8

2.3 Strategic Policy Background

Exeter is an important and rapidly expanding, regional 
centre, serving a retail catchment of over 1 million people 
and in the top 50 national retail centres (CACI). Exeter is 
an important employment hub, and has regionally important 
cultural facilities including the Royal Albert Memorial 
Museum.

The role of city centres is changing, with dramatic changes 
to the retail marketplace and the resurgence of city centres 
as places to live, work and play.  With these changes in mind 
the Urban Design proposals have been developed both with 
regard to wider strategic policies for Exeter City Centre, and 
with thought to future continuing changes to the role of the 
city centre, which are likely to include:

• Shopping as a leisure pursuit, linked to cultural or 
leisure activities and restaurant dining 

• Changes to transport patterns, with likely reductions 
in private car use and an increase in public transport, 
autonomous vehicles and pedestrian/cycle traffic

• Flexible working patterns, including provision of work 
hubs and shared work space for small businesses

• An increase in the number of people living within the 
city centre

• The impact of Climate Change on public space 
and building function and design, and in particular 
increasing temperatures and rainfall

The City Centre Vision for a Green Capital, published 
2011, sets out a Vision for a sustainable and accessible city 
centre that builds upon Exeter’s sense of place to create a 
mixed use city centre that has good transport connectivity, 
with private cars limited to the edge of the city during 
daylight hours, and walkable and attractive spaces that 
support a range of activities. 

The Vision document identifies South Street as part of the 
West Quarter and sets out a number of principles which 
relate to the objectives of this Strategy:

•  The distinctive character of the different quarters 
along the linear spine will be reinforced, creating 
areas with their own unique character and focus. The 
different quarters... will be well connected beyond the 
linear spine.

•  Any new development in the city centre will respect 
the city skyline and reflect the underlying topography.

•  Development in the city centre will improve the 
legibility of the historic walled city and city gates.

•  Repair the finer grain of the walled city.

•  Create an exciting mix of contemporary design and 
historic buildings

•  Match projected housing growth in Exeter with 
growth in culture, services, employment and retail. 
Exeter should be recognised as a cultural centre of 
the peninsula.

•  Create a true mixed use urban centre including more 
employment, housing and evening economy, delivered 
in a higher density, space efficient urban form.

•  Become a genuinely ‘green’ place that moves 
beyond the standard sustainability agenda and 
takes advantage of local enterprise and business 
opportunities

•  Prioritise pedestrians in the city centre and 
discourage cross town traffic

•  Create a clear network of interconnected high quality 
pedestrian dominated streets, public spaces and 
parks

•  Improve pedestrian and cycle access and enhance the 
arrival experience

•  Improve foot and cycle connection to the river and 
surrounding countryside and create more usable 
green space in the city centre

•  Increase urban biodiversity by creating and 
connecting habitats within the built fabric and along 
the riverside

The City Centre Strategy for Exeter 2013 – 2022, 
published 2013, builds upon the Vision for a Green City 
Centre and sets out key City Centre Aims for the next 5-10 
years:

1. A sustainable, resilient and competitive City Centre; 
reinforcing the city centre’s unique layout to ensure 
all the City Centre’s quarters are strengthened 

2. A vibrant centre which offers attractions for all;

3. A welcoming and safe evening and night-time 
environment;

4. A better first impression;

5. A clean, well maintained and safe environment.

The City Centre Strategy highlights the need to improve the 
leisure and cultural offer in the City Centre, which has been 
recently enhanced by the refurbishment of the Guildhall 
Shopping Centre (providing a number of high quality 
restaurants and enhanced public spaces).  It also highlights 
the potential to increase the number of people living in 
an attractive city centre and the potential to support the 
current growth in independent retailers, particularly in the 
West Quarter. The Business Improvement District (BID), with 
engagement from the public and private sectors is identified 
as key to the delivery of the Strategy.

The site area is substantially within the Central 
Conservation Area, and  adjacent to the Riverside and 
Southernhay & the Friars Conservation Areas. The relevant 
Appraisals and Management Plans have informed the site 
and context appraisal and development of proposals. In 
addition there a number of Listed Buildings and Schedule 
Ancient Monuments within and close to the study area.

The New Entertainment Venue Advisory Group (NEVAG), 
which is made from a broad range of representatives from 
the arts, cultural and entertainment sectors has worked 
with officers to oversee a New Entertainment Venue 
Needs Assessment which was undertaken by Fourth Street 
and published in September 2017. The report included 
an appraisal of a number of possible sites for a new 
entertainment venue and concluded that the Corn Exchange 
was the preferred location for any future venue. This study 
acknowledges these recommendations however the findings 
of the assessment will now be the subject to further  
separate consultation with the public and key stakeholders.

The development of urban design proposals also 
acknowledges the vision of Exeter City Futures, which 
seeks to solve urbanisation challenges and reduce social 
inequality in a way that contributes to economic growth.Page 46



9

2.4 Site Ownership and Management

The site and wider study area is located within the study 
area and contains a number of land holdings under various 
ownership and management.

Exeter City Council has freehold ownership of many of 
the existing buildings fronting on to the northern section 
of South Street, which are subject to various occupier 
leasehold agreements. This offers a potential opportunity 
should there be future proposals to redevelop existing 
building stock.

The City Council also has significant ownership within 
adjacent areas of the city centre, and there is potential 
for these to be included in any regeneration proposals 
to widen the opportunity for development and increase 
potential funding for public realm enhancements.

There are also a number of buildings under private 
ownership within the southern areas of South Street. The 
Cathedral and Cathedral School also own a number of key 
buildings within and adjacent to the study area. 

Early consultation with land owners is considered 
important to ensure that any forthcoming private 
development proposals are in accordance with the aims 
and objectives of this Urban Design Strategy.  

The majority of the public realm within the study area is 
adopted by Devon County Council. Therefore, any public 
realm proposals implicating Highways will need to be 
developed in close consultation with Devon County as 
`Highways Authority. 

However, a number of streets including Kalanderhay, 
Cathedral Yard, The Cloisters, Deanery Place and Palace 
Gate are owned by and managed by the Cathedral.

La
nd

 O
w

ne
rs

hi
p 

D
ia

gr
am

 Exeter City Council Freehold  ownership

 Buildings in private ownership

 Adopted Highway

SOUTH STREET

FO
RE

 S
TR

EE
T

WESTERN WAY

Page 47



10

2.5 Site & Context Appraisal

South Street sits at the edge between the West Quarter, 
Cathedral Quarter, and West Quarter, with connectivity to the 
Quayside to the south. 

The area falls between these areas and at present lacks a 
clear identity and function within the City Centre; which 
is exacerbated by the poor quality of some of the public 
realm and some of the buildings. Conversely the historic 
buildings, including Paternoster House, Sacred Heart Catholic 
Church, the White Ensign Club, George’s Meeting House 
(Wetherspoons) and the White Hart Hotel give a taste of the 
streets historic character and generate footfall and activity 
(see plan bottom right)

Over the past few years South Street has strengthened its 
retail and leisure offer with a number of independent shops 
and restaurants locating in the street, along with a number 
of charity shops, helping to strengthen the character of the 
street and connection to Fore Street and the West Quarter 
Independent Shopping Area. This natural evolution suggests 
the potential for the area to develop as a natural extension to 
the West Quarter, providing an opportunity for a mix of uses 
including independent traders, restaurants and bars, arts and 
cultural activity, workplaces and residential accommodation. 

A detailed site appraisal identified key issues within the study 
area, which are illustrated on the plan opposite. A summary of 
existing site strengths and weaknesses include;

Strengths;

• Several key historic and positive buildings fronting 
South Street

• Occupies a historic route north-south across the 
city centre, with the site of the historic South Gate 
(demolished) and potential for excellent connections to 
the quayside

• Numerous independent traders (retail and bar/
restaurant) already present offering life to the street

• Existing mixed-use area, including some residential uses 
• Rising topography creates a key vista looking up South 

Street, views to the Cathedral and potential views to 
the wider landscape from upper floors

• Exeter City Council own significant areas, creating 
potential redevelopment opportunities and 
opportunities for intensification of uses throughout the 
area

Weaknesses;

• Lack of identity of South Street as part of the wider 
city centre quarters

• Loss of historic character and tired poor quality post-
war buildings

• Highways dominated space used as a vehicular cut-
through across city centre leading to poor pedestrian 
environment

• Lack of legibility and poor routes between Quay, City 
Centre & Cathedral

• Tired and poor quality public realm
• Post-war development has broken historical street 

pattern and some buildings out of scale

Ex
et

er
 C

it
y 

C
en

tr
e 

Q
ua

rt
er

s 
St

ud
y 

A
re

a 
lo

ca
tio

n  

Page 48



11

Key:
  Grade 1 Listed

  Grade II*

  Grade II

  Locally Listed 

  Scheduled 
Monuments

CATHEDRAL

CATHEDRAL

U
rb

an
 Q

ua
lit

y
Li

st
ed

 B
ui

ld
in

gs

Key:
  Positive

  Negative

  Illegible

  Inefficient  

SOUTH STREET
SOUTH STREET

FO
RE

 S
TR

EE
T

FO
RE

 S
TR

EE
T

WESTERN WAY

WESTERN WAY

Page 49



12

2.6 Existing Vehicular and Pedestrian Movement

Existing permeability through the study area is restricted by 
the historic city wall, Western Way and the River. Pedestrian 
movement routes from adjacent parts of the city are primarily 
focused on three key routes:

• Exe Bridges - Fore Street (from the south west)

• North St (from the north west)

• Barnfield Road/Bedford St (from the east)

Routes from the south are broken and disjointed as a result 
of the river, Western Way and City Wall, with confusing and 
convoluted pedestrian routes at the South Gate roundabout 
and along Western Way severing links between the City 
Centre and the Quay. The adjacent diagram highlights 
the key pedestrian - vehicle conflict areas that result. 
This challenging permeability has a significant impact on 
pedestrian and cycle movement and limits footfall through 
the South Street area - with an impact on the vibrancy and 
viability of businesses in South Street.

The severance of the historic street pattern through the post 
war redevelopment of this part of the city centre focuses the 
potential pedestrian movement along South Street, with links 
through Lower Coombe St and Quay Hill to the Quay. 

Vehicle movement through the area exacerbates this problem, 
with the north-south vehicular route from St Davids through 
South Street providing a cut through for vehicles that could 
use alternative routes avoiding the city Centre (via Exe 
Bridges/Western Way). There is an opportunity to restrict this 
traffic movement to create a more pedestrian/cycle friendly 
environment that supports increased activity on South Street.

Movement Appraisal

Existing Public Transport RoutesExisting Vehicle Circulation

East to west routes 
blocked & under-used

Post-war building 
heights don’t contain 

street sufficiently

Dominant on-
street parking

Impermeable
block

School parking
blocks route

Pedestrian 
desire lines

Pedestrian 
desire lines

Lack of visual gateway
at end of South Street

VEHICLE &
PEDESTRIAN
CONFLICT

AREAS

QUAY

MAI
N B

US 
RO

UTE

UNSPECIFIED
BUS ROUTES

HIGH
STREET

Key:
  One-way

  Two-Way

  Bus/Bike

Page 50



13

Poor building frontage at South Street Gateway Vehicle dominated spaces linking South St to Cathedral Yard

Vehicle orientated street restricts pedestrian movement

Confusing and convoluted pedestrian crossings of Western Way

Confusing and convoluted pedestrian & 
cycle links between South Street & the Quay

Insufficient scale of post-war development provides 
weak street frontage and lack of architectural varietySevered pedestrian & cycle links

High amounts of on-street parking leads to 
domination of the car within the streetscape

Kalenderhay underutilised and associated with anti-social behaviour

Page 51



14

3.1 Previous Consultation

The stakeholder consultation built upon previous 
consultations with the community which established 
priorities for this part of the City Centre. 

In 2016 a review was initiated with a report to Councillors on 
the future of the South Street area and the Corn Exchange. 

Subsequently a public consultation in February 2017, with 
more
than 450 responses, identified three key priorities for the area:
 
• Cultural Activity and Entertainment, 

• Independent Businesses, and the Farmers Market 
(currently held every Thursday). 

• The need for better links to the Quay

The consultation also identified a number of key improvements 
to:

• Gateways and connections principally the link from 
Cathedral to Quay

• the Appearance of buildings and shopfronts

• Public spaces and the street scene

• Transport and getting around

These findings were reported to members in September 
2017 with a recommendation that they be addressed in an 
incremental way through a series of dialogues and further 
consultation with stakeholders including businesses, residents 
etc.

3.2 Stakeholder Workshop

This study has focused on the busy Fore street area and 
the key gateways to the town including Old Exeter Road 
and New Exeter Road. It is these areas where conflict is 
highest between motorised traffic and pedestrians and 
their relationship with the surrounding built environment.

The Stakeholder Workshop, undertaken in April 2018, 
builds upon previous consultation held in February 
2017 which identified three key priorities for the area 
namely: cultural activity and entertainment, independent 
businesses and the Farmers Market. The consultation 
also identified a number of key improvements sought in 
respect of the following: - Gateways and connections 
principally the link from Cathedral to Quay 

• Appearance of buildings 

• Public spaces and the street scene 

• Transport and getting around 

Invitees were drawn from the local community and 
representatives from different public bodies and council 
departments that have an influence over or work 
within the context of South St and the wider area.

3.3 Summary of Feedback

Existing Site Issues/Constraints

Circulation 

• Current Pedestrian/vehicle conflicts 
• South Street on the bus route  
• Existing coach parking within the street – there 

will be an ongoing requirement for this provision. 
Currently a poor arrival point/gateway for 
those arriving into the city centre by coach.

• Poor legibility of pedestrian routes between South 
Street and the Quay and Cathedral Yard.

• Existing junctions on South Street provide a 
barrier to pedestrian and cycle movements.

• On-street parking and loading considered 
a positive by shopkeepers. 

• Western Way a barrier between South Street and the 
Quay making route to Quay difficult and confusing. 
Western Way will continue as a strategic Highways 
route through the city with high vehicle numbers.

• Guinea Street and back of South Street feels unsafe.
• Historic routes have been closed off or underutilised.
• Poor gateway into the City Centre.
• Route from Quay carpark and underpass onto 

Combe Street feels unsafe at night.

Existing Uses 

• Retail shops have high turnover.
• Upper storeys of existing buildings are underutilised
• Independent shops and business a positive  
• Low numbers of existing residential and office uses.
• Anti-social behaviour within poorly maintained 

public spaces e.g. Kalenderhay
• Space for Farmers Market not ideal due 

to existing layout of street furniture.
• Quay car park underutilised.

Existing Role & Character 

• South Street lacks its own sense 
of identity and mix of uses

• Too much social housing as a 
proportion of residential tenure

Existing Strengths

• Good mix of independent retailers.
• On-street parking and loading considered 

a positive by shopkeepers. 
• Historic Route 
• A mix of historic buildings 
• Tree planting

3 Consultation Process

Page 52



15

Key Opportunities

• Create a new identity of South Street 
as City Quarter of its own.

• Review Highways movements and potentially close off 
the upper section of South Street to car movements.

• Identify ‘easy win’ or temporary projects e.g. 
parklets within on-street parking bays.

• Encourage and support independent traders.
• Make underpass more user friendly 

and enhance cycle routes.
• Tie improvements into City Centre wayfinding 

strategy including potential for street art/
façade artwork/ ground signage.

• Create shared space / pedestrian focussed 
streetscape and public realm including tree planting.

• Narrow road/junctions. Retain drop off 
& servicing access for traders.

• Improve cycle connectivity.
• Allow businesses to use and adapt spaces e.g. café 

terraces, signage, shop frontages etc. Potential 
grant or funding resource to facilitate this.

• Create an improved public square at the top of South 
Street – will allow for improved Farmers Market.

• Create an improved coach parking area – New gateway.
• Re-open/improve historic east -west pedestrian routes 

between South Street and the Cathedral Yard.
• Create potential pedestrian crossings of Western 

Way to improve connectivity with the Quay. 
Pending concerns over traffic circulation.

• Redevelop the Cathedral & Quay carpark to allow a 
new pedestrian link between Quay and Western Way 
(route to resolve level changes in a more effective way 
i.e. use of lifts or escalators. This could be further linked 
into the footbridge over Western Way or link into a 
further new building at the gateway of South Street.

• Retain or enhance the existing 
footbridge over Western Way.

• Develop opportunities for live/work/
social within South Street.

• Upward development opportunities 
upon existing buildings

• Increase amounts of private residential 

to offer city centre living 
• Increase office and employment space – Co-

working/start-ups/modular office 

Devon County Council Highways Meeting

We met with the Devon County Council’s Highway 
Development Officer to review potential for pedestrian/cycle 
enhancement and changes to the transport circulation within 
the South Street area. Key opportunities identified included:

• Potential to reduce traffic movements through 
North St/South St, particularly during the day 
to improve the pedestrian environment

• Potential to include a cycle contraflow and 
cycle facilities to improve cycle movements. 
Potential to access cycle funding streams.

• Consideration of public transport routes, 
including amended bus stops following bus 
station development, is required. Visitor 
coach drop offs located on South Street.

• Existing loading areas need to be retained, but could 
have limited hours to start and end of the day.

Exeter City Council Housing and Property Meeting

We met with Exeter City Council’s Shadow Director of 
Development to discuss the emerging proposals for South 
Street.  The main comments, which should be considered 
as part of any future urban design proposals were:

1.  Need to consider how proposals fit in with the 
city centre strategy and future proofing the 
proposals to address future changes to - city 
centre function,  transport and climate change. 

2.  Be clear on identity and function of study 
area - independent/arts quarter?

3.  Development appraisals need to address 
whether buildings should be refurbished/
extended or redeveloped. 

4.  Will redevelopment be sufficient to fund enhancement 
scheme? Development Appraisal (long term) required - 
should consider options appraisals to achieve sufficient 
funding. Early projects/interventions should increase 
land values to improve viability of later phases. 

St
ak

eh
ol

de
r 

W
or

ks
ho

p

Page 53



16

ExeBridges

HIGH
stre

et

NORTH
street

QUEEN

street
SOUTH

street

FO
RE

str
ee

t

WESTERN
Way

Pr
efe

rre
d

Pe
de

str
ian

Ro
ut

e

HIGH STREET

CASTLE QUARTER

SOUTHERNHAYSOUTHERNHAY

SID
WELL STREET

QUAY

BUS STATION

PRINCESSHAY

CATHEDRAL

4.1 Vision

South Street will become an exciting destination to live, work 
and socialise. It will form a key part of the West Quarter with 
a high quality and attractive pedestrian focused environment 
and improved links with the Quayside and Cathedral Yard.

4.2  Objectives

It is envisaged that South Street should become 
an integral part of the West Quarter, with an 
intensification of uses will help to reinvigorate the 
area and enhance the character of the area. 

South Street will be treated as a space, rather than the 
edge between adjacent areas. Traffic management will 
prioritise pedestrian movement and reduce through traffic 
which can use alternative routes that avoid the city centre. 

Links between the Quay and the City Centre will be enhanced 
(potentially between the Quay & Palace Gate), focusing 
pedestrian and cycle movement onto South Street as the 
key connecting route, generating footfall and supporting 
businesses with the street and adjacent areas. East –west

Public realm enhancements will be focused on improving 
pedestrian circulation and supporting sustainable modes 
of transport, whilst improvements to the built environment 
will aim to enhance the character of the area and offer 
exciting mixed-use development opportunities.

Intensification of uses will be achieved through the 
refurbishment, conversion and/or redevelopment of 
existing buildings with a mix of innovative community, 
commercial and residential uses to create a population 
of people living and working within the area .

Three key underlying and interlinked themes of 
Life, Spaces and Buildings will guide the delivery 
of the proposed interventions, focusing on the key 
objectives , design ‘moves’ and prioritising proposals 
that generate activity and life in public spaces.

4 Strategy & Vision

City Centre Concept Diagram Page 54



17

South Street will become an exciting 
destination to live, work and 

socialise. It will form a key part of 
the West Quarter with a high quality 

and attractive pedestrian focused 
environment and improved links with 

the Quayside and Cathedral Yard.

Copyright Arup

Page 55



Life
Page 56



19

Maximise activity & design 
for the community

Key Moves:

1.  Review of vehicular movement routes and 
explore reducing vehicles in South Street

2.  Diversify uses and activity

3.  Create opportunities to maximise Street 
Life and encourage Community Involvement

Page 57



20

5.1 Highways circulation review

Through the consultation process one of the main issues 
raised by stakeholders related to the high amounts of 
vehicle traffic using South Street, which has lead to a vehicle 
dominated environment.

The presence of traffic and on-street parking limits the 
ability of pedestrians to cross the road and enjoy the urban 
streetscape fully. 

South Street is currently part of the bus network and is served 
by a number of bus routes. There is a bus shelter located at 
the top of the street, which creates pedestrian congestion at 
busy times of the day.

South Street is also used as a coach drop off, with three 
spaces available. This presents a convenient access point 
into the city centre by those arriving by coach but has been 
recognised as a poor gateway currently. 

To address the balance between vehicle, pedestrian and cycle 
circulation it is proposed that a review of Highways circulation 
should be undertaken. 

Early discussions with Devon County Council Highways 
Authority have established support in principle for the 
following changes;

• Implementation of a time restriction for vehicle 
access during the hours of 9-6pm. This would require 
restrictions to the one-way system on both North 
Street and South Street;

• Implementation of a counterflow cycle lane enabling 
cycle flows up South Street with continued one-way 
southbound cycle flows on the carriage;

• Retention of bus circulation and bus stops;

• Retention of coach parking with provision for 4No. drop 
off spaces;

• Reduction and/or removal of on-street parking;

• Retention of adequate loading and delivery space to 
serve local business and residential properties;

• Carriageway narrowing.

A summary of these proposals is provided in the diagrams 
below.

It is accepted that to further develop any of these proposals, 
close consultation with Devon County Council Highways 
Authority would be required and a suitable Traffic Order would 
need to be sought.

It is considered that the removal of vehicle traffic during the 
core daytime trading hour of 9 -6pm would have a profound 
effect upon the usage of the streetscape, allowing flexible and 
safer pedestrian flows. 

The reduction of vehicles and associated on-street parking 
would also free up significant areas of the streetscape during 
the day enabling flexible use by people and local businesses 
for additional seating, café, and social space.

Both the use by bus services and coaches will need to 
continue as part of any future proposals and the circulation of 
such vehicles would not be restricted.

5 Life

Existing Traffic Circulation

Key:
 Vehicle route

 Bus & cycle route
 (No Vehicle Traffic)

Page 58



21

Fishergate, Preston

Eastgate Street, ChesterHigh Street, Maidstone

Examples of recent pedestrian focussed street design schemes within the UK

Proposed Traffic Circulation

Key:
 Vehicle route

 Bus & cycle route
 (No Vehicle Traffic)

Page 59



22

5 Life

5.2 Intensification and Diversification of Uses

South Street exhibits a variety of uses with a predominance of 
independent retails and food establishments at street level.

Existing residential properties, the majority of which 
are social or affordable housing, occupy upper storeys 
of some buildings. A number of first floor space is 
used by traders as storage and office purposes.

However, feedback from consultees has acknowledged 
that the area does not adequately represent 
the mix of uses commonly present within a city 
centre urban setting that the area occupies.

In particular, many people thought that the area lacks 
private residential accommodation or modern work spaces.

To address this issue and increase the vibrancy of the urban 
environment it is considered important that proposals seek to 
diversify existing uses. Such changes may be possible through;

• Refurbishment or redevelopment of buildings to 
deliver increased and vertical mixes of uses;

• Flexible and imaginative leases to facilitate change;

• Explore possibilities of concessionary arrangement 
for business rates payment (Business rates 
assessment are not within Local Authority control);

• Enhance existing community buildings and consider the 
provision of co-working or incubation business space.

5.3 Maximise street life and encourage 
community involvement

To fully enliven the streetscape, street activities 
should be maximised through the external uses of 
the public realm. This may include such ideas of 
café space, parklets, seating and play areas.

The use of temporary structures to provide shelter from 
the weather should also be permitted to maximise the 
times of the year that people could use this space.

Engagement of the community should also be encouraged 
to foster a sense of involvement and ownership. This may 
comprise encouragement to use the existing Highways 
License arrangements , enabling local businesses to extend 
their activities (where relevant) into the street and also 
other community run events. Possible ideas may comprise;

• Extended street market;

• A Community arts project;

• Street parties.

Indicative existing land uses alongside potential future land-uses

*Indicative areas based upon on-site /desktop observations 

Page 60



23
Page 61



Spaces

Page 62



25

Spaces
Develop spaces for people and 
reconnect South Street with the 
Quayside and City Centre

Key Moves:

1.  Identify a series of projects to enhance the public realm.

2.  Improve pedestrian and cycle links with the Quay.

3. Improve Legibility and Wayfinding.

4.  Create spaces that allow the community and businesses to 
create a vibrant streetscape, with outdoor seating and cafe 
areas, public art and organised and impromptu events.

Page 63



26

6.1 Public Realm Enhancements

South Street would benefit from a series of public realm 
improvements, which would enable the street to transition 
from a ‘highways’ focussed to a ‘people’ focussed space. These 
improvements would also enhance street character, seek to 
maximise street activity and transform South Street into an 
exemplar destination space.

The adoption of shared space principles with pedestrian 
focussed street design should be considered. A coordinated 
palette of paving, external lighting and street furniture should 
be used throughout the various projects to develop a cohesive 
streetscape.

The figure opposite shows a concept masterplan illustrating 
potential proposals. This also separates these into discrete 
project areas, which could be phased over time.

In summary of potential public realm improvement projects;

S1 Carfax Square

Highways and public realm improvements to 
create a new flexible public square at the top of 
South street including potential water drinking 
fountain.

S2 South Street Northern 
Improvements

Narrowing of Highways to one way. Creation of 
counterflow cycle lane and wide multifunctional 
space either side of the street. Enhanced coach 
drop off.

S3
Market Street/Palace 
Gate/Coombe Street 
Junction Enhancements

Narrowing of Highways, maintaining two way and 
tightening of junction radii. Raised tabletop.

S4 South Street Southern 
Improvements

Introduction of improved on-street cycle lanes 
either side of the carriageway.

S5
Southern Gateway & 
Embankment Crossing 
Improvements

Surface crossings implemented to provide direct 
pedestrian crossing points across South Street 
and Western Way. Potential information kiosk or 
gateway feature within green space.

S6 Subway Enhancements
Enhancements to subway via improvement of 
signage, de-clutter street furniture, widening & 
resurfacing of shared cycle/pedestrian footway.

S7 Western Way  
Level Crossing

Potential controlled pedestrian crossing of Western 
Way and ramp/stepped access onto Lower 
Coombe Street. Selective tree thinning to open 
access and views.

S8 Coombe Street Public 
Realm Improvements

Potential shared space public realm to improve 
pedestrian route along Coombe Street.

S9 City Wall Walk 
Improvements

Potential improvements to green space and 
footway to enhance pedestrian route and celebrate 
City Wall.

S10 Additional steps to 
access Quay Car Park

Additional stepped access to southern side of City 
Wall to improve access to/from Quay car park.

S11 Bear Street Pocket space on corner of Bear Street with 
potential shared space street upgrades.

S12 Kalanderhay
Re-open Kalenderhay link to forge improved 
pedestrian link between South Street and 
Cathedral Yard.

S13 Kalanderhay  
Pocket Space

Enhancements to Kalenderhay pocket space & 
setting of scheduled ancient monument. 

S14 Lower Coombe  
Street improvements

Potential public realm improvements to Lower 
Coombe including improved shared cycle/footway.

S15 Wayfinding &  
Signage Strategy

Potential new signage & wayfinding strategy with 
potential to create new city trails.

A number of short term or ‘quick win’ public realm 
interventions

is detailed in section 8.

6.2 Pedestrian and cycle link improvements to the Quay.

At present, the key pedestrian routes between the South 
Street, The Quay and Cathedral Yard lack clarity and often 
require convoluted or over burdensome movements to 
traverse the vehicle dominated streets of South Street and 
Western Way. 

This is a particular issue at the following locations;

•  the southern end of South Street, where pedestrians 
have no clear or direct route to cross both South Street 
and Western Way Refurbishment or redevelopment 
of buildings to deliver increased and vertical mixes of 
uses;

• The junction between Coombe Street/South Street 
and Palace Gate, where pedestrian movements are 
restricted by traffic movement within South Street;

• Market Street junction where pedestrians wanting 
to continue up South Street are restricted by turning 
traffic movements;

In addition to these issues, the existing east – west links of 
Bear Street and Kalenderhay are currently underutilised or 
closed off due to the public.

The existing subway/underpass between Coombe Street and 
Lower Coombe Street offers a useful function for pedestrian 
and cycle movements but feels unwelcoming and confusing to 
those unfamiliar the city. 

The public realm improvements proposed seek to address 
these issues and have been designed with the specific 
intention of;

• Increasing pedestrian connectivity between the Quay, 
South Street and city centre to facilitate increased 
activity;

• Improving the legibility of this area of the city centre;

• Maximising the number of pedestrian movement 
options by opening up and enhancing the east-west 
routes between the Quay and Cathedral Yard;

• Enhancing pedestrian routes to improve safety of the 
pedestrian environment; 

• Developing  a network of continuous  and interlinked 
quality spaces between the Quay and Cathedral. 

6 Spaces

Page 64



Key:

S1 Carfax Square

S2 South Street Northern Improvements

S3 Market Street / Place Gate / Coombe 
Street Junction Enhancements

S4 South Street Southern Improvements

S5 Southern Gateway and Embankment

S6 Subway Enhancements

S7 Western Way Level Crossing

S8 Coombe Street

S9 City Wall Walk

S10 Additional Steps to access Quay Car Park

S11 Bear Street

S12 Kalanderhay

S13 Kalanderhay Pocket Space

S14 Lower Coombe Street

27
Page 65



28

Project Aims: 

To create a new flexible public square at the top of South street,

to celebrate it’s historic role as Quatrefoix and home of the

Great Conduit  - a public fresh water source.

Key Features: 

• Enhancement of the public square at the junciton of 
South Street, High Street, Fore Street and North Street

• Tightening of kerb radii to maximise pedestrian space

• Potential creation of a new coffee stall by existing 
or new traders and public water fountain as a focus 
for the area reference to the historic function of the 
space as the location for the Great Conduit

• Retention of existing Highways across the junction

• Potential introduction of ‘Rest on Red lights’ at 

 the top of north street to aid traffic flows

• Extension of the street market

• Enhanced coach drop off area

Project Aims: 

Enhance the streetscape to maximise street activity and

encourage pedestrian and cycle circulation.

Key Features: 

• Narrowing of Highways to 3.6m one way

• Creation of 2m wide counterflow cycle lane 

• Removal or reduction of on-street parking to deliver a 
wide multi-functional space either side of the street which 
could be used as café, seating, parklets or play space

• New street tree planting and street furniture

• Retention of bus stops and coach parking

• Extension of the street market 

• Introduction of flexible loading bays for local businesses

S1 Carfax - Quatrefoix Square

S2 Northern South Street Improvements

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity*

Key:

 Focal Point

 Enhanced bus and coach drop off

 Potential development opportunity

*

Page 66



29

Project Aims: 

To improve pedestrian and cycle connectivity

across the Market Street and Coombe Street junction.

Key Features: 

• Creation of a raised shared table to improve 
pedestrian movements from Coombe Street to 
Palace Gate and also those travelling northwards 
and southwards along South Street

• Narrowing of Highways to 5.5m two way whilst 
maintaining existing traffic movements

• Tightening of junction radii

• Market Street/Palace Gate/Coombe 
Street Junction Enhancements

Project Aims: 

To improve pedestrian and cycle circulation and

increase the width of public realm areas

Key Features: 

• Introduction of improved on-street cycle 
lanes either side of the carriageway

• Removal or reduction of on-street parking

• Retention of bus Layby

• Allow businesses to use external street space

S3 Market Street/Palace Gate/Coombe Street 
  Junction Enhancements

S4 Southern South Street Improvements

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity*

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Enhanced pedestrian route from Cathedral & 
Quay Car Park

*

Page 67



30

Project Aims: 

To improve pedestrian movements across South Street and 
Western Way  to improve links to the Quay.

Key Features: 

• Surface crossings implemented to provide direct pedestrian 
crossing points across South Street and Western Way. 

• Potential information kiosk or gateway 
feature within green space

S5 Southern Gateway and Embankment 
Crossing Improvements

Project Aims: 

To improve pedestrian and cycle movements

between South Street and the Quay.

Key Features: 

• Potential shared space or public realm improvements 
to pedestrian route along Coombe Street;

• Potential controlled pedestrian crossing of Western Way 
and ramp/stepped access onto Lower Coombe Street to 
create a more direct and legible route for pedestrians;

• Selective tree thinning to open access and 
views of Quay from Coombe Street;

• Enhancements to underpass via improvement 
of signage, declutter street furniture, widening & 
resurfacing of shared cycle/pedestrian footway;

• Potential kiosk at gateway of underpass to 
increase activity and surveillance.

S6/7/8 Underpass Enhancements / Western 
Way Level Crossing / Coombe Street 
Public Realm Improvements

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Enhanced pedestrian route from Cathedral & 
Quay Car Park

*

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Potential pedestrian route

*
Page 68



31

Project Aims: 

To improve connectivity with the Cathedral & Quay car park and

enhance the greenspace and setting of the city wall.

Key Features: 

• Potential improvements to green space and footway to 
enhance pedestrian route between South Street and 
the Quay. Designs should celebrate the City Wall;

• Additional stepped access to eastern side of City 
Wall to improve access to/from Quay car park.

• Improved external lighting scheme to develop 
architectural accent and safer route in the evening.

S9/10 City Wall Walk Improvements & Additional 
Steps to access Quay Car Park

Artist’s  impression of potential proposals looking north across   
Lower Coombe Street, Western Way and Coombe Street

* KEY FOCAL POINTS

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Enhanced pedestrian route from Cathedral & 
Quay Car Park

*

Page 69



32

Project Aims: 

Develop small pocket spaces as a focal point of activity.

Key Features: 

• Pocket space on corner of Bear Street with potential 
shared space street upgrades to Bear Street;

• Re-open Kalanderhay link to forge improved east-west 
pedestrian route between South Street and Cathedral Yard;

• Enhancements to Kalanderhay pocket space & 
setting of scheduled ancient monument.

S11/12/13 Bear Street/Kalanderhay/Kalanderhay 
Pocket Space

Project Aims: 

Enhance pedestrian and cycle movements to Quay

by improved surfacing and signage.

Key Features: 

• Potential public realm improvements to Lower Coombe 
Street including improved shared cycle/footway and better 
connection with Quay Hill.

• Improve surfacing on Quay Hill to enhance the cycle link to 
and from the Quay (i.e. replace sections of cobbles with more 
suitable cycle friendly paving.)

• Improve wayfinding and signage.

S14 Lower Coombe Street Improvements

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Potential pedestrian route

*

Key:

 Focal Point

 Potential development opportunity

 Potential pedestrian route

*

Page 70



33

6.4 Improve Legibility and Wayfinding

Although public realm improvements are likely to assist with 
the legibility and understanding of the area, these should 
be considered in conjunction with wayfinding and signage 
improvements.

This could be achieved through a series of schemes including 
a coordinated street signage strategy, external lighting and 
public art.

A review of the existing city centre trails could be undertaken 
to establish if there is potential to extend these trails to 
incorporate South Street, Combe Street and Palace Gate 
within them, or identify the potential of a new ‘Quay to 
Carfax’ trail .

The diagram below illustrates the existing City Wall and 

Woollen Trails city with potential additional new links.

Examples of possible alternative wayfinding and signage features

Concept diagram showing existing and potential city centre 
trails

NEW ACCESS ROUTE

TREES REMOVED

Page 71



Buildings

Page 72



35

Buildings
Identify potential opportunities for 
viable refurbishment and redevelopment 
which intensifies activity in South 
Street, creates a mix of uses and 
sustainable forms of development

Key Moves:

1.  Identify potential opportunities for viable building refurbishment 
and redevelopment

2.  Improve shop frontages and street level architecture

3.  Intensify uses, including homes and workplaces, and seek to 
maximise mixed-use development

4.  Introduce a new vernacular based upon modern and    
 sustainable forms of developmentPage 73



36

7.1 Potential opportunities for building refurbishment and 
redevelopment

It has been established that there a number of potential 
opportunities for refurbishment and redevelopment within the 
study area. 

These would be subject to further studies and discussions 
with land owners.

A wide range of options may be available including 
refurbishment, upward development upon existing buildings 
and/or complete redevelopment of selected buildings and 
potential infill development.

Redevelopment of buildings within the study area may offer 
a number of benefits to South Street and the wider Western 
Quarter and City centre. These include; 

• Increasing the density and numbers of private 
residential dwellings; 

• Developing an improved urban form and architectural 
appearance;

• Delivery of mixed-use buildings enabling the option to 
live, work and play within the city centre;

• Opportunities to design out crime and anti-social 
behaviour;

• Improve the environment to the rear of existing 
development, particularly to the rear of George Street .

• Improved ICT connectivity within new buildings .

7 Buildings

Photo of South Street in 1900 showing pre-war built form

Precedent images of potential built form

Page 74



37

7.2 Shop frontages and street level architecture

There is potential to improve the street level architecture 
along South Street via shop frontage improvements.
To coordinate the improvements a shop frontage 
improvements design code or guidance document would be 
recommended.
To fund these enhancements, Exeter City Council could 
consider setting up a grant scheme available to traders for 
improvements including painting, repairs and signage.

7.3 Mixed-use developments

To support increased street activity, new mixed-use
development should be encouraged to enable people to live,
work and socialise within South Street.

The retention of an active street frontage is imperative in the
development of a diverse urban character and both day and
night-time uses should be supported to ensure that activity is
maintained throughout various times of the day.

The provision of modern and flexible city centre work space
including co-working and business incubation space should be
considered along with other innovative community and
business uses.

Increased private and social housing provision should occur
to offer people the opportunity to live within this sustainable
city centre location whilst contributing towards an enriched
community of the wider West Quarter. 

7.4 Building Character and sustainable forms of 
development

New development should introduce a new high quality 
architectural vernacular.

Both the Central Conservation Area Appraisal & Management
Plan and A City Centre Vision for a Green Capital document 
support development which references the pre-war period, 
seeking to reintroduce a tighter urban grain and vertically 
proportioned buildings.

There is potential for upward and/or redevelopment that 
introduces taller buildings within the street enabling 
the intensification of built form more akin to the pre-war 
development form.

An architectural design code could be considered to provide 
design guidance and set out key architectural design 
principles.

Modern methods of construction (MMC) and sustainable 
forms of development should be considered to ensure that 
any proposals are forward thinking and future proofed.

The images below show potential massing of redevelopment 
within the South Street area. The plan provided in appendix 
1 identifies potential redevelopment sites and opportunities 
along with an associate development schedule.

The building storey heights shown are indicative and should 
not be used as a definitive guide nor should they preclude 
potential for alternative building heights or development 
opportunities coming forward.

Artists impression showing  the potential character of new built form 

Page 75



38

Indicative massing models showing  potential built form

Page 76



39

Indicative massing models showing  potential built form 

Page 77



40

Artists impression  looking up South Street

Page 78



41
Page 79



Early 
Interventions

Develop a series of advanced and 
early interventions that produce 
immediate impact and generate 
momentum for longer term projects.

Page 80



43

Early 
Interventions

Key Moves:

1.  Identify early Highways Interventions to enhance the pedestrian  
environment and support pedestrian and cycle movement

2.  Identify a series of low cost and deliverable interventions that 
improve connectivity,  lift the quality of the existing public realm 
and develop momentum for change

Page 81



44

The following proposals represent a series of potential advance
projects and early interventions which would produce immediate
impact and generate momentum for longer term projects. 

8.1 Early Highways Interventions

A series of early changes to Highways may be possible subject 
to

further Highways studies and funding mechanism. These would 
improve pedestrian and cycle movement in the short term. 

Priority 
of any works would be to the Coombe Street/Market Street
junction and southern areas of South Street due to current
accident statistics.The potential enhancements are illustrated on
the plan opposite and may comprise;

•  Early implementation of traffic order (subject to required 
analysis) to remove private vehicular traffic from North 
Street and South Street during specified hours, supported 
by temporary public realm enhancements (set out below)

•  Rest on red traffic lights at the top of North Street 
offering greater priority to pedestrian movements.

•  Consider paint or surface treatments to narrow the 
carriageway widths of South street between Market 
Street and Coombe Street. The addition of street planters 
may physically narrow the carriageway further; 

•  Replace the signalised crossing at Market Street/Lower 
Coombe Street with a zebra crossing to facilitate safer 
pedestrian movements northwards and southwards;

•  Implement a counterflow cycle lane within the existing 
carriageway by thermoplastic line marking or surface 
treatment;

•  Consider the use of zebra crossing on Market Street 
to enable safer pedestrian movements northwards and 
southwards;

•  Declutter unnecessary Highways signage street clutter 
and improve wayfinding signage. 

•  Narrow the entrance to South Street from Western Way 
and introduce a low speed limit to the entire length of 
South Street. Consider a pedestrian crossing aligning with 
the City Wall walk.

8.2  Low cost and deliverable interventions

There are a number of low cost and deliverable interventions 
that would increase activity, lift the quality of the existing public 
realm and develop momentum for change. These comprise;

South Street

•  Licence a high-quality and distinctive mobile pop-up cafe 
at the top of South Street to act as a focal point. 

•  Consider potential to rename the junction of South St, 
North St, High St and Fore Street as ‘Carfax Square’ to 
reflect historic function and identify.

•  Close off selected existing on-street parking bays and 
allowing use of the street by local traders for external 
seating;

•  Increase the area for the Street Market, utilising parking 
bays, to create a more spacious and attractive market.

•  Potential drinking fountain or water feature within the 
Carfax square to reflect the historic location of the Great 
Conduit ;

•  Pop up cafés and seating areas at key locations e.g. 
Kalanderhay or in parklets within closed off on-street 
parking bays;

•  Façade artwork to act a gateway or wayfinding feature at 
the southern end of South Street

•  Work with the BID and traders to create a festival 
(potentially linked to the Food Festival and Farmers 
Market) to promote the area. Encourage links to Fore 
Street Traders.

•  Consider a trial of awnings and street canopies to 
business frontages where it would support external use.

 Links to The Quay

•  Removal of unneccessary railings & clutter to create a 
level shared pedestrian-cycle path between Coombe 
Street and Lower Coombe Street.  

•  Selective clearance of trees from the Embankment to 
open views of the Quay (and Haldon Hill) from Coombe 
Street;

•  Widen the pedestrian-cycle bridge at the entrance to 
Cathedral and Quay car park and sign this as the route to 
the quay

•  Consider removing on street parking to Lower Coombe 
Street and widening the pavement to create a shared 
foot-cycle way.

•  Widen footpaths around the Cathedral and Quay Car 
Park and enhance planting in this area to open up views 
of the Quay and improve the pedestrian experience

•  Reduce the size of the no-entry signs at the bottom of 
Quay Hill and add ‘Except Cycles’ allowing cyclists to 
cycle up Quay Hill

 Buildings

•  Encourage conversion of upper floors to residential or 
employment use in Council ownerd buildings.

•  Consider providing grants for building enhancement - 
encourage facade and shopfront enhancement to improve 
the character of the street and increase vertical emphasis 
and rhythm along the street

•  Instigate a Public Art programme through the BID. 
Identify opportunityies for temporary murals to key 
facades

•  Encourage short-term development opportunities (e.g. 14-
18 South Street) to allow a step change in the character 
of South Street.

•  Cathedral & Quay Car Park - enhancement scheme 
to improve lighting, remove planters which reduce 
daylight to parking decks, improve signage to decks and 
directional signage to city centre.

•  Promote infrastructure changes from built development 
opportunites.

•  Improve bin storage and service areas to rear of buildings, 
particularly within George Street.

8 Early Interventions

Page 82



45

Rest-on-red traffic lights:  
Prior to introducing 10-5 times road 
closure to all traffic, except bus, bike 
and bike deliveries (Escargo, etc.)

Rename ‘The Carfax’

Potential Drinking Fountain

Paint different colour vertical façades

Paint different colour vertical façades

Paint different colour vertical façades

Move coach drop off north and 
combine with bus stop area

Open pop-up cafe space within Kalanderhay

Improvements to rear of buildings. Bin Storage areas

Declutter signage

Mobile on-street catering to provide focal point

Declutter signage

Declutter signage

Add sign saying 
“Staircase this way”

Wildflower seed 
all of this areaWiden 

footpaths 
around car park

Enhance car park 

- Signage

- Remove planting

Widen bridge and 
remove segregation

Simplify signage and allow 
bikes onto pavement

Add temporary street art

Remove one “No entry” sign 
and add “except bicycles” sign

Retain pedestrian crossing for 
disability users with the potential 
to change to a rest-on-red signal.

Add contraflow bike lane with 
paint and narrow carriageway

Remove on-street parking 
bays and allow cafés etc. 
to fill with seating

Allow additional seating to 
spill over onto pavement 
whilst retaining a 3m wide 
clear pedestrian footway

Paint road surface and 
narrow carriageway width 
with planters and on 
street furniture.

Remove unnecessary 
division and railings

Remove cycle/pedestrian division 
and remove central railings

Remove selected trees 
which block view through 

from Coombe Street

Narrow carriageway with 
paint and add 20mph 
zone sign on road

Potential zebra crossing allowing 
pedestrian / cycle crossing

Paint façade

Plan showing potential quick win projects
Page 83



46

Existing Kalanderhay  space is underutilised Potential use of Kalanderhay as a pocket space with cafe

The images opposite demonstrate how simple changes could be
introduced to enhance the existing environment.

Page 84



47

Public Realm
 Enhancem

ents  

Existing pedestrian and cycle link tightly constrained 

Existing cobbles and signage to Quay Hill Potential paving enhancements to Quay Hill 

Potential surfacing and bridge widening improvements

Page 85



48

9.1 Summary of Projects

This report has identified a number of urban design projects. 
Further project development is required to refine 
project briefs and costings, identify potential funding 
and assess the viability of individual schemes.

The table opposite offers a summary of the projects identified.

9.2 High Level Costing

Indicative budget guidelines have been provided for 
each of the separate projects. Further input from a 
quantity surveyor is recommended to develop cost 
estimates should any of the schemes be pursued.

9.3 Phasing

It is anticipated that the  projects proposed within this report 
will be delivered through a pragmatic and phased approach.

Changes to the highways circulation and implementation 
of a traffic order to restrict traffic between core 
daytime hours may present the largest catalyst 
for all subsequent enhancement schemes. 

The short term & Easy Win projects offer an opportunity 
for early interventions, which would result in a marked 
improvement to the urban environment, improve 
connectivity and footfall and generate both momentum 
and support for further projects and enhancements.

The proposals seeking to maximise activity and 
community engagement provided in section 5 of this 
report should be given a high priority. Although these 
will not provide significant alterations to the existing 
built urban fabric they will generate a profound change in 
behaviour and shift the priority to pedestrian activity.

The public realm improvements outlined in section 6 are 
separate yet connected with the  development opportunities 
presented in section 7. These will need to phased 
pragmatically and may need to be linked with building 
development to secure sufficient funding mechanisms. A wider 
development appraisal is required to identify capital and 
revenue streams that will fund public realm enhancements.

Potential external funding streams, such as 
funding for the delivery of cycle infrastructure, 
should be identified with project partners such 
as Devon County Council and Exeter BID.

9 Summary of Projects

Page 86



Area Project Name Summary Description
Budget Guidelines

Low 
(<£100K)

Medium  
(<£500K)

High 
(>£500K)

LI
FE

L1 Highways Order to South 
Street

Seek to introduce a Traffic Order limiting 
times private cars can enter onto South 
Street. 

L2 Community Involvement 
Scheme

Potential Arts based community 
involvement scheme to introduce public 
realm features e.g. gable artwork or 
temporary parklet designs

SP
A

C
ES

S1 Carfax Square
Highways and public realm improvements 
to create a new flexible public square at 
the top of South street

S2 South Street Northern 
Improvements

Narrowing of Highways to 3.6m one way. 
Creation of counterflow cycle lane and 
wide multi-functional space either side of 
the street

S3
Market Street/Palace 
Gate/Coombe Street 
Junction Enhancements

Narrowing of Highways to 5.5m two way 
and tightening of junction radii. Raised 
tabletop

S4 South Street Southern 
Improvements

Introduction of improved on-street cycle 
lanes either side of the carriageway

S5
Southern Gateway and 
Embankment Crossing 
Improvements

Surface crossings implemented to provide 
direct pedestrian crossing points across 
South Street and Western Way. Potential 
information kiosk or gateway feature 
within green space

S6 Underpass enhancements

Enhancements to subway via improvement 
of signage, declutter street furniture, 
widening & resurfacing of shared cycle/
pedestrian footway

S7 Western Way level crossing

Potential controlled pedestrian crossing of 
Western Way and ramp/stepped access 
onto Lower Coombe Street Selective tree 
thinning to open access and views.

S8 Coombe Street public 
realm improvements

Potential shared space public realm to 
improve pedestrian route along Coombe 
Street

S9 City Wall Walk 
Improvements

Potential improvements to green space and 
footway to enhance pedestrian route and 
celebrate City Wall

S10 Additional steps to access 
Quay Car Park

Additional stepped access to southern side 
of City Wall to improve access to/from 
Quay car park

S11 Bear Street Pocket space on corner of Bear Street with 
potential shared space street upgrades

S12 Kalenderhay
Re-open Kalenderhay link to forge improved 
pedestrian link between South Street and 
Cathedral Yard

S13 Kalenderhay Pocket space
Enhancements to Kalenderhay pocket 
space & setting of scheduled ancient 
monument. 

S14 Lower Coombe Street 
improvements

Potential public realm improvements to 
Lower Coombe including improved shared 
cycle/footway

S15 Wayfinding & Signage 
Strategy

Potential new signage & Wayfinding 
strategy with potential to create new city 
trails

49
Page 87



Ea
rl

y 
In

te
rv

en
ti

on
s

ST1 Traffic Order
Early implentation of traffic order to 
remove private vehicular traffic from North 
St & South St during daylight hours 

ST2
Misc short-term Highways 
enhancements to South 
Street

Rest on red traffic lights to top of North St, 
Surface treatments to narrow carriageway, 
Street planting, Declutter street furniture 
& Signage, 20mph signage, potential zebra 
crossing across Market St

ST3 Counterflow cycle Lane Couterflow cycle lane implemented within 
existing carriageway

ST4 Close off selected on-street 
parking bays

Close off a number of on-street parking 
bays to increase flexible pedestrian space 
for use by farmers market,  adjacent 
businesses and parklets

ST5 Pop-up cafes and kiosks
pop-up cafes and kiosks under street 
trading license at key nodal points e.g. 
Kalenderhay, Carfax square

ST6
Potential water drinking 
fountain/water feature 
within Carfax Square

Potential water drinking fountain/water 
feature to reference the location of the 
Great Conduit

ST7 Potential community/
street festival

Work with BID and traders to organise a 
South Street festival

ST8 Improved links to Quay

Removal of unecessary street furniture/
clutter, selective tree clearance, widening 
of pedestrian/cycle bridge, Improved cycle 
signage

ST9
Building shopfront & 
Building Enhancement 
Grant 

Potential shop frontage enhancements to 
enhance quality of street character

ST10 Public Art Programme Potential façade art, Street furniture, 
signage etc.

ST11 Improvements to Cathedral 
& Quay Car Park Improved ligthing, signage etc.

50
Page 88



51

10.1 Next Steps

This report has provided a series of urban design 
concepts and proposals which set out key aims and 
objectives required  to enhance the urban environment 
of South Street and improve pedestrian and cycle 
links with the Quay and wider city centre area.

10.2 Further Studies

A number of further studies would be recommended 
to test the viability and provide more in-depth design 
guidance to support potential projects as they 
come forward. Further studies may comprise;

•  Design Code - Design principles based upon these 
proposals to support high quality development;

•  Event/Marketing Strategy (Exeter BID) - Document 
integrating key principles within a marketing strategy for 
the  city centre;

•  Lettings and Business Rates - To explore flexible leases 
,other lease terms and the potential for business rates 
concessions to facilitate change;

•  Development Appraisal - Financial appraisal to test 
viability of proposals. Consider wider development options, 
sustainability and lifecycle appraisal.

10.3 Exeter City Member Engagement

The urban design projects proposed have been 
developed through close consultation with Key 
stakeholders and Exeter City Council officers. 

Council and Ward Members have subsequently been engaged 
through separate discussions  and via Place Scrutiny Committe. 

The time-line opposite illustrates the key 
consultation stages of the scheme
process and indicative programme going forward.

10 Next Steps

February 
2018 Project Start

Stakeholder Workshop

Exeter City Council
Executive via

Place Scrutiny Committee

Report Adoption

•Early Interventions

• Individual Projects

• Further Studies

Autumn 
2018 - 

Onwards

April
2018

September
2018

Autumn
2018

Page 89



52
Page 90



53

Unless otherwise stated, the Ordnance Survey 

mapping included within this document is provided 

under licence from the Ordnance Survey. Persons 

viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey 

copyright for advice where they wish to licence 

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. 

Unless otherwise stated, copyright for photographic 

and other illustrative material is owned by Lacey 

Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC). 

Any reproduction of this publication or of any 

pictures /drawings in whole or in part without Lacey 

Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC) express written permission is 

prohibited. 

All rights reserved Lacey Hickie Caley Ltd (LHC). 

© LHC May 2018

Exeter 

The Design Studio
Emperor Way
Exeter Business Park 
Exeter Devon EX1 3QS

01392 444334

Plymouth

The Design Studio
Guardhouse
Royal William Yard
Plymouth PL1 3RP

01752 669368

www.lhc.net

Page 91



Exeter City Council

Civic Centre,
Paris St,
Exeter EX1 1JJ

customer.services@exeter.gov.uk
01392 277888

www.exeter.gov.uk

Page 92



Final
REPORT TO: PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meetings: 13 September 2018

Report of: Cllr Matthew Vizard and Cllr Laura Wright

Title: PSPO Spotlight Review Report

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

To provide the Place Scrutiny Committee with an update following implementation of 
the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) in June 2017.

2. Recommendations:

The Place Scrutiny Committee:-

(a) Agrees that the current PSPO is working well in its current form and therefore should 
not be withdrawn.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

The penultimate recommendation of the PSPO report submitted to the Place Scrutiny 
Committee on the 12th January 2017 required an update post implementation, which 
would detail the operation and effectiveness of the PSPO in reducing the problematic 
anti-social behaviour it sought to manage; details of any negative or unforeseen 
impacts that may have developed, together with any recommendations for varying or 
discharging the Order.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources:

None in respect of this report.

5. Section 151 Officer Comments:

There are no financial implications contained within this report.

6. What are the legal aspects?

None identified.

7. Monitoring officer Comments

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



 

8. Report Details:

Overview

The PSPO is a discretionary power under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 which a Council can adopt and shape for local circumstances to 
deal with persistent anti-social behaviour.

Following public consultation and Council approval, the PSPO covering Exeter City 
Centre was implemented in June 2017.  Attached to this report is a map which 
accompanied the original report and depicts the current PSPO area boundary.

The PSPO Spotlight Review Group membership consisted of:-

Cllr Harvey
Cllr Wright
Cllr Lyons
Cllr Morse
Cllr Owen
Cllr Robson
Cllr Sills
Cllr Matthew Vizard
Cllr Wardle
Cllr Prowse

The following people appeared before the PSPO spotlight review group:-

Jo Yelland – Director Exeter City Council and Exeter Community Safety Partnership 
Chair
Simon Lane – Environmental Health, Licensing and Community Safety Manager
Lisa Cocks – Principal Environmental Health Officer for Nuisance and ASB
Inspector Simon Arliss – Neighbourhood Inspector for Exeter
Sgt Dave Turner – City Centre Sargent

The review took place on the 18th June 2018 with the Environmental Health, 
Licensing and Community Safety Manager reminding Members that the first six 
months of implementation was focussed on education and making sure that the 
PSPO and the intention behind it was well received whilst adapting things where 
necessary so that people had a chance to understand how it could be used 
effectively and the clear rules around it.

Members were reminded that the original consultation process, included people from 
outside Exeter being invited to provide their views as well as Exeter residents.  There 
were five public meetings (one including local businesses) held across the proposed 
PSPO area so that a broad overview of opinion could be obtained as well as 
specifically understanding the views and wishes of impacted  communities and 
businesses.  St Thomas ward was particularly supportive with a high turnout of 
people attending the meeting, some of whom arrived with a negative perception of 
the PSPO but left with a more positive view. 

Inspector Simon Arliss and Sargent Sgt Dave Turner explained that the police find 
the PSPO a very useful and flexible tool.  The PSPO initiative presented an 
opportunity to work with other organisations such as the City Council together with 

Page 94



 
businesses, communities and agencies to collectively demonstrate that the City will 
not tolerate certain behaviour and to put in place prevention measures (working with 
off licence traders for instance is invaluable in terms of prevention measures).

Since implementation the figures suggest that the volume of anti-social behaviour 
reported to the police in the City Centre (covering Fore Street, the High Street and 
Sidwell Street) has reduced by 16%.  At the outset education was seen as the 
immediate priority which partly explains why there were no arrests before January 
2018.  The focus was on issuing anti-social behaviour contracts which seemed to 
work well.  However, following a period of implementation, it is now time to take a 
gradual approach to enforcement and since January 2018 there have been 9 arrests 
to date relating to dispersed individuals who have subsequently come back into the 
PSPO area.  Breach of the PSPO is not an imprisonable offence and is usually dealt 
with by the Magistrates’ Court with a fine issued or the initial remand in custody 
viewed as sufficient punishment.

The power to seize alcohol is used on a daily basis and is particularly useful in 
helping to reduce anti-social behaviour, since if individuals are less inebriated they 
are less abusive and it is far easier to disperse individuals and groups.  Dispersals 
break up the group dynamic and sometimes only this is required to resolve the 
presenting anti-social behaviour.

Instances of public urination have reduced with the introduction of the PSPO and the 
ability to issue fines for this offence means that money generated can go to the 
Community Safety Partnership and be used to fund anti-social behaviour projects.

There are still challenges and realistically it is fair to say that as quickly as problems 
are resolved, a new set of challenges can appear - this simply reflects the nature of 
dealing with anti-social behaviour but with collaborative working through the PSPO 
initiative these new challenges are being dealt with swiftly and effectively.

There will always be difficulties as a consequence of dispersals.  Although planning 
in respect of the PSPO boundary took into account avoiding dispersals of individuals 
who would then move to other specific areas (for example, Belmont Park), there is no 
evidence to suggest that dispersed individuals go to specific locations – most do go 
home as they live in the City Centre although it is recognised that there are a 
percentage of individuals who are street attached.

A joint plan is coming into effect to tackle the issues at Blackboy Road in the vicinity 
of the toilets, working in association with the Councils Housing Options Team and the 
council funded Assertive Street Homeless Outreach Team from Julian House.  This 
demonstrates the positive impact of collaborative working in order to find joint and 
sustainable solutions.  Generally issues are largely contained and regularly reviewed 
and the Task and Finish Group found that the PSPO boundary appears sufficient 
since individuals usually do not wish to venture beyond it to predominately residential 
areas.

New Guidelines

The Home Office issued new Guidelines in December 2017 which encourage a more 
stringent consultation process and clarification as to what should be included in the 
PSPO which reflected the process undertaken in Exeter.  

Page 95



 
It should be recognised that the existing PSPO cannot be amended.  A new Order 
would be required followed by a separate consultation.  Exeter will have to go 
through this process in 2 years’ time as the lifespan of the current PSPO will have 
expired.  At this point fresh evidence will be collected and the PSPO area could be 
varied although there is nothing to suggest, at present, that this is required.

In Summary

This Task and Finish Group agreed that:-

 The PSPO is working well with a 16% reduction in anti-social behaviour 
reported to the Police.

 The power to seize alcohol and disperse groups and individuals is a very 
effective tool in tackling anti-social behaviour,

 The area currently covered by the PSPO is sufficient.
 The collaborative, multi organisations response is working well in terms of 

prevention, education and enforcement.
 Communities are being encouraged and supported to tackle low level anti-

social behaviour, particularly through the Community Safety Partnership.

However, it is appreciated that:-

 Dispersals might push issues out of the City Centre and beyond the PSPO 
boundary – however there is no evidence that this is causing a problem at 
present.

 As quickly as one challenge is resolved another arises, which is the nature of 
dealing with anti-social behaviour and is unavoidable.

 Limited resources mean that responses need to be prioritised and focussed.

9 What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
Economy safety and the environment?

This report simply provides an update as to the progress of the PSPO.  An Equality 
Impact Assessment was submitted with the original report to Place Scrutiny on the 
12th January 2017

Cllr Matthew Vizard and Cllr Laura Wright

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None

Contact for enquiries: Anne-Marie Hawley, Scrutiny Programme Officer
Tel No: (01392) 265110

Page 96



Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO LICENSING COMMITTEE, EXECUTIVE AND COUNCIL
Date of Meetings: 18th September, 9th October, 13th November 2018
Report of: Environmental Health and Licensing Manager
Title: Report outlining a proposal to introduce an updated Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Licensing Policy
Legislation: Gambling Act 2005

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this 
is a key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key 
decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Council Function

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 This report details the responses to the consultation undertaken into the 
proposed updated Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy which 
was presented to the committee at the meeting on 29th May 2018. A full 12 
week consultation period has been undertaken. The Licensing Committee is 
constituted with the task of  formulating new statements of licensing policy 
with the final policy being put before Full Council for adoption.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1    The Licensing Committee are requested to approve the updated Gambling 
Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy in order that it can be progressed through to 
full Council for adoption in January 2019. 

2.2    That Executive supports the introduction of the updated Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Licensing Policy.

2.2    That Council formally approves and adopts the updated Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Licensing Policy.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1      Exeter City Council’s current Statement of Licensing policy was written in 2015 
and came into effect in January 2016. There is a legal requirement to review such policy 
statements every three years. The current policy must be reviewed by 31 January 2019. 
The draft policy attached to this report has been updated to reflect changes in 
national guidance, and feedback from the Gambling Commission.

3.2 The Licensing Committee resolved on 29th May 2018 that a public 
consultation should begin on the proposed new policy. Following the Licensing 
Committee’s decision, the Licensing Team undertook a full 12-week consultation with 
a wide range of stakeholders who may have an interest in this policy, including 
existing licence holders, gambling support providers, and statutory consultees.

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



3.3 The authority received comments back in relation to the consultation exercise, 
which are summarised in Appendix A and presented in full in Appendix B.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

4.1 The proposed changes to policy do not give rise to any additional resource 
implications or have any revenue impact.

4.2 There are no reductions, restructuring and/or redundancy implications as the 
key changes identified in this report do not give rise to any additional resource 
requirements as changes are to existing processes. However, in delivering to 
the changed requirements there may be some training implications for 
existing staff.

4.3 Any future costs in relation to the production of the policy will be met by 
income from fees. 

5. Section 151 Officer Comments:

There are no requests for additional finances contained within this report.

6. What are the legal aspects?

In accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 the Council is 
required to prepare and publish a statement of licensing principles that it 
proposes to apply in relation to its regulatory responsibilities under the Act. 
The Council seeks to comply with this legal duty through its Statement of 
Gambling Policy. 

The Council’s policy statement lasts for a maximum of three years, but can be 
reviewed and revised by the Council at any time within the three year period.

The Council must review its policy every three years. As this report identifies, 
the current policy must be reviewed by 31 January 2019.

In reviewing its policy, the Council is required to carry out a consultation 
process in accordance with the provisions of section 349 of the Act. Section 
349(3) of the Act identifies in broad terms those persons who should be part 
of the consultation process.

7.         Monitoring Officer’s comments:
On the basis that the Council has carried out the review of its statement of 
licensing principles in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005, this report 
raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report details:

8.1 This proposed policy sets out the general principles that the Council will follow 
in relation to the enforcement of gambling legislation. 

8.2 The proposed policy and the conditions included represent guidance on 
details of the service provided and the general principles that the Council 

Page 100



follows in relation to the enforcement of gambling legislation and the 
discretionary functions it undertakes.

8.3 The authority embraces the Department for Business Innovation and Skills’ 
“Regulators Code.” The authority embraces the principles of better regulation 
to promote efficient and effective approaches to regulatory activity without 
imposing unnecessary burdens on business. The Licensing Authority shall 
have regard to any plan agreed between a company and primary authority.

9.0      How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The proposed Statement of Licensing Policy will contribute to improvements in 
gambling regulation, help promote a healthy and safe city, and lend support to 
a robust, business friendly economy.

10.0. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 There are risks that a poorly drafted policy that is neither proportionate nor 
reasonable, or is inadequately consulted upon, may give rise to legal 
challenge. These risks have been minimised by ensuring appropriate 
consultation has taken place. 

10.2 The responses received to date have been accepted where they add to the 
policy. Those responses that may give rise to challenge have been rejected 
primarily because the proposals are not legal or enforceable. Due regard has 
been given to the reasonableness and proportionality of policy tools.

10.3     As a result of consultation responses received from Public Health Devon and 
the Gambling Commission amendments have been made to the draft policy. 
These amendments have been summarised in Appendix A and are shown in 
full in the attached draft policy. 

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1 Formulating a licensing policy that recognises the key aims of the council, 
responsible authorities and other stakeholders will make a positive impact on 
creating a vibrant city to live, work and visit.

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 Members of the Committee may reject the proposed policy on the grounds 
that the policy requires amendment. However, significant amendment to the 
proposed policy would likely require a further consultation period. 

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
 Draft Statement of Licensing Policy
 Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities
 Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Code of Practise 2018

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Summary of Responses Received

Ref Respondent Comments Response

01 Catherine Sweet
Head of 
Marketing and 
Communications
GamCare

Generic response provided by 
GamCare to all local 
authorities who contact them 
regarding a consultation. 

Generic list of suggestions of 
things to include in Statement 
of Principles. 

Details given of GamCare 
support services. 

All of the generic suggestions 
listed have already been 
considered and included in the 
Policy/ Local Area Profile

02 Richard Nokes
Compliance 
Manager 
Gambling 
Commission

Detailed response including 
good points and suggestions 
for further things to consider. 

Good points:

 Section 2.7 - the reference 
to LSO areas and where 
they are. Are there any 
additional expectations for 
anyone wanting a licence 
in any of these areas?

 Section 2.8 - the inclusion 
of links to the Local Area 
Profile – this avoids 
having to update the 
policy when the LAP is 
updated.

 Section 2.10 - Reference 
to the Prevalence Survey.

 Section 6.2 – reference to 
GDPR.

 Section 7.2 – the inclusion 
of the term ‘proportionate’,

 Section 7.7 - the inclusion 
of information relating to 
Primary Authority 
agreements.

 Section 9.15 – the 
possibility of the restriction 

Additional point added to 
policy (2.12)

Page 103



of advertising in sensitive 
areas.

 Section 11.8 – the clear 
requirements for an SSL 
registration.

 The inclusion of CSE and 
Safeguarding references.

 The inclusion of a single 
point of contact for area 
managers for betting 
shops – worth widening to 
other sectors? 

Observations:

 Section 7.4 – it may be 
worth including a record of 
customer interactions to 
the list of records.

 Section 9.6 – remove the 
reference to ‘Primary 
gambling’ and replace 
with compliance with 
LCCP SR Code 9 – 
Gaming machines in 
licensed premises.

 Section 9.10 – it may be 
worth considering stating 
that scaled plans must be 
provided.

 Section 9.10 – include the 
word local / premises in 
respect of risk 
assessment.

 Section 9.10 – in respect 
of mitigation of risk it may 
be useful to provide some 
examples such as staffing 
at different times of the 
day?

 Section 9.16 – It may be 
useful to include some 
more examples of 
adequate separation such 
as barriers, walls etc.?

Included in Policy

Amended

‘scaled’ added to section on 
plans

‘premises’ included

Examples provided

Examples added

Page 104



 Section 9.33 – In respect 
of screens will you require 
a variation application? If 
so it would be useful to 
state this here.

 Section 10.3 - UFEC 
permits – ensure that the 
phrase ‘Area wholly or 
mainly for making gaming 
machines available for 
use’ is stated.

 Section 10.7 – I am not 
sure what this means? I 
have read it in another 
one but I have not yet 
come across an AGC in a 
pub (although I know of 
two uFECs).

 Section 10.14 – it may be 
useful to provide 
additional information in 
respect of clubs – maybe 
some links to relevant 
parts of the GLA?

 Section 10.19 – it may be 
useful to add some more 
information on TUNs such 
as the maximum number 
allowed.

 Section 10.21 – it would 
be useful to provide a link 
to the Commission’s 
advice on OUNs.

 Section 11.1 – it would be 
useful to include the 
requirement for societies 
to submit lottery returns 
within 3 months of the 
draw.

 Appendix C – remove the 
Table of machines stakes/ 
prizes and provide a link 
to the Commission 
webpage – this will be 
updated with the hB2 

Additional text added to state 
that we will require a variation 
application.

‘Area wholly or mainly for 
making gaming machines 
available for use’ added

Section removed

Link to the members clubs 
section of the Guidance to 
Local Authorities added

Link to Guidance to Local 
Authorities added

Link to Guidance to Local 
Authorities added

Already included at point 11.6 
of the policy

Link to Gambling Commission 
webpage added

Page 105

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Betting/Occasional-Use-Notices-OUNs.aspx


changes when 
implemented.

03 Dr Virginia 
Pearson
Chief Officer 
Public Health 
Devon

 Section 2.6 implies that 
there are only 8 LSOAs in 
Exeter. We think the 
Policy is meaning to state 
that of the total LSOAs in 
Exeter, 8 are areas of very 
low deprivation.

 The first licensing 
objective states that there 
is a clear emphasis on 
“Preventing gambling from 
being a source of crime 
and disorder being 
associated with crime and 
disorder, or being used to 
support crime”. Would 
there be an opportunity to 
widen this approach to the 
WHO definition?

 The definition of 
“vulnerable” supplied in 
section 9.19 suggests that 
vulnerable “includes 
people who gamble 
beyond their means; and 
people who may not be 
able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about 
gambling due to mental 
impairment, alcohol or 
drugs”. Could the text 
clarify that the objective is 
also to protect vulnerable 
people in the widest sense 
(i.e. protecting vulnerable 
people before they have 
experienced harm)?

 Section 9.28 talks about 
measures and training for 
staff on how to deal with 
suspected truanting 
children and awareness of 
safeguarding/ CSE. There 
seems to be no training to 
help support vulnerable 
adults. Adult safeguarding 
and maybe mental health 

Wording amended to clarify

The objective is set out in 
legislation and is not within the 
scope of the Council to alter

The definition in the policy has 
been taken from Gambling 
Commission Guidance to 
Local Authorities. The 
Gambling Commission have 
not sought to further define 
“vulnerable” as yet, but the 
social responsibility code is 
clearly moving towards a wider 
definition.

Whilst not specifically 
mentioned, the planned 
safeguarding/ CSE training for 
gambling premises staff will 
include details of both children 
and adult safeguarding. We 
have successfully rolled this 
training out to the taxi trade, 
and now licenced premises 

Page 106



first aid training should 
also be referenced.

 We wonder if the local 
authority would consider 
“saturation zones”. As we 
understand it with regard 
to alcohol, once an area is 
labelled as a saturation 
zone no more licences or 
significant changes in 
licences are granted for 
that area.

staff, and are in discussion 
with the Gambling Commission 
about expanding this to 
Gambling premises

Section 9.10 states that local 
risk assessments should 
include the density of gambling 
premises in certain locations. 
The concept of cumulative 
impact zones has not been 
introduced for gambling as yet 
(only licenced premises under 
the Licensing Act 2003).

Page 107



APPENDIX B Full Consultation Responses Received

From: Catherine Sweet [mailto:catherine.sweet@gamcare.org.uk] 
Sent: 11 June 2018 10:51
To: Licensing Team <licensing.team@exeter.gcsx.gov.uk>
Cc: Phillippa Lane <phillippa.lane@exeter.gov.uk>; Lee Staples 
<lee.staples@exeter.gcsx.gov.uk>; Simon Lane <simon.lane@exeter.gcsx.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: Gambling Act 2005 - Policy Consultation

Hello,

Thank you for your email, we appreciate your interest in our work.

While we do not have the resources available to allow us to personally respond to 
each Local Authority which contacts us regarding their refreshed Statement of 
Principles, we have compiled a list of the issues or factors which we think it would be 
helpful to consider below, more information is available via the Gambling 
Commission.

The function of the Statement is to reflect locally specific gambling concerns and to 
reflect the Council’s wider strategic objectives. The active use of the Statement is one 
means by which you can make clear your expectations of gambling operators who 
have premises in your area. This allows operators to respond to locally specific 
requirements and adjust their own policies and procedures as required.

 A helpful first step is to develop a risk map of your local area so that you are 
aware of both potential and actual risks around gambling venues. A useful 
explanation of area-based risk-mapping has been developed with Westminster 
and Manchester City Councils, which gives some guidance on those who may 
be most vulnerable or at-risk of gambling-related harm. For more information 
please see www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-
space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/ 

 Consider that proposals for new gambling premises which are near hostels or 
other accommodation or centres catering for vulnerable people, including 
those with learning difficulties, and those with gambling / alcohol / drug abuse 
problems, as likely to adversely affect the licensing objectives set out by the 
Gambling Commission. This is also relevant regarding the proximity to 
schools, colleges and universities.

 A detailed local risk assessment at each gambling venue – pertinent to the 
environment immediately surrounding the premises as well as the wider local 
area – is a good way to gauge whether the operator and staff teams are fully 
aware of the challenges present in the local area and can help reassure the 
Local Licensing Authority that appropriate mitigations are in place.

 Does the operator have a specific training programme for staff to ensure that 
they are able to identify children and other vulnerable people, and take 
appropriate action to ensure they are not able to access the premises or are 
supported appropriately?

Page 108

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Statement-of-principles/Statement-of-principles-for-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Statement-of-principles/Statement-of-principles-for-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/


 Does the operator ensure that there is an adequate number of staff and 
managers are on the premises at key points throughout the day? This may be 
particularly relevant for premises situated nearby schools / colleges / 
universities, and/or pubs, bars and clubs.

 Consider whether the layout, lighting and fitting out of the premises have been 
designed so as not to attract children and other vulnerable persons who might 
be harmed or exploited by gambling. 

 Consider whether any promotional material associated with the premises could 
encourage the use of the premises by children or young people if they are not 
legally allowed to do so.

We would suggest that the Local Licensing Authority primarily consider applications 
from GamCare Certified operators. GamCare Certification is a voluntary process 
comprising an independent audit assessment of an operator’s player protection 
measures and social responsibility standards, policy and practice. Standards are 
measured in accordance with the GamCare Player Protection Code of Practice. If you 
would like more information on how our audit can support Local Licensing 
Authorities, please contact mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk 

For more information on GamCare training and other services available to local 
authorities, as well as recommended training for gambling operators, please see the 
attached brochures.

If there is anything else we can assist with please do let us know.

Kind regards,
Catherine

Catherine Sweet
Head of Marketing and Communications
T: 020 7801 7028
E: catherine.sweet@gamcare.org.uk

From: Richard Nokes [mailto:RNokes@gamblingcommission.gov.uk] 
Sent: 02 July 2018 15:01
To: Phillippa Lane 
Subject: RE: Gambling Act 2005 - Policy Consultation

Hi Phillippa,

Thank you for sending me a copy of your revised statement of policy.

As Lee will have mentioned, I provided some general feedback to the DLOG 
meeting on Friday which I will document and circulate separately.

Page 109

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/training-and-certification/gamcare-certification/who-gamcare-certified
mailto:mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:catherine.sweet@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:RNokes@gamblingcommission.gov.uk


I hope that the feedback below will be useful – I have replied to authors 
directly rather than as a consultee.

Good points:

 Section 2.7 - the reference to LSO areas and where they are. Are there any 
additional expectations for anyone wanting a licence in any of these areas?

 Section 2.8 - the inclusion of links to the Local Area Profile – this avoids 
having to update the policy when the LAP is updated.

 Section 2.10 - Reference to the Prevalence Survey.
 Section 6.2 – reference to GDPR.
 Section 7.2 – the inclusion of the term ‘proportionate’,
 Section 7.7 - the inclusion of information relating to Primary Authority 

agreements.
 Section 9.15 – the possibility of the restriction of advertising in sensitive 

areas.
 Section 11.8 – the clear requirements for an SSL registration.
 The inclusion of CSE and Safeguarding references.
 The inclusion of a single point of contact for area managers for betting shops 

– worth widening to other sectors? 

Observations:

 Section 7.4 – it may be worth including a record of customer interactions to 
the list of records.

 Section 9.6 – remove the reference to ‘Primary gambling’ and replace with 
compliance with LCCP SR Code 9 – Gaming machines in licensed premises.

 Section 9.10 – it may be worth considering stating that scaled plans must be 
provided.

 Section 9.10 – include the word local / premises in respect of risk 
assessment.

 Section 9.10 – in respect of mitigation of risk it may be useful to provide some 
examples such as staffing at different times of the day?

 Section 9.16 – It may be useful to include some more examples of adequate 
separation such as barriers, walls etc.?

 Section 9.33 – In respect of screens will you require a variation application? If 
so it would be useful to state this here.

 Section 10.3 - UFEC permits – ensure that the phrase ‘Area wholly or mainly 
for making gaming machines available for use’ is stated.

 Section 10.7 – I am not sure what this means? I have read it in another one 
but I have not yet come across an AGC in a pub (although I know of two 
uFECs).

 Section 10.14 – it may be useful to provide additional information in respect of 
clubs – maybe some links to relevant parts of the GLA?

 Section 10.19 – it may be useful to add some more information on TUNs such 
as the maximum number allowed.

 Section 10.21 – it would be useful to provide a link to the Commission’s 
advice on OUNs.

 Section 11.1 – it would be useful to include the requirement for societies to 
submit lottery returns within 3 months of the draw.

Page 110

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Betting/Occasional-Use-Notices-OUNs.aspx


 Appendix C – remove the Table of machines stakes/ prizes and provide a link 
to the Commission webpage – this will be updated with the hB2 changes 
when implemented.

I appreciate that this is quite a long list and if you have any queries on the 
above, please give me a call.

Kind regards,

Richard.

Richard Nokes
Compliance Manager – South West England
rnokes@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
0121 230 6593
07852 125129

Page 111

mailto:rnokes@gamblingcommission.gov.uk


Page 112



Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



1

THE GAMBLING ACT 2005

Draft Statement of Gambling Policy
2019 - 2021

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager
Civic Centre
Paris Street
Exeter
EX1 1RQ

 01392 265702
 licensing@exeter.gov.uk 
 www.exeter.gov.uk/licensing

Draft Issue Date: 30 May 2018

Proposed Commencement:31 January 2019

Page 115



2

CONTENTS

Section Page No

1. Introduction 3

2. Profile of Exeter 5

3. Consultation  8

4. Declaration 10

5. Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties 11

6. Exchange of Information 13

7. Enforcement 14

8. Licensing Authority Functions 15

9. Premises Licences 16

10. Permits and Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 24

11. Small Society Lotteries 29

APPENDICES

Appendix A Glossary of Terms 31

Appendix B Delegation of Functions 35

Appendix C Categories of Gaming Machines 36

Appendix D Useful Contacts 37

Appendix E Responsible Authorities 38

Appendix F Pool of Conditions 40

Page 116



3

Section 1 - Introduction

1.1 Exeter City Council (the Council) is the Licensing Authority (the Authority) under the 
Gambling Act 2005 (the Act). Section 349 of the Act requires that all Licensing 
Authorities prepare, consult and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy which will be 
used when exercising its licensing functions in relation to its responsibilities under the 
Act. 

1.2 Once published, this Policy Statement will be kept under constant review and in any 
case, will be re-published after every three years. Before any revision of this Statement 
of Gambling Policy is published, the Authority will carry out a full consultation exercise on 
the relevant sections. This version of the Statement has been revised following the fourth 
triennial review and is for the period 2019 – 2021. 

1.3 Section 25 of the Gambling Act states in the Guidance to local authorities that “The 
(Gambling) Commission shall from time to time issue guidance as to

a) the manner in which local authorities are to exercise their functions under this Act, 

and 

b) in particular, the principles to be applied by local authorities in exercising functions 
under this Act.” 

1.4 In producing a Gambling Licensing Policy, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
Licensing Objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the current guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission, any relevant current statutory regulations, codes of practice 
issued by the Secretary of State and any responses from those consulted on the policy 
statement.

1.5 This Policy, therefore, generally follows the principles laid down in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

The Gambling Act 2005 can be accessed at http://www.legislation.gov.uk  and the   
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities may be accessed via 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

1.6 The Act also requires this Authority to carry out its various licensing functions to promote 
the three licensing objectives: 

1. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime 

2. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

3. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

1.7 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants for premises licenses to assess the impact 
of their premises on the locality in relation to crime and disorder and will give 

Page 117

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


4

consideration to the measures offered by applicants in relation to this licensing objective 
in their assessment. If an area has high levels of organised crime then the Authority will 
consider whether or not gambling premises are suitable for that location and whether 
conditions may be suitable such as the provision of Door Supervisors

1.8 The Licensing Authority considers that serious nuisance and anti-social behaviour can 
sometimes amount to disorder. They will consider factors such as how threatening the 
behaviour was to those affected and whether police assistance was required in 
determining whether disorder has been created. 

1.9 In carrying out its licensing functions under the Act, particularly with regard to premises 
licences, the Council will generally aim to permit the use of premises for gambling as 
long as it is considered to be: 

i) In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission,

 
ii) In  accordance with any relevant  guidance  issued  by  the Commission 

reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, and in accordance with the 
statement published by this Authority under section 349 of the Act 

iii) Nothing in this Policy will override the right of any person to make an application 
under this Act and have that application considered on its individual merits. 
Equally, nothing in this Statement will undermine the right of any person to make 
representations to an application, or seek a review of a licence where there is a 
legal power to do so. 

1.8 This Authority will endeavour to ensure that when considering applications under this 
legislation it will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible. 

1.9 Previous gambling legislation required that the grant of certain gambling permissions 
should take account of whether there was an unfulfilled demand for gambling facilities. 
However, unfulfilled demand is not a criterion for a Licensing Authority in considering an 
application for a premises licence under this legislation. Each application will be 
considered on its merits without regard to demand.

Page 118



5

SECTION 2 – PROFILE OF THE CITY OF EXETER

2.1 Exeter is the Licensing Authority as defined by the Gambling Act 2005. The term    
“Licensing Authority” will be used in all future references to Exeter in this Policy.    

2.2 Exeter is a mainly urban Authority located towards the East of the County of Devon and   
bordered by the more rural Authorities of East Devon, Mid Devon and Teignbridge. Exeter 
is the regional capital of Devon comprising 4774 hectares. Long established as a cultural 
and visitor centre, it attracts large numbers of tourists and holiday makers as well as 
providing attractions to the surrounding towns and villages of east and mid Devon.  

2.3 To the south and west of Exeter is Plymouth and Torbay; between them they have three 
casinos all granted prior to the Gambling Act 2005 coming into force. Exeter lies at the end 
of the M5 corridor and has a well established airport as well as excellent rail and bus links 
to London and the rest of the country. 

2.4 Because of the size of the City and the density of its residential population there are very 
few areas within its boundaries that could be described as solely commercial or shopping 
areas. Even those that are commercial or shopping areas have significant numbers of 
residential dwellings above commercial premises and residential areas in close proximity.

2.5 The Council area has a population of approximately 129,801 [2016 ONS]. This figure 
includes the student population.

2.6 There are eight Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) within the city which represent some 
of the most deprived areas in England (very low deprivation), affected by unemployment, 
low education, skills and training, low income and poor health and disability. 

Page 119



6

2.7 The eight LSOAs of low deprivation within Exeter are:

 Sidwell Street and Clifton Road Area – Newtown Ward
 Burnthouse Lane Trees Area – Priory Ward 
 Burnthouse Lane Rifford Road Area – Priory Ward
 Whipton Area Leypark Road- Mincinglake Ward
 Whipton Area Hillyfield Road-MincinglakeBeacon Heath Area – Mincinglake 

Ward 
 City Centre West Area- Newtown
 Cathedral and City Centre East Area – St David’s Ward 

2.7 All eight of the above LSOAs fall within the 20% of most deprived areas in England, with 
the ‘Sidwell Street’ and ‘Burnthouse Lane (Trees)’ falling within the 10% of most 
deprived English regions.

2.8 In line with updated guidance, the Licensing Authority has developed local area profiles to 
help shape the Statement of Licensing Policy. The profiles will be maintained separately 
from this statement to enable profiles to be updated accordingly.

2.9 The local area profile will have regard to:

 Schools, sixth form colleges, youth centres etc, with reference to the potential risk 
of under-age gambling

 Hostels or support services for vulnerable people, such as those with addiction 
issues or who are homeless, given the greater risk of problem gambling amongst 
these groups

 Religious buildings
 Any known issues with problem gambling
 The surrounding night time economy and any possible interaction with gambling 

premises
 The socio-economic makeup of the area, in particular the index of deprivation
 The density of different types of gambling premises in certain locations
 Specific types of gambling premises in the local area

2.10 The Licensing Authority is aware that nationally recognised studies have shown a close 
link between deprivation and problem gambling. The National Centre for Social 
Research British Gambling Prevalence Survey 2010 stated that ‘high-time/high-spend 
gamblers, like high-time only gamblers, displayed the most adverse socio-economic 
profile. They were more likely to live in areas of greatest deprivation, live in low income 
households and be unemployed. This group showed a relative preference for betting on 
horse races, fixed odds betting terminals and playing casino games.’

2.11 The report also went onto say that ‘compared with the average, those who were 
unemployed were more likely to gamble on several different activities (exceptions being 
the National Lottery Draw, other lotteries, football pools, betting on dog races and online 
betting). For example, 12% of those who were unemployed had played fixed odds 
betting terminals in the past year compared with 4% of respondents overall. Prevalence 
of playing fixed odds betting terminals was highest among those with the lowest 
personal income.’

Page 120



7

2.12    Residents of the wards listed above are therefore potentially more vulnerable to gambling 
related harm, and specific consideration should therefore be given to future applications 
for gambling premises located in these areas in order to effectively mitigate these 
additional risks.

Page 121



8

SECTION 3 – CONSULTATION ON THE STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY

3.1 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of 
the principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  A new 
statement must be published at least every three years.  The statement must also be 
reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The revised 
statement must be then re-published.

3.2 Before publishing this Statement the Licensing Authority (Exeter City Council) consulted 
widely upon this statement before finalising and publishing.  The consultation included 
the Police, the Fire Authority, representatives of local residents, representatives of local 
businesses and representatives of those persons carrying on gambling businesses in 
this Authority’s area. This Licensing Authority has also consulted with relevant 
departments within the Council.

3.3 The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing 
Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005.

3.4 Other persons and bodies this authority consulted are:

 Citizens Advice Bureau
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership [CDRP] 
 Devon and Cornwall Constabulary.
 Devon County Council Social services /Education dept 
 Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service
 Environmental Health
 Gamblers Anonymous
 Gambling Commission
 Gamcare
 Local Business and their representatives
 Local residents and their representatives
 Mencap
 NSPCC
 Representatives of existing licence holders
 Voluntary and community organisations working with children 

3.5 Our consultation took place between 30 May and 22 August 2018 and we followed the HM 
Government Code of Practice on Consultation (published July 2008), which is available at: 
http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf

Page 122

http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf


9

3.6 The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of those comments 
will then be published with the final version of the policy which needs to be approved at a 
meeting of the Full Council on 13 November 2018.

3.7 Any comments relating to this policy statement please should be submitted to the 
Licensing Authority via e-mail or letter to the following contact:

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, Licensing Team, Civic Centre Paris Street 
Exeter EX1 1RQ E-mail: licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk

3.8 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any person to 
make an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a 
licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.  

Page 123

mailto:licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk


10

SECTION 4 – DECLARATION

4.1 In producing this Statement of Gambling Policy, this Licensing Authority declares that it 
has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005; the Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission and have considered those responses from those 
consulted on the Statement. 

Page 124



11

SECTION 5 – RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES AND INTERESTED PARTIES

5.1 The Gambling Act 2005 allows for two different types of groups to make representations 
regarding applications to the Licensing Authority and also to apply having existing 
licences reviewed by the Authority. These groups are “Responsible Authorities” and 
“Interested Parties” 

5.2 The Act defines Responsible Authorities as: 

a. A licensing authority in England and Wales in whose area the premises are 
wholly or partly  situated 

b. the Gambling Commission

c. the chief officer of police for a police area in which the premises are wholly or 
partly situated

d. the fire and rescue authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or 
partly situated

e. the local planning authority, in accordance with Part I of the Town and Country  
Planning Act 1990 (c. 8), for an area in which the premises are wholly or partly 
situated

f. an authority which has functions by virtue of an enactment in respect of 
minimising or preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to 
human health in an area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated

g. a body which is designated in writing for the purposes of this paragraph, by the  
licensing authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated, 
as competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm

h. Her Majesty's Commissioners of Customs and Excise 

i. any other person prescribed for the purposes of this section by regulations made 
by the Secretary of State. 

5.3 For the purpose of this Licensing Authority the body designated as competent to advise   
the authority about the protection of children from harm (“g” above) will be the 
Independent Safeguarding Authority.   

5.4 Section 158 of the Act states that a person is an “Interested Party” if, in the opinion of the 
Licensing Authority that person: 

a. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities

b. has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 

Page 125



12

c. represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b). 

               5.5 The Licensing Authority is required by Legislation to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Act to determine whether a person is an interested party. 

5.6 The principles for this Authority are that each case will be decided upon its own merits   
and rigid rules will not be applied to its decision making. It will consider the examples 
provided in the Gambling Commissions Guidance for Licensing Authorities. It will also 
consider the Commissions Guidance that “has business interests” should be given the 
widest possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and 
medical practices. 

              5.7 Section 158 of the Gambling Act states that an “interested party” must “live sufficiently 
close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities”, or “has 
business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities”, or be a body 
representing persons who satisfy this criteria. The Gambling Commission recommends 
in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that Interested Parties could include trade 
associations and trade unions, and residents and tenants associations. However, it fails 
to mention that those bodies should represent persons or businesses sufficiently close to 
be likely to be affected by the operation of the premises. This Authority will follow section 
158 of the Act and will not generally view these bodies as interested parties unless they 
have a member who can be classed as an interested person under the terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005, i.e. they live sufficiently close or carry on a business so that they will 
be likely to be affected by the activities being applied for.

Page 126



13

SECTION 6 – EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION

6.1 Licensing Authorities are required to include in their Statement of Policy the principles to 
be applied by the Authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the 
Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling 
Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act with respect to the 
exchange of information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

6.2 The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act in its exchange of information, which includes the provision that the 
General Data Protection Regulation will not be contravened. The Licensing Authority will 
also have regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Local 
Authorities on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

6.3 Should any protocols be established as regards information with other bodies, then they 
will be made available.

Page 127



14

SECTION 7 – ENFORCEMENT

7.1 Licensing Authorities are required by regulation under the Act to state the principles to 
be applied by the Authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act with 
respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to 
institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified. 

7.2 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commissions Guidance for Local Authorities and will endeavour to be: 

a. Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies should be    
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;

b. Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

c. Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
d. Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and
e. Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects.

7.3 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities, this Authority will 
endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible. 

7.4 This Authority will also, as recommended by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
Licensing Authorities, adopt a risk-based inspection programme. As part of the 
inspection programme, areas that will be covered include:

 Layout is maintained in accordance with the plan
 Looking at details of training policies
 Local risk assessment documentation
 Training undertaken by staff
 Entries in the refusal book
 Records of any relevant incidents in or outside the premises
 Signage displayed
 Approach to customer selfexclusion and multi operator self exclusion
 Involvement in local and national schemes
 Customer interaction records

7.5 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of the 
Act will be to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other permissions that it 
authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the operating 
and personal licences. It should be noted that any issues relating to the manufacture, 
supply or repair of gaming machines will also be dealt with by the Gambling 
Commission. 

7.6 This Licensing Authority embraces the Department for Business Innovation and Skills’ 
“Regulators Code.” The authority embraces the principles of better regulation to promote 
efficient and effective approaches to regulatory activity without imposing unnecessary 
burdens on business.

Page 128



15

7.7 The Licensing Authority shall have regard to any inspection plan agreed between a 
company and primary authority.

Page 129



16

SECTION 8 – LICENSING AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS

8.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to undertake various regulatory 
functions in relation to a number of gambling activities. They are required to: 

a) Issue Premises Licences 

b) Issue Provisional Statements where premises are intended to provide gambling 
activities

c) Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits

d) Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs

e) Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres

f) Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 
2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines

g) Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing 
Act 2003, where there are more than two machines

h) Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 

i) Issue Prize Gaming Permits

j) Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices 

k) Receive Occasional Use Notices

l) Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (detailed in Section 6 – Information Exchange)

m) Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions

n) Issue notices and other documentation required under the Act and the Regulations 
made

8.2 It should be noted that Licensing Authorities will not be involved in licensing remote 
gambling at all. This will fall to the Gambling Commission via operating licences. 

Page 130



17

SECTION 9 – PREMISES LICENCES

9.1 A Premises licence is required for the following categories of gambling premises:

 Betting (other than track)
 Betting (track)
 Bingo
 Adult Gaming Centre
 Family Entertainment Centre

9.2 Premises licences will be subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act 2005 
and Regulations made under the Act, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State (The 
Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2007). Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default conditions where 
appropriate and also attach additional conditions where relevant. 

9.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is: 

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives

 In accordance with the Authority’s statement of licensing policy (this 
document).

9.3 The Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
for Licensing Authorities, which states that Authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a building, and those relating to a 
discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they 
should be aware that entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or 
more licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and that people do not drift into a gambling area. The 
Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to applications where access to the 
licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or 
unlicensed) 

9.4 Clearly, there will be specific issues that the Licensing Authority will consider before 
granting such applications, for example, whether children can gain access; compatibility 
of the two establishments; and ability to comply with the requirements of the Act. But, in 
addition, an overriding consideration should be whether, taken as a whole, the co-
location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the effect of creating an 
arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under the Act. 

Page 131



18

9.5 This Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities relating to the artificial sub-division of premises. It also takes note 
of section 152 (1) of the Act and will look very carefully at any application that may 
appear to breach any of these provisions. 

9.6 This Authority also takes particular note of the “Licence Conditions and Code of 
Practice” published by the Gambling Commission. For example, where a premise is 
licensed to provide bingo facilities then the primary activity must be the provision of 
bingo, with gaming machines being an ancillary offering in the premises. This Authority 
also notes the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice for the Primary Gambling 
Activity of licensed premises.

9.9 When an application is made for a premises licence for a premises that is in the course 
of construction or alteration, or are still to be constructed or altered, the Licensing 
Authority will take into account the current Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission. The Licensing Authority will also consider:

 Whether the premises ought to be permitted for gambling
 Whether the appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation 

that the premises are not yet in a state in which they ought to be before 
gambling takes place

 When the premises intends to start operating under the licence 

9.10 In considering licensing applications, the Licensing Authority will take into account the 
following:

 The design and layout of the premises (in the form of a scaled plan)
 Staffing arrangements on the premises
 Training given to staff in crime prevention measures appropriate to those 

premises
 Physical security features installed in the premises. This may include matters 

such as the positioning of cash registers and the standard of any CCTV system
 Where premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures in place to 

conduct age verification checks
 The likelihood of any crime, public order and anti-social behaviour issues if the 

licence is granted
 Details of any intended participation in local business schemes (such as Exeter 

Business Against Crime, Business Improvement District, Chamber of Commerce, 
Best Bar None)

 Details of intended national voluntary codes or schemes
 The operators premises risk assessment to include 

o Identification of schools, sixth form colleges, youth centres etc, with 
reference to the potential risk of under-age gambling

o Identification of hostels or support services for vulnerable people, such as 
those with addiction issues or who are homeless, given the greater risk of 
problem gambling amongst these groups

o Identification of Religious buildings
o Any known issues with problem gambling in the area of the proposed 

premises
o The surrounding night time economy and any possible interaction with 

gambling premises
o The socio-economic makeup of the area

Page 132



19

o The density of different types of gambling premises in certain locations
o How any risks identified will be mitigated for example the provision SIA 

doorstaff in areas identified as having high levels of crime and disorder, or 
assessing staffing levels when a local college closes. These controls 
should reflect the level of risk within your particular area, which will be 
determined by local circumstances  

o What monitoring arrangements will be put in place where risks are 
identified

9.11 This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard 
to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
can. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities, this 
Authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. 
Should any specific policy be decided upon regarding areas where gambling premises 
should not be located, this Statement will be updated. It should be noted that any such 
policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 
decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how potential 
concerns can be overcome. 

9.12 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems including planning, where possible, This Authority will not consider whether a 
licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval in its consideration of it. 

9.13 Planning: The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: 
In determining applications the Licensing Authority has a duty to take into consideration 
all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any irrelevant matters, i.e. those 
not related to gambling and the licensing objectives. One example of an irrelevant matter 
would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building 
regulations approval for their proposal… 

This Authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above guidance. In 
addition this Authority notes the following excerpt from the Guidance:

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the Licensing 
Authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or health and safety risks be 
taken into account. Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control, 
building and other regulations, and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence. Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into 
account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building 
consent when considering a premises licence application. Equally, the grant of a 
gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be 
appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.

9.14 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 
This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking a leading 
role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime. The Gambling Commission's 
Guidance does however envisage that Licensing Authorities should pay attention to the 
proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective. Where an 
area has known high levels of crime this Authority will consider carefully whether 

Page 133



20

gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions, such as the 
provision of door supervisors, may be relevant. 

9.15 Where gambling premises are located in sensitive areas, e.g. near schools, this 
Licensing Authority will consider imposing restrictions on advertising gambling facilities 
on such premises where it is felt relevant and reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives. 

9.16 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This Licensing 
Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated that it would generally not 
expect Licensing Authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal 
licences. 

9.16 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling - This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission's 
Guidance for Licensing Authorities states that this objective means preventing children 
from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at, or are particularly attractive to, children). The Licensing 
Authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance, 
whether specific measures are required at particular premises with regard to this 
licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include supervision of 
entrances/machines, clear segregation of areas (for example physical segregation via 
walls or barriers), appropriate signage etc.

9.19 As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling Commission is 
not seeking to offer a definition but states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that 
this group includes people who gamble more than they want to; people who gamble 
beyond their means; and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.” This Licensing 
Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case basis. Should a 
practical definition prove possible in future then this policy statement will be updated with 
it, by way of a revision. 

9.20 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

 Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility

 Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for

 Fairly and reasonably related to the scale, neighbourhood and type of premises

 Reasonable in all other respects.

9.21 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider utilising should 
there be a perceived need, such as the use of door supervisors, appropriate signage for 
adult only areas etc. This Authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such measures 
may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult 

Page 134



21

gambling specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives. These matters 
are in accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance.

9.22 This Authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted, all such machines are located in an area of the 
premises which is separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance; 

 Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located

 Access to  the  area  where  the  machines  are  located  is supervised

 The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder; and at the entrance to and inside any 
such areas there are prominently displayed notices indicating that access to the 
area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable. 

9.23 It is noted that because of restrictions imposed by the Gambling Act there are conditions 
which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to premises licences, which are: 

 Any condition on  the  premises  licence  which  makes  it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition

 Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation

 Conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated)

  Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 

9.24 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance for Licensing Authorities that they 
may consider whether there is a need for door supervisors in terms of the licensing 
objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing premises becoming a source of 
crime. It is noted though that there is no requirement for “in house” door supervisors at 
casinos or bingo premises to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority (SIA) through 
a specific exemption contained in Paragraph 17 of Schedule 16 to the Act. However, 
following clarification from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) 
and the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA), any contract staff employed in a Door Supervisor role 
will still require to be licensed by the SIA.

9.25 For premises other than “in house” staff employed at casinos and bingo premises, 
operators and Licensing Authorities may decide that supervision of entrances/machines 
is appropriate for particular cases but it will need to be decided whether these need to be 
SIA licensed or not. It will not be automatically assumed that they need to be. 

Page 135



22

9.26 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door supervisors 
for the protection of the public. This Licensing Authority will make a door supervisor 
requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that 
the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door 
supervision is both necessary and proportionate. 

9.27 In relation to Adult Gaming Centres this Licensing Authority will specifically have regard 
to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling. It is recommended that applicants provide means to satisfy the Authority that 
there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the premises. Such measures may cover issues such as: 

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas

9.28 In relation to (licensed) Family Entertainment Centres this Licensing Authority will 
specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from 
harm or being exploited by gambling. The following list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, 
and is merely indicative of example measures that may be appropriate to adopt.  It is 
recommended that applicants are able to satisfy the Authority that, for example, there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to any 
adult only gaming machine areas. Such measures may include: 

 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entrance
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truanting school 

children on the premises, and awareness of safeguarding/ child sexual 
exploitation

9.29 No Casinos resolution – At this time this Licensing Authority has passed a no casino/no 
additional casinos‟ resolution under Section 166 of the Act, but should the Licensing 
Authority decide in the future to review this resolution, this Statement of Gambling Policy 
will be updated with details of that resolution. Any such decision will be made by the Full 
Council after a full consultation has taken place. 

9.30 Management of areas where category B and C gaming machines are located in 
gambling premises that admit children and young people. 

9.31 This Authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance states in that:

According to mandatory and default conditions relating to premises that admit under 
18s, any area where category B and C gaming machines are located must be:

Page 136



23

 separated from the rest of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to  
prevent access other than by an entrance designed for that purpose
 

 supervised (see below) at all times to ensure that under-18s do not enter the 
area

 
 arranged in a way that ensures that all parts of the area can be observed; and

 
 supervised either by: 

 one or more persons whose responsibilities include ensuring that under-
18s do not enter the areas; or 

 CCTV monitored by one or more persons whose responsibilities include 
ensuring that under-18s do not enter the areas and a notice stating that 
no person under the age of 18 is permitted to enter the area must be 
displayed in a prominent place at the entrance to the area.

9.32 Betting machines in Betting Premises – the Licensing Authority, may when appropriate, 
use its powers under Section 181 of the Act to restrict the number of betting machines 
(also known as bet receipt terminals), their nature and the circumstances in which they 
are made available at betting premises by imposing a licensing condition. When 
considering whether such a condition should be imposed, the Licensing Authority will 
take into account:

 The size of the premises
 The number and location of the machines
 The number of counter position available for person-to-person transactions, and
 The number and ability of staff to monitor the licensed premises and prevent 

persons under the age of 18 from entering the premises.

9.33 Betting Offices – This Licensing Authority will look closely at applications to re-site betting 
offices in the same locality or to extend premises in order to enhance the quality of 
facilities offered to the public who may wish to use them. In particular, The Authority will 
expect any application proposing the use of customer privacy screens, to clearly identify 
how these areas can be adequately supervised. The Authority will look at those 
applications sympathetically where there are no concerns that the Licensing Objectives 
will be adversely affected. However, where proposed changes have the potential to 
adversely affect any of the licensing objectives, then the Authority may view the 
amendments as a material change which warrants a variation application under S187 of 
the Gambling Act. 

9.34 This Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises 
within its area. In order to ensure compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the 
earliest stage, operators are requested to give the Authority a single named point of 
contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the Authority will contact first 
should any compliance queries or issues arise. 

9.35 Travelling Fairs - It will fall to this Licensing Authority to decide whether, where category 
D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available 
for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount 

Page 137



24

to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. The Licensing Authority will 
also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

9.36 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, is 
per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. This 
Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which 
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

9.37 Provisional  Statements  -  This  Licensing  Authority  notes  the Guidance from the 
Gambling Commission which states that “It is a question of fact and degree whether 
premises are finished to a degree that they can be considered for a premises licence” 
and that “Requiring the building to be complete ensures that the authority could, if 
necessary, inspect it fully”.

9.38 The Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) Regulations 
requires applications for Provisional Statements to be advertised in the same way as 
applications for Premises Licences. In terms of representations about premises licence 
applications, following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations 
from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they 
concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional statement 
stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. In addition, the Authority 
may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the 
provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

a. which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or

b. which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances. 

9.39 This Authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “A licensing 
authority should not take into account irrelevant matters.... One example of an irrelevant 
matter would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building 
regulations approval for the proposal."

9.40 Reviews - Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities, however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the request 
for the review is relevant to one or more of the matters listed below, as well as 
consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious or will certainly not cause 
this Authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially 
the same as previous representations or requests for review unless there is a material 
change in circumstances. Representations should be made in accordance with any 
relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission; 

 Made in accordance  with  any  relevant  guidance  issued  by  the Gambling 
Commission; 

 Are reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and are made in 
accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy. 

Page 138



25

 This Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any 
reason which it thinks is appropriate.

Page 139



26

SECTION 10 – PERMITS, TEMPORARY AND OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES

10.1 This part relates to Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 
(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7 to the Gambling Act 
2005). Where an operator does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, an applicant may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit. It 
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly 
used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238). 

10.2 The Act states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a statement of principles that they 
propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and in 
preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have 
regard to the licensing objectives, and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued 
by the Commission under section 25. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
Licensing Authorities also states: “In its Licensing Authority Statement of Policy, a 
licensing authority may include a statement of principles that it proposes to apply when 
exercising its functions in considering applications for permits. …, licensing authorities 
may want to give weight to matters relating to child protection issues." 

10.3 An application for an unlicenced Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) permit may be 
granted only if the licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be an area wholly 
or mainly for making gaming machines available for use, and if the chief officer of police 
has been consulted on the application The Licensing Authority will require applicants to 
demonstrate: 

a. a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions 
(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to have 
a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

b. It should be noted that a Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type 
of permit.

10.4 Statement of Principles – This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that 
there are policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is 
not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The 
efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, 
they may include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truanting school 
children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on or 
around the premises, and awareness of safeguarding/ child sexual exploitation. This Licensing 
Authority will also expect that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has 
no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are 
trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

10.5 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits - (Schedule 13 paragraph 4(1) to 
the Gambling Act 2005). There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell 
alcohol for consumption on the premises to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority. The 
Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 

Page 140



27

premises if: 

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives;

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 
of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing 
Authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine has been complied with);

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

10.6 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines then it needs to apply for a permit 
and the Licensing Authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance  issued  by  the  Gambling  Commission  issued  under Section 
25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think relevant.” This Licensing 
Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis but 
generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from 
harm or being exploited by gambling. This Authority will also expect the applicant to 
satisfy it that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the adult only gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the 
Authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of 
the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18. Notices and signage may also be helpful. As regards the protection of 
vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

10.7 It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application with a 
smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. It should also be noted that the 
holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machines. 

10.8 Prize Gaming Permits - (Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 14 paragraph 8 
(3) to the Gambling Act 2005) 

10.9 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may “prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” 
which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to 
consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”. 

10.10 This Licensing Authority has prepared this Statement of Principles which expects that 
the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and 
that the applicant should be able to demonstrate: 

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations;

 that the gaming offered is within the law;

 clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm;

Page 141



28

 that they meet the objective of carrying out gambling openly and fairly; and,

 that the premises are mainly or wholly used for gambling purposes.

10.11 In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing Authority does not 
need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any Gambling 
Commission guidance. 

10.12 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which the 
permit holder must comply, but that the Licensing Authority cannot attach any further 
conditions. The conditions in the Act are: 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 
the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed 
on the day the chances are allocated; 

 the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling. 

10.13 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

Members   Clubs   and   Miners’   Welfare   Institutes   (but   not Commercial Clubs) may 
apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit. The Club Gaming 
Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories 
B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in regulations. A Club 
Gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D). 

10.14 The Licensing Authority has to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the 
Act to obtain a club gaming permit. In doing so it will take account of a number of matters 
which include the constitution of the club, the frequency of gaming and ensuring that 
there are more than 25 members. The club must be conducted wholly or mainly for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations. 
The Secretary of State has made regulations and these cover bridge and whist clubs.

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Part-25-Clubs.aspx

10.15 The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members or commercial club 
or miners welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of 

Page 142



29

permit for which it has applied; 

 the applicants premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young   
persons; 

 an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or

 an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

10.16 There is also a fast-track application procedure available under the Act for premises 
which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 
paragraph 10). It should be noted that commercial clubs cannot hold club premises 
certificates under the Licensing Act 2003 and so cannot use the fast-track procedure. 
Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit 
are reduced. The grounds on which an application under the process may be refused 
are: 

 that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
under schedule 12;

 that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or

 that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 
last ten years has been cancelled.

10.17 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B or 
C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a 
code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

10.18 Temporary Use Notices 

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices. It is noted that 
the Gambling Commission Guidance states that "The meaning of "premises" in part 8 of 
the Act is discussed in Part 7 of this guidance. As with "premises", the definition of a set 
of premises will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that 
is given. In the Act "premises" is defined as including any place. In considering whether 
a place falls within the definition of a set of premises, Licensing Authorities will need to 
look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 
This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect 
would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises. Restrictions on temporary use notices include:

 it can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s operating 
licence, and consideration should therefore be given as to whether the form of gambling 
being offered on the premises will be remote, non-remote, or both

 gambling under a TUN may only be made available on a maximum of 21 days in any 12 
month period for any or all of a named set of premises

Page 143



30

 it can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, and 
where the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce a single overall winner

 gaming machines may not be made available under a TUN.

10.19The Licensing Authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence. The 
Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be authorised 
by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement the relevant 
regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 
2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of 
facilities for equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single 
winner, which in practice means poker tournaments. 

10.20 Occasional Use Notices 

This notice allows for betting on a track without the need for a premises licence on 8 
days or less in a calendar year (for example point to point races). The Licensing 
Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the 
statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This Licensing Authority will 
though consider the definition of a “track” and whether the applicant is permitted to avail 
him/herself of the notice. The Gambling Commission have provided further advice on the 
use of occasional use notices:
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Part-15-
Occasional-use-notices.aspx#DynamicJumpMenuManager_1_Anchor_1

Page 144

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Part-15-Occasional-use-notices.aspx#DynamicJumpMenuManager_1_Anchor_1
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Part-15-Occasional-use-notices.aspx#DynamicJumpMenuManager_1_Anchor_1


31

SECTION 11 – SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERIES

11.1 Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating licence or is an 
exempt lottery. The Licensing Authority will register and administer small society lotteries 
(as defined). Promoting or facilitating a lottery will fall within 2 categories: 

 licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission); and

 exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority)

11.2 Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the Gambling 
Commission and these are: 

 small society lotteries
 incidental non-commercial lotteries
 private lotteries
 private society lotteries
 work lotteries 
 residents’ lotteries
 customer lotteries

11.3 Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed by the Gambling Commission or fall 
within the exempt category. The Licensing Authority recommends those seeking to run 
lotteries take their own legal advice on which type of lottery category they fall within. 
Guidance notes on small society lotteries, limits placed on them and information setting 
out financial limits can be found on the Council’s web-site at: 
www.exeter.gov.uk/licensing 

11.4 Applicants for registration of small society lotteries must apply to the Licensing Authority 
in the area where their principal office is located. Where the Licensing Authority believes 
that the Society’s principal office is situated in another area it will inform the Society as 
soon as possible and where possible, will inform the other Licensing Authority. 

11.5 Lotteries will be regulated through; a licensing and registration scheme, conditions 
imposed on licences by the Gambling Commission, codes of practice and any guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission. In exercising its functions with regard to small 
society and exempt lotteries, the Licensing Authority will have due regard to the 
Gambling Commission’s guidance. 

11.6 The Licensing Authority will keep a public register of all applications and will provide 
information to the Gambling Commission on all lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority. As soon as the entry on the register is completed, the Licensing Authority will 
notify the applicant of his registration. In addition, the Licensing Authority will make 
available for inspection by the public the financial statements or returns submitted by 
societies in the preceding 18 months and will monitor the cumulative totals for each 

Page 145

http://www.exeter.gov.uk/licensing


32

society to ensure the annual monetary limit is not breached. If there is any doubt, the 
Licensing Authority will notify the Gambling Commission in writing, copying this to the 
Society concerned. The Licensing Authority will accept return information either 
manually but preferably electronically by emailing: licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk 
Returns should be submitted no later than 3 months from the draw date. 

11.7 The Licensing Authority will refuse applications for registration if in the previous five 
years, either an operating licence held by the applicant for registration has been 
revoked, or an application for an operating licence made by the applicant for registration 
has been refused. Where the Licensing Authority is uncertain as to whether or not an 
application has been refused, it will contact the Gambling Commission to seek advice. 

11.8 The Licensing Authority may refuse an application for registration if in their opinion: 

 the applicant is not a non-commercial society;

 a person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the lottery has been 
convicted of a relevant offence; or 

 information provided in or with the application for registration is false or 
misleading.

11.9 The Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set out the purposes for which the Society 
is established and will ask the Society to declare that they represent a bona fide non-
commercial society and have no relevant convictions. The Licensing Authority may also 
seek further information from the Society. 

11.10 Where the Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a Society, it will give the 
Society an opportunity to make representations and will inform the Society of the 
reasons why it is minded to refuse registration, and supply evidence on which it has 
reached that preliminary conclusion. 

11.11 The Licensing Authority may revoke the registered status of a Society if it thinks that it 
would have had to, or would be entitled to refuse an application for registration if it were 
being made at that time. However, no revocations will take place unless the Society has 
been given the opportunity to make representations. The Licensing Authority will inform 
the Society of the reasons why it is minded to revoke the registration and will provide an 
outline of the evidence on which it has reached that preliminary conclusion.

11.12 Where a Society employs an external lottery manager, it will need to satisfy itself that the 
manager holds an operator’s licence issued by the Gambling Commission, and the 
Licensing Authority will expect this to be verified by the Society. 

Page 146

mailto:licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk


33

APPENDIX A – GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Adult Gaming Centre Person operating an adult gaming centre (AGC) must hold a gaming 
machines general operating licence from the Commission and have 
an AGC premises licence from the Licensing Authority. They will be 
able to make category B, C and D gaming machines available to 
their customers.

Alcohol licensed 
premises gaming 
machine permits

The Licensing Authority can issue such permits for a number of 
category C or D machines in licensed premises. There is an 
automatic entitlement for alcohol on-licence holders to make 
available 2 gaming machines of category C or D for use in alcohol 
licensed premises.

Betting Machines A machine designed or adapted for the use to bet on future real 
events (not Gaming Machines).

Bingo A game of equal chance.

Whilst there is no statutory definition of Bingo, generally there are 2 
different types of bingo:

 Cash Bingo, where the stakes paid made up the cash prizes that 
were won; or

 Prize Bingo, where various forms of prizes were won, not directly 
related to the stake paid.

Premises with a bingo premises licence, or a casino premises 
licence will be able to offer bingo in all its forms.

Adult Gaming Centres, both licensed and unlicensed family 
entertainment centres, travelling fairs and any premises with a prize 
gaming permit, will be able to offer prize gaming which includes 
prize bingo.

Default Conditions Conditions that will apply through Statute unless the Licensing 
Authority decide to exclude them. This may apply to all Premises 
Licences, to a class of Premises Licence or Licences for specified 
circumstances

Casino Premises 
Licence Categories

a) Regional Casino Premises Licence 
b) Large Casino Premises Licence 
c) Small Casino Premises Licence 
d) Casinos permitted under transitional arrangements.

Code of Practice Means any relevant code of practice under section 24 of the 
Gambling Act 2005.

Club Gaming Machine 
Permit

Permit to enable commercial and non-commercial clubs to provide 
at their premises the number of gaming machines (Category B, C or 
D) as set out in the regulations.

Page 147



34

Default Conditions Conditions that will apply unless the Licensing Authority decide to 
exclude them. This may apply to all premises licences, to a class of 
premises licence or licences for specified circumstances.

Equal Chance Gaming Games that do not involve playing or staking against a bank and 
where the chances are equally favourable to all participants.

Exempt Lotteries Lotteries specified in the Gambling Act as permitted to be run 
without a licence from the Gambling Commission. There are 4 types:

• Small Society Lottery (required to register with Licensing 
Authorities) 

• Incidental Non Commercial Lotteries e.g. Raffle at a 
dance/church fair 

• Private Lotteries e.g. Raffle at a student hall of residence 
• Customer Lotteries e.g. Supermarket holding a hamper raffle 

External Lottery 
Manager

An individual, firm or company appointed by the Small Lottery 
Society to manage a lottery on their behalf. They are consultants 
who generally take their fees from the expenses of the lottery.

Large Lottery Where the total value of tickets in any one lottery exceeds £20,000 
OR tickets in separate lotteries in one calendar year exceeds 
£250,000. This requires an Operating Licence.

Licensing Committee A committee of 10 to 15 Councillors appointed by the Council to 
represent the Licensing Authority in Gambling matters.

Licensing Sub 
Committee

A sub-committee of members appointed from the Licensing 
Committee to whom the functions of the licensing committee can be 
delegated under the Act to determine applications.

Lottery An arrangement where 1) persons are required to pay to participate 
in the arrangement 2) in the course of the arrangement, one or more 
prizes are allocated to one or more members of a class 3) the prizes 
are allocated by a series of processes, and 4) the first of those 
processes relies wholly on chance.

Mandatory Conditions Conditions that must be attached to a licence. This may apply to all 
Premises Licences, to a class of Premises Licence or licences for 
specified circumstances

Occasional use 
notices

Where there is betting on a track on up to 8 days in a calendar year, 
betting may be permitted by an occasional use notice without the 
need for a premises licence. A track includes a horse racing venue, 
dog track and temporary tracks used for races or sporting events.

Operating Licences Licences to permit individuals and companies to provide facilities for 
certain types of gambling. They may authorise remote or non remote 
gambling.

Personal Licence Formal authorisation to individuals who control facilities for gambling 
or are able to influence the outcome of gambling. These cannot be 
held by companies.

Page 148



35

Premises Licence Licence to authorise the provision of gaming facilities on casino 
premises, bingo premises, betting premises, including tracks, adult 
gaming centres and some family entertainment centres

Premises Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”. Different premises 
licences cannot apply in respect of single premises at different 
times. However, it is possible for a single building to be subject to 
more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts 
of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises. Whether different 
parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will always be a question of fact in the circumstances. 
However, the Gambling Commission does not consider that areas of 
a building that are artificially or temporarily separate can be properly 
regarded as different premises

Private Lotteries 3 Types of Private Lotteries:

• Private Society Lotteries – tickets may only be sold to members 
of the Society or persons who are on the premises of the 
Society 

• Work Lotteries – the promoters and purchasers of tickets must 
all work on a single set of work premises 

• Residents‟ Lotteries – promoted by, and tickets may only be 
sold to, people who live at the same set of premises;

• Prize Gaming - Where the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid 
for or raised by the gaming. The prizes will be determined by the 
operator before play commences.

Small Lottery Where the total value of tickets in a single lottery is £20,000 or less 
and the aggregate value of the tickets in a calendar year is £250,000 
or less

Small Society Lottery A lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial society, i.e. 
lotteries intended to raise funds for good causes.

Provisional Statement Where an applicant can make an application to the Licensing 
Authority in respect of premises that he:

• Expects to be constructed 

• Expects to be altered 

• Expects to acquire a right to occupy. 

Temporary Use Notice To allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.

Page 149



36

Vehicles Defined as trains, aircraft, sea planes and amphibious vehicles other 
than hovercraft. No form of commercial betting and gaming is 
permitted

Page 150



37

APPENDIX B – DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Licensing Sub-
Committee

Officers

Approval of Gambling Policy x
Policy not to permit casino x
Fee Setting (Where appropriate) x
Application for premises licence Where 

representations 
have been 

received and not 
withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

have been 
received or have 
been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where 
representations 

have been 
received and not 

withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

have been 
received or have 
been withdrawn

Application for the transfer of a 
licence

Where 
representations 

have been 
received and not 

withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

have been 
received or have 
been withdrawn

Application for a Provisional 
Statement

Where 
representations 

have been 
received and not 

withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

have been 
received or have 
been withdrawn

Review of premises licence x
Application for club gaming/club 
machine permit

Where 
representations 

have been 
received and not 

withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

have been 
received or have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming 
/club machine permit

x

Application for other permits x
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits 

x

Consideration of a Temporary 
Use Notice

X

Decision to give counter notice 
to Temporary Use Notice

X

Page 151



38

APPENDIX C – CATEGORIES OF GAMING MACHINES

The Gambling Commission have provided details of gaming machine categories and stakes/ 
prices and a link is provided below:

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-
compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-
categories.aspx

Page 152

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx


39

APPENDIX D – USEFUL CONTACTS

If  you  wish  to  make  any  comments  on  the  Gambling Policy of Exeter City Council or if you 
want further information regarding the Gambling Act 2005 please contact:

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager
Exeter City Council 
Civic Centre
Paris Street
Exeter
EX1 1RQ

Telephone: 01392 265702
Email:      licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk 

Information is also available from:

The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 
2-4 Cockspur Street
London 
SW1Y 5DH

Telephone: 020 7211 6200
Internet:  www.culture.gov.uk 
Email: gambling@culture.gov.uk

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance can be viewed at: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Page 153

mailto:licensing.team@exeter.gov.uk
http://www.culture.gov.uk/
mailto:gambling@culture.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


40

APPENDIX E – RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY CONTACTS

Gambling Commission

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP

Tel: 0121 230 6666

Devon & Cornwall Police

The Chief Constable
Devon & Cornwall Police Headquarters
Licensing Department (East)
Middlemoor
Exeter
EX2 7HQ

Tel: 01392 452225

Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service

Divisional Commander
Central Command (Exeter Group)
Exeter Fire Station
Danes Castle
Howell Road
EXETER
EX4 4LP

Tel: 01392 872354

HMRC

Revenue & Customs, 
National Registration Unit
Portcullis House, 
21 India Street
Glasgow
G2 4HY

Environmental Health & Licensing Manager

(For Environmental Protection/Health & Safety)

Environmental health & Licensing Manager
Exeter City Council
Civic Centre
Paris Street
EXETER
EX1 1RQ

Page 154



41

Tel: 01392 265193 
Fax: 01392 265852

Exeter City Council Planning & Development Service

Assistant Director City Development
Exeter City Council
Civic Centre
Paris Street
EXETER
EX1 1NN

Tel: 01822 813600

Devon County Council Child Protection

Head of Safeguarding, 
Child Protection Manager
Children's Services Division
Devon County Council
Parker's Barn,
Parker's Way
TOTNES 
TQ9 5UF

Tel: 01392 386091

Devon Trading Standards Service

Chief Trading Standards Officer
Devon County Council
County Hall
Topsham Road
EXETER

Tel: 01392 382818

Page 155



42

APPENDIX F – POOL OF CONDITIONS

F1 The premises shall be fitted out and operational within 6 months of the issue of the 
licence

F2 The Licensee shall notify the Licensing Authority when the premises have been fitted out 
and are ready for operation, so that the Licensing Authority can inspect the premises. 
Such notification to the Licensing Authority shall be given no less than 10 days prior to 
the premises opening under the licence

F3 There shall be a minimum of 2 staff (excluding back room staff) on duty at the premises 
at all times that it is open, whose duties are to include the age verification of persons 
entering the premises who appear under the age of 21 years.

F4 The Licensee shall have a ‘Challenge 21’ policy whereby all customers who appear to 
be under the age of 21 are asked for proof of their age

F5 The Licensee shall prominently display notices advising customers of the ‘challenge 
21’policy

F6 The following proofs of age are the only ones to be accepted:

 Proof of age cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram symbol
 UK Photo Driving Licence
 Passport

F7 The Licensee shall keep written records of all staff authorised to verify the age of 
customers has received adequate training on the law with regard to under age gambling 
and the procedure if an underage person enters the premises and that this is properly 
documented and training records kept. The record should be kept on the licensed 
premises and made available for inspection by Licensing, Trading Standards or the 
Police.

F8 The Licensee is to keep a register (Refusals Book) to contain details of the date and 
time, description of under age persons entering the premises and the name of the 
employee who verified that the person was under age.

F9 The Refusals Book is to be kept on the licensed premises and made available for 
inspection by Licensing, Trading Standards or the Police.

F10 A CCTV system shall be maintained in a good working order and fully operational 
covering both internal and external areas when the premises are open to the public.

F11 The medium on which CCTV images are recorded will be clearly visable, stored securely 
and shall be retained for a period of 28 days. Recordings shall be made available for 
inspection by the Police or Licensing Authority upon request.

Page 156



43

F12      A copy of the local risk assessment shall be kept on the licensed premises and made 
available for inspection by Licensing, Trading Standards or the Police. All staff 
authorised to verify the age of customers should be made aware of the contents of the 
local risk assessment, including any additional control measures identified in the 
assessment.

F13     Test purchase results shall be kept on the licensed premises and made available for 
inspection by Licensing, Trading Standards or the Police.

F14      All staff shall wear ID badges or other measures so that customers can easily identify 
them for assistance, guidance or gambling advice.

F15     Officers shall expect to be able to interview employees who can confidently define and 
clearly understand which are ‘Gaming Machines’ and which are not (e.g. only ‘Skill 
Machines’). Employees need to be fully conversant with the Gambling Act 2005 and 
familiar with their own ‘Local Risk Assessment’.

F16     Staff training records shall be kept on the licensed premises and made available for 
inspection by Licensing, Trading Standards or the Police.

F17     Staff training shall include various topics including a section on ‘truanting youngsters’. 

F18      Social Responsibility Stickers/notices shall be clearly displayed in a prominent position 
on all gaming machines at the point of play, to include category stickers/notices and also 
‘gamcare’ stickers/notices.

F19 A book shall be kept at the premises, which is maintained with the following records

 The name of the door supervisor deployed
 The SIA registration number of the door supervisor deployed
 The time they commenced and finished duty
 All incidents that the door supervisor dealt with.

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
DATE OF MEETING: 9 OCTOBER 2018

REPORT TO: COUNCIL
DATE OF MEETING: 16 OCTOBER 2018

REPORT OF: Environmental Health and Licensing Manager 

TITLE: Additional Staffing to deal with changed in Mandatory 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing

Is this a Key Decision? 

No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018 extends mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) to 
cover all properties with 5 or more occupiers living in 2 or more households and 
sharing amenities, regardless of the number of storeys. The revised regulations come 
into effect from 1 October 2018.

1.2 The change in legislation will bring smaller privately rented properties into the HMO 
licensing regime e.g. two storey shared terraced housing, as well as some purpose 
built flats. 

1.3 It is estimated that this will increase the number of properties requiring a HMO licence 
from the current figure of 900 to approximately 1600.

1.4 Additional resources will be required to administer the scheme. Staffing will be funded 
on a cost recovery basis through the HMO licence fee.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That Executive recommend that Council:-:

 Note the proposals for the implementation of the extension to mandatory HMO 
licensing, effective from 1 October 2018. 

 Approves pump-priming funding for the recruitment of one permanent 
Environmental Health Officer and one temporary Environmental Health 
Technician.

 That the cost of this proposal is £77,879 per annum which will be funded from the 
licence fees levied.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018 brings about an extension of the current licensing regime for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs). The report details these changes and the implications for 
the City Council

Page 159

Agenda Item 9



 

3.2 The Private Sector Housing Team is currently working at full capacity to deliver the 
current licensing regime and additional resources will be necessary to deliver the 
extended licensing scheme. Therefore we need to recruit two additional full time staff 
to identify relevant HMO properties, process applications and undertake any 
necessary enforcement activities. The new posts team will be funded on a cost 
recovery basis through the HMO licence fee.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 Determining the actual number of properties that will require a licence is challenging 
due to a limited availability of data. However using the data that is available the 
following estimates provide a basis from which to plan the implementation of extended 
mandatory HMO licensing.

4.2 The Council’s latest Housing Stock Model, undertaken by the Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) in 2017, estimates that there are 4,412 HMOs in Exeter. Around 
1,000 of these are currently licensed under the existing mandatory and additional 
schemes but the BRE model estimates that an additional 1,407 would be covered by 
the current proposals.

4.3 That figure is an estimate derived from modelled data and is by no means definitive 
and by applying local intelligence and information gathered from the previous 
implementation of HMO licensing, an estimate of 700 additional affected properties is 
the working assumption being used.

4.5 The cost of a 5 year HMO licence is currently £760. Based upon an estimate of an 
additional 700 properties that will require a licence from 1 October 2018 this would 
give an additional income of £532,000 over a 5 year licence period (or £106,400 per 
annum) to cover the cost of the additional work.

4.6 The HMO license fee is aimed at ensuring we have a self- funding scheme, and take into 
account current up to date charge out costs.

4.7 This report seeks approval to increase the Private Sector Housing Team by two full time 
equivalent staff in the form of one permanent Environmental Health Officer and one 
Environmental Health Technician.

4.8 Work is already underway to provide an online application and payment system for HMO 
applications. This will allow landlords to apply and pay for applications online, with 
applications integrating automatically with case management systems helping to reduce 
back office requirements.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The additional expenditure requirements and associated income are noted.  There is 
always a risk that the income will not materialise, however there is a set amount of 
houses and therefore a known amount of income and the risk of non-recovery should 
be low.

5.1

6. What are the legal aspects?

Page 160



 

6.1 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018 brings about a revision to the definition of a licensable HMO as set out 
originally under the Housing Act 2004.

6.2 Local Housing Authorities have a statutory duty to enforce these provisions and 
therefore has no choice in whether to implement the changes brought about by the 
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018.

6.2 Failure to ensure compliance with legislation and relevant standards may compromise 
the health, safety and welfare of the residents of and visitors to Exeter who access 
private sector residential properties and potentially inhibit the Council’s ability to collect 
the income from any penalties imposed. 

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.2  This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Office.

8. Report details:

Background

8.1 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018 extends mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) to 
cover all properties with 5 or more occupiers living in 2 or more households and 
sharing amenities, regardless of the number of storeys. The new regulations come into 
effect from 1 October 2018.

8.2 This new legislation will provide a valuable tool to ensure that landlords carry out their 
roles professionally. . It will also help the Council to continue to improve conditions in 
the local housing market which is particularly important as the size of the private 
rented sector in the city continues to grow.

8.3 The legislation will bring smaller privately rented properties into the licensing regime 
e.g. two storey shared terraced housing, as well as purpose built flats where there are 
up to two flats in the block and one or both of the flats are occupied by 5 or more 
persons in 2 or more separate households. This means some shared flats above 
shops will need a licence as well as some small blocks of flats not connected to 
commercial premises.

8.4 It will be the individual HMO that needs a licence and not the building within which the 
HMO is situated e.g. where a building has two flats and each is occupied by 5 persons 
living in 2 or more households, each flat will require a separate HMO licence.

8.5 Currently around 900 properties are licenced, each of which must be inspected within 
the 5 year term of the licence. Licenses are renewable every 5 years

8.6 A communication strategy has been developed with assistance from the 
Communications and Marketing Team to inform landlords and managing agents of the 
changes to legislation and what will be required of them. This includes contact with 
landlords associations as well as landlords already known to the council, engagement 
events for landlords, information on the Council’s website and use of social media.

Page 161



 

8.7 For those landlords who may already own property in a Selective Licensing area, it is 
anticipated that any Selective Licence already granted will transfer over to the 
mandatory HMO licensing scheme at no additional charge.

8.8 The costs of implementing mandatory licensing will be covered by the licence fee. 
Work has been undertaken to determine the additional resources required to 
administer the scheme which is set out in Appendix A. These calculations have been 
reviewed by the Technical Accounting Manager.

8.9 The model is based on a proposed fee of £760 for a new HMO licence application. 
These fees are reviewed on an annual basis by the Environmental Health and 
Licensing Manager, to take into account cost changes such as wages, IT and other 
costs associated with the licensing regime.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The importance of decent homes that people can afford to live in is one of the six key 
objectives within the Council Plan. Addressing poor housing conditions contributes not 
only to the housing objective within the Council Plan but also more widely as:- 

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 There are no significant risks arising out of the implementation of the new legislation 
providing the additional staffing resources are in place. 

10.2 There is a risk that the estimation of 700 additional properties is an over-estimate, 
however given that this is a 50% reduction on the estimate given at the last Housing 
Conditions Survey it is more likely to be that staffing resource will have to be reviewed 
as a result of the estimate being too cautious.

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1 The improvement of housing conditions in Exeter will have a positive impact on those 
groups and individuals who suffer multiple disadvantages associated with poor quality 
and inadequate housing. 

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 The Council has no option but to implement the change in legislation and to license 
properties that meet the standard and fall under the new definition of a mandatory 
HMO.

Originating Officers: Simon Lane, Environmental Health and Licensing Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-

 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England) 
Order 2018 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/221/made 

 Housing Act 2004 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents   

Page 162

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/221/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents


 
 Houses in Multiple Occupation and residential property licensing reforms 

Government response. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/670536/HMO_licensing_reforms_response.pdf 

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees) Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 163

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670536/HMO_licensing_reforms_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/670536/HMO_licensing_reforms_response.pdf


 
Appendix A – Budgetary Calculations

Extension of Mandatory Licensing (700 properties)

Account 
code Description

 
Estimate   

(£) Notes
Incremental additional costs **

11001
Full-time Grade 9 Salary 
(permanent)

       
33,136 Top of grade

11004 NI
         
3,347 10.10%

11005 Super
         
5,235 15.80%

11001
Full-time Grade 7 Salary (18 month 
contract)

       
25,463 Top of grade

11004 NI
         
2,343 9.20%

11005 Super
         
4,023 15.80%

43037 PPE
            
500  

55031 Essential user allowance x 2
         
2,432  

45059 Mobile tariff & access charges
            
400  

48201 Ipad x 2
         
1,000 

Estimate (procured via 
Strata)

 Sub Total
       
77,879  

Forecast additional income @ 700 licences

92019 Licence fees (106,400)

£760 x 500 additional 
licences (1/5th - as income 
spread over respective 5 
year duration of licence) *

 Sub Total (106,400)  
NET 
TOTAL  (28,521)  

Page 164



REPORT TO CORPORATE SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 27 September 2018
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 9 October 2018
REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 16 October 2018
Report of: Chief Finance Officer
Title: OVERVIEW OF REVENUE BUDGET 2018/19

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To advise Members of the overall projected financial position of the HRA & General Fund 
Revenue Budgets for the 2018/19 financial year after three months and to seek approval 
for a number of supplementary budgets.

2. Recommendations:

2.1 It is recommended that Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee and the Executive note 
the report and Council notes and approves (where applicable):

The General Fund forecast financial position for the 2018/19 financial year and the action 
proposed by the Strategic Management Board (see section 4.3);

The HRA forecast financial position for 2017/18 financial year;

The additional supplementary budgets listed in Appendix C;

The outstanding Sundry Debt position as at August 2017;

The creditors’ payments performance.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 To formally note the Council’s projected financial position and to approve additional 
expenditure required during the financial year. Owing to a number of factors, set out in 
section 4, the end of year projection sees the Council’s General Fund Balances fall below 
the minimum recommended level as set by the section 151 Officer.  The Strategic 
Management Board are working with their Service Leads to reduce expenditure to bring 
Balances back to the recommended level.

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



 
4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 The impact on the General Fund working balance, HRA working Balance and Council 
Own Build working balance are set out in sections 8.3.6, 8.2.1 and 8.2.3 respectively.

4.2 A request for supplementary budgets totalling £140,000 has been included in the report.  
The budgets were approved during 2017-18, but not included within the budget in 
February and not listed in the requests for supplementary budgets in July 2018.  
However, this was an oversight by one of the Finance team and work has started on both 
projects.

4.3 The projected year-end balance on the General Fund is estimated to be £2.603 million, 
which is below the recommended minimum level of reserves for the Council to hold. The 
Strategic Management Board are working with Service Leads to identify spending 
reductions to address this and an update will be provided to Members in the second 
quarter report of how the shortfall will be addressed.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The financial position of the Council is such that action is required to ensure that reserves 
do not breach the minimum required by the section 151 Officer.  There are two significant 
unknowns which could have an impact on the Council’s medium term financial position, 
the impact of Universal Credit and the fair funding review.  Therefore the section 151 
Officer believes the minimum level of reserves must be maintained.  The action is 
required mainly as a result of some unforeseen events along with unavoidable additional 
expenditure being approved in year.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on the Council to 
monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income against the budget 
calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary situation has deteriorated, 
the Council must take such action as it considers necessary to deal with the situation. 
This might include, for instance, action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, or to 
increase income, or to finance the shortfall from reserves.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 Legislation does not prescribe how much the minimum level of reserves should be. The 
Section 151 officer is tasked with recommending the minimum level of reserves required 
as part of the budget setting process having regard to elements of risk in the Council’s 
finances.

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the S151 officer to report on the 
adequacy of the Council’s financial resource. Where following review, it appears there 
has been a deterioration in the financial position, an authority must take such action, if 
any, as it considers necessary to deal with the situation. 

Essentially this is the first warning from the Council’s Section 151 officer that our reserves 
may not be sufficient to meet future unknown liability and therefore very careful control 
and scrutiny of the Council spend is essential. Councillors are obliged to consider the 
Councils finances to ensure that funding is a central element of all decision making. 

Page 166



 
8. Report details:

8.1 Financial Summary

FUND Planned 
Transfer (to) / 
from Working 

Balance

Budget 
Variance        

Over / (under)

Outturn  
Transfer 
2018/19

£ £ £
General Fund 2,005,710 83,264 2,088,974

HRA 4,097,145 (119,318) 3,977,827

Council own Build 
Houses

(16,630) 0 (16,630)

8.2 Housing Revenue Account (Appendix A)

8.2.1 The first quarter projection shows a small reduction in the amount to be taken from the 
working balance. The projected reduction is now £3,977,827 to leave the working 
balance at £6,234,417.  

Movement 2018/19
Opening HRA Balance £10,212,244
Deficit (£3,977,827)
Projected balance at year end £6,234,417

Page 167



 
8.2.2 The key variances are as follows:

Management Unit Over / 
(Underspend)

Detail

Repairs and 
Maintenance 
Programme

(£200,000)  The contract for external painting and 
low maintenance works in respect of 
flats is currently being procured and a 
new contractor will be appointed in the 
summer.  Slippage in the programme is 
forecast to reflect a transition period 
between contractors. 

Capital Charges £187,682  Depreciation charges are higher than 
budgeted due to a rise in the valuation 
of council dwellings.

  
  Depreciation is a real cost to the HRA 

as it represents the amount of money 
which needs to be set aside in the 
Major Repairs Reserve to provide for 
future capital works or to repay debt.

Housing Assets (£70,000)  (£54k) savings in employee costs are 
expected due to various vacant posts 
within the Housing Assets team, of 
which several posts have recently been 
appointed to, including: Service Lead – 
Housing Assets and two 18 month fixed 
term contract Fire Safety 
Implementation officers. 

   (£16k) A budget provision of £8k per 
property was allowed for the decant of 
tenants in ten LAINGS properties whilst 
a major demolish and re-build 
programme is undertaken.  Two 
properties have naturally become void 
since the budgets were approved and a 
saving is therefore reported. 

Page 168



 

8.2.3 The Council’s new properties at Rowan House and Knights Place form part of the overall 
Housing Revenue Account, but separate income and expenditure budgets are 
maintained in order to ensure that they are self-financing.  There is no variance to the 
projected surplus at the end of the first quarter. 

Movement 2018/19
Opening Council Own Build reserve £256,943
Surplus  16,630
Projected balance at year end £273,573

8.3 General Fund (Appendix B)

8.3.1 The Service Committees show projected overspends of £553,663 against a revised 
budget of £14,898,840. The main variances are:

8.3.2 People Scrutiny Committee – (A nil variance) 

There are no significant variances to report this quarter.

8.3.3 Place Scrutiny Committee  – (An overspend in total of £603,663) 

Management
Unit

Q1 Forecast 
Variance 
(Under)/ 
Overspend

£

Details

Public 
Conveniences

39,500

 A £30,000 saving in utility costs was estimated in 
anticipation of the closure of the Paris Street toilets.  
This saving will not now be achieved.

 Maintenance costs are expected to exceed the budget

Cleansing 
Chargeable 
Services

50,000

 As happened last year, income for Trade Refuse & 
Recycling is expected to be £100,000 (11%) below 
budget as local businesses look to reduce their own 
costs. The loss is reduced by £50,000 savings planned 
by the service, and commercialisation work will 
commence in-year.

Recycling 135,000

 Problems with the MRF and fluctuations in global 
markets continue to increase costs and reduce income, 
despite the best efforts of the service to mitigate their 
impacts. An MRF investment plan is due to be 
presented in September and this will propose measures 
to reduce costs and increase the service’s ability to 
extract value from the recyclable material delivered to 
the plant.

Page 169



 
Management

Unit
Q1 Forecast 

Variance 
(Under)/ 
Overspend

£

Details

Building 
Control

(33,000) 

 Staff vacancies in the Land Charges service are 
expected to lead to a surplus of £18,000, which will be 
transferred into an earmarked reserve.  

 A grant payment of £15,000 has been received in 
respect of the Land Charges service.

Planning 
Services

262,000 

 Community Infrastructure Grants amounting to 
£217,000 have been paid; these will be funded from the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  

 An additional officer has been seconded to deal with 
CIL work; the additional £23,000 cost arising will be 
funded from the CIL.

 £160,000 has been contributed towards the Growth 
Team will be paid, for which there is no budget.  
£80,000 of this will be funded from New Homes Bonus.

 Fee income is expected to exceed the budget by 
£100,000

 Pay costs are expected to be £38,000 less than the 
budget due to staff vacancies.

Contracted 
Sports 
Facilities

91,463 

  In June 2018 the Council agreed to the 
recommendations in the Built Sports and Leisure 
Facilities report that included the permanent closure of 
Clifton Hill Sports Centre. A supplementary budget of 
up to £150,000 was approved to demolish Clifton Hill 
Sports Centre, to secure the site and avoid incurring 
Business Rates and other unbudgeted revenue costs. 
The figure shown here is covered by the up to 
£100,000 also approved to cover loss of revenue and 
VAT.

Page 170



 

8.3.4 Corporate Scrutiny Committee – (An underspend in total of £50,000) 

Management 
Unit

Q1 Forecast 
Variance 
(Under)/ 

Overspend

Details

Corporate 
Property – 
Estates

(50,000)  Rental income and service recharges are expected to 
exceed the budget by £50,000 

8.3.5 Other Financial Variations

Other items Over /
(Underspend)

Detail

Repayment of 
debt

(112,299)  A lower than forecast need to borrow has resulted in a 
reduced repayment of debt calculation.

8.3.6 General Fund Balance

In 2018/19 it is projected that there will be an overall net contribution from the General 
Fund Balance of £2,088,974. The minimum requirement for the General Fund working 
balance was approved by Council in February 2018 at £3 million.  Council therefore need 
to take action to address the shortfall in the projected balance.  

Movement 2018/19
Opening Balance £4,692,404 
Deficit  (2,088,974)
Projected balance at year end £2,603,430

8.3.7 Supplementary Budgets

There is a requirement for two further supplementary budgets in 2018/19.  It is therefore 
proposed that General Fund supplementary budgets totalling £140,000, identified in 
Appendix C are approved in 2018/19.   The two budgets were unfortunately missed from 
the list approved in July 2018, but both projects have previously been approved by Council 
and work has started on both.

8.3.8 The additional supplementary budgets being requested in this report are:

 £100,000 to support the refurbishment of car parks programme, originally approved 
in 2017/18;

 £40,000 to support improvements at Exton Road.

Page 171



 
8.4 OUTSTANDING SUNDRY DEBT

8.4.1 An aged debt analysis of the Council’s sundry debts is shown in the table below. The latest 
data shown is to the end of August in order to demonstrate how for much of the debt, there 
is significant recovery in the two months after the data is run.  This is due to the fact that 
our quarterly invoices are run just prior to the end of each quarter.  

Age of Debt August
2017

March
2018

August
2018

Up to 29 days (current) £470,979 £1,639,749 £575,078
30 days – 1 Year £1,354,770 £1,238,393 £1,398,705
1 – 2 years £589,425 £787,163 £742,745
2 –3 years £792,195 £661,047 £402,966
3 – 4 years £304,408 £368,184 £593,665
4 – 5 years £268,765 £259,997 £246,335
5 + years £343,256 £415,760 £498,729

Total                     £4,123,798 £5,370,293 £4,458,223

8.5 DEBT WRITE-OFFS

8.5.1 The following amounts have been written-off during 2018/19:

2017/18 total 2018/19 (Qtr 1)
 Council Tax
 Business Rates
 Sundry Debt
 Housing Rents
 Non-HRA Rents

£316,198
£216,428         
£131,163
£149,210
£201,413

£88,098
£0         
£0

£7,984
£84

8.6 CREDITOR PAYMENTS PERFORMANCE

8.6.1 Creditors’ payments continue to be monitored in spite of the withdrawal of statutory 
performance indicator BVPI8.  The percentage paid within 30 days was 97.83% for the first 
quarter of 2018/19 compared with 91.76% for 2017/18.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 This is a statement of the projected financial position to the end of the 2018/19.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The risks relate to overspending the Council budget and are mitigated by regular reporting 
to the Strategic Management Board and Members.  Members have a legal responsibility to 
take action where balances are projected to reach an unsustainable level and the Strategic 
Management Board are working to address the current projected shortfall in reserves..

Page 172



 
11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 

safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and 
the environment?

11.1 Not applicable

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 Not applicable

Chief Finance Officer

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2018/19 REVENUE ESTIMATES - SUMMARY

as at 30 June 2018

 PROFILED 

BUDGET 

 ACTUAL 

TO DATE 

 VARIANCE 

TO DATE 
 Code 

 APPROVED 

BUDGET 

 Qrt 1 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST 

£  £  £  £  £  £ 

227,000         141,928 (85,072) 85A1 MANAGEMENT 1,270,275 35,000 1,305,275

298,105         273,416 (24,689) 85A2 HOUSING CUSTOMERS 1,393,120 (7,000) 1,386,120

117,519         67,535 (49,984) 85A3 SUNDRY LAND MAINTENANCE 561,710 (65,000) 496,710

1,684,886       1,071,732 (613,154) 85A4 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 6,312,360 (200,000) 6,112,360

0 0 0 85A5 REVENUE CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL 7,196,550 0 7,196,550

0 0 0 85A6 CAPITAL CHARGES 3,006,450 187,682 3,194,132

341,091 254,762 (86,329) 85A7 HOUSING ASSETS 1,653,960 (70,000) 1,583,960

(7,172,658) (7,178,849) (6,191) 85A8 RENTS (19,127,090) 0 (19,127,090)

0 0 0 85B2 INTEREST 1,829,810 0 1,829,810

85B4 MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE (4,097,145) 119,318 (3,977,827)

Net Expenditure 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2018 10,212,244 31 March 2019 6,234,417

 PROFILED 

BUDGET 

 ACTUAL 

TO DATE 

 VARIANCE 

TO DATE 
 Code 

 APPROVED 

BUDGET 

 Qrt 1 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST 

£  £  £  £  £  £ 

7,012                        7,206 194  H005  MANAGEMENT                32,670 0 32,670

(2,587) (2,700) (113) H006 ROWAN HOUSE (10,350) 0 (10,350)

(14,722) (16,145) (1,423) H007 KNIGHTS PLACE (58,400) 0 (58,400)

0 0 0 H008 INTEREST 6,070 0 6,070

0 0 0 H009 CAPITAL CHARGES 13,380 0 13,380

H010 MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE 16,630 0 16,630

Net Expenditure 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2018 256,943 31 March 2019 273,573

COUNCIL OWN BUILD SITES

ACTUAL TO DATE YEAR END FORECAST

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  B GENERAL FUND

2018/19 REVENUE ESTIMATES - SUMMARY

as at 30 June 2018

 Annual  Supplementary Revised Year End Variance

Budget Budgets Annual Forecast to Budget

Budget

£ £ £ £ £

SCRUTINY - PEOPLE 2,935,040 579,400 3,514,440 3,514,440 0

SCRUTINY - PLACE 9,366,030 815,220 10,181,250 10,784,913 603,663

SCRUTINY - CORPORATE 7,396,760 528,770 7,925,530 7,875,530 (50,000)

less Notional capital charges (6,722,380) (6,722,380) (6,722,380) 0

Service Committee Net Expenditure 12,975,450 1,923,390 14,898,840 15,452,503 553,663

Net Interest 100,000 100,000 100,000 0

New Homes Bonus (2,590,900) (2,590,900) (2,590,900) 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital 150,000 150,000 150,000 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 720,160 720,160 607,861 (112,299)

Voluntary Revenue Provision 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 0

General Fund Expenditure 12,354,710 1,923,390 14,278,100 14,719,464 441,364

Transfer To/(From) Working Balance (82,320) (1,923,390) (2,005,710) (2,088,974) (83,264)

Transfer To/(From) Earmarked Reserves (428,000) (428,000) (1,583,996) (1,155,996)

General Fund Net Expenditure 11,844,390 0 11,844,390 11,046,494 (797,896)

Formula Grant (4,841,660) (4,841,660) (4,841,660) 0

Business Rates Growth / Pooling Gain (1,379,000) (1,379,000) (311,104) 1,067,896

CIL Income 0 0 (270,000) (270,000)

Council Tax (5,623,730) (5,623,730) (5,623,730) 0

0 0 0 0 0

Working Balance March 2017 4,692,404£         2,603,430£        March 2018

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C  2018/19 SUPPLEMENTARY BUDGETS

Funded by

£

Corporate

Parking Car Parks 100,000 Year end

Waste Operations Exton Road 40,000

140,000

Place

River & Canal

0

People

0

General Fund Total 140,000

HRA Total 0

Overall Total 140,000

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO CORPORATE SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
EXECUTIVE AND COUNCIL

Date of Meeting: Corporate Services Scrutiny - 27 September 2018
 Executive - 9 October 2018

Council - 16 October 2018
Report of: Chief Finance Officer
Title: 2018/19 Capital Monitoring Statement – Quarter 1

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?
To report the current position in respect of the Council’s revised annual capital programme 
and to advise Members of the anticipated level of deferred expenditure into future years.

The report seeks Member approval to amend the annual capital programme in order to 
reflect the reported variations.

2. Recommendations:
It is recommended that Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee supports and the 
Executive recommends to Council to approve:

 The revision of the annual capital programme to reflect the reported variations 
detailed in 8.4 and 8.5

3. Reasons for the recommendation:
Local authorities are required to estimate the total of capital expenditure that it plans to 
incur during the financial year when it sets the prudential indicators for capital expenditure.  
This shows that its asset management and capital investment strategies are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable.

Capital expenditure is a significant source of risk and uncertainty since cost variations, 
delays and changing specifications are often features of large and complex capital projects.

In order to manage the risks associated with capital programming the annual capital 
programme is updated every three months to reflect any cost variations, slippage or 
acceleration of projects.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources
The financial resources required are set out in the body of this report.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:
There are no additional requests for funding for Council to consider.  In terms of deferrals, a 
number of scheme have been re-profiled and close to £8 million of projects are being 
proposed for deferral to future years.  Members should ensure that they are satisfied with 
the reasons for deferral.

6. What are the legal aspects?
The capital expenditure system is framed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

Page 181

Agenda Item 11



7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:
This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report Details:

2018/19 CAPITAL MONITORING STATEMENT – QUARTER 1

8.1 REVISIONS TO THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
The 2018/19 Capital Programme, including commitments brought forward from 2017/18, 
was last reported to Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee on 28 June 2018.  Since that 
meeting the following changes have been made that have increased the programme:

Description £ Approval/Funding 

Capital Programme, 
as reported to Corporate 
Services Scrutiny 
Committee, 22 June 2018

35,929,900

Leisure Centre Essential 
Enhancements 2,000,000

Leisure Centre Additional 
Enhancements 880,000

Belmont Park Community 
Building 150,000

Belmont Park Enhanced 
Facilities 50,000

Approved by Council on 13 June 2018

Kings Arms Bridge 250,000

Livestock Market Drainage & 
Toilets 200,000

Mary Arches Lifts 40,000

Approved by Council on 24 July 2018

Miscellaneous Adjustments (1,480)

Revised Capital Programme 39,498,420

8.2 PERFORMANCE
The revised capital programme for the current financial year is £39.498 million.  During the 

first three months of the year the Council spent £1.743 million on the programme, which 

equates to 4.4% of the revised programme.  This compares with £1.478 million (4.4%) 
being spent in the first three months of 2017/18.

The current programme is detailed in Appendix 1.  The Appendix shows a total forecast 
spend for 2018/19 of £31.674 million with £7.949 million of the programme potentially being 

Page 182



deferred to 2019/20 and beyond and £0.777 million being brought forward from future 
years.

Appendix 2 shows the approved budgets for 2019/20 with the proposed 2018/19 budget to 
be carried forward to 2019/20 and beyond for Executive and Council to consider for 
approval.

Appendix 3 shows the overall position for those schemes which span more than one 
financial year.

8.3 AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES
The available capital resources for the General Fund for 2018/19 are £9.860 million.  An 

estimated spend of £14.346 million is required of which £10.740 million will be funded from 

borrowing with £6.254 million capital receipts carried forward to 2019/20.  The available 

capital resources for the HRA for 2018/19 are £32.491 million.  An estimated spend of 

£17.328 million is required leaving £15.163 million to be carried forward into 2019/20.  
Appendix 4 sets out the forecast use of the resources available for the General Fund and 
the HRA and the likely amounts of borrowing that will be necessary to fund the capital 
programme over the next three years.  

The value of actual capital receipts received in the quarter in respect of the General Fund 
and the HRA are:

General Fund
£

HRA
£

Balance as at 1 April 2018 6,306,833 7,704,749

New Receipts 70,000 704,950

Less HRA Pooling (106,534)

Balance as at 30 June 2018 6,376,833 8,303,165

8.4 EXPENDITURE VARIANCES 
The main variances and issues concerning expenditure in 2018/19 are:

Scheme

Estimated 
Overspend / 

(Underspend)
£

Reason

Bowling Green 
Marshes Coastal 
Defence Scheme

(250,000)

This scheme was to be entirely funded by the 
Environment Agency (EA), but due to 
disputes between the EA and Natural 
England on how to proceed it is now 
anticipated that the scheme will not go 
ahead.

Topsham Flood 
Gates (Ferry 
Road/The Strand)

(100,000)
This scheme was also to be funded by the 
Environment Agency (EA).  Following a trial, 
the EA are reviewing demountable defence 

Page 183



flood barrier types for region-wide 
deployment.  It is anticipated that the EA will 
manage the scheme themselves.

LAINGS 
Refurbishments (11,000)

The contingency provision for this project has 
been reduced to offset additional employee 
costs being incurred in the revenue accounts.  
The Housing Community Partnership Officer 
is working additional contracted hours to 
assist with resident liaison and tenant 
decants. 

Smoke/Fire 
Alarms – Older 
Persons

(15,724)

This budget was carried forward from 
2017/18 as a contingency sum for acquiring 
further dispersed alarm units.  However, the 
project completed successfully without 
incurring any additional costs.

Electrical re-wiring (276,000)

The forecast saving comprises (£90k) in 
respect of re-wiring domestic properties and 
(£186k) re-wiring communal areas.

The move from 10 yearly electrical tests to 5 
yearly has resulted in less extensive remedial 
works being identified in domestic properties, 
due to the shorter repairs period.

The saving in respect of communal areas 
relates to labour costs.  The in-house 
electricians undertake these works, rather 
than sub-contractors, and therefore the 
budget only needs to provide for materials.  
The cost of the in-house team are held in the 
revenue accounts.

8.5 SCHEMES TO BE DEFERRED TO 2019/20 AND BEYOND
Schemes which have been identified as being wholly or partly deferred to 2019/20 and 
beyond are:

Scheme
18/19 

Budget
£

Budget to 
be 

Deferred
£

Reason

Leisure Complex 4,046,530 2,647,330

Bus Station 
Construction 3,251,750 2,986,550

Budgets re-profiled in-line with 
anticipated expenditure.

Adaptations 495,970 75,000
Based on current levels of referrals it 
is anticipated that an under-spend 
may occur.  However, any under-

Page 184



spend will be sought to be carried 
forward to provide resilience against a 
surge in referrals due to pressures of 
an aging population.

Rennes House 
Structural Works 2,200,000 1,850,000

Lift improvements have been 
prioritised for the first stage of the 
refurbishment programme.  The lifts 
will be upgraded, one at a time, in 
order to maintain service provision.  
Each lift is scheduled to take 16 
weeks, all other works will follow and 
the budget has been profiled 
accordingly.  

St Loyes Extra 
Care Scheme 4,323,080 (776,924)

Council approved a revised scheme 
cost of £14m on 24 July, which has 
enabled the project team to progress 
the appointment of a main contractor.  
It is hoped that the contractor can 
start on site in Quarter 2 of 2018/19 
and the budget has been profiled 
accordingly.

Acquisition of 
Social Housing – 
Section 106

490,000 390,000

Due to the time-lag between Section 
106 negotiations and new homes 
completing on site (often 2-3 years) it 
is forecast that slippage of the budget 
will occur, including £240k specifically 
for acquiring flats at The Chasse 
development.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
The Capital Programme contributes to all of the key purposes, as set out in the Corporate 
Plan.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget 
monitoring updates.  

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 
safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and 
the environment?
No impact

12. Are there any other options?
No

DAVE HODGSON 
Chief Finance Officer

Page 185



Author:
Nicola Matthews-Morley

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None

Contact for enquiries:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
(01392) 265275

Page 186



APPENDIX 1

2018/19 Capital 

Programme

2018/19 Spend to 

Date

2018/19 Forecast 

Spend

2018/19 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

2019/20 and 

Beyond

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

PEOPLE

 

HELP ME FIND SOMEWHERE TO LIVE

Disabled Facility Grants 801,180 68,228 801,180

Warm Up Exeter/PLEA Scheme 0 0 0

Wessex Loan Scheme 79,030 24,888 79,030

WHIL Empty Properties 194,000 0 194,000

Temporary Accommodation Purchase 108,670 276 108,670

PEOPLE TOTAL 1,182,880 93,392 1,182,880 0 0

PLACE

WELL RUN COUNCIL

Vehicle Replacement Programme 442,500 6,668 442,500

MRF Air Compressor 7,840 0 7,840

Car Park Resurfacing, Lining & Boundary Improvements 50,000 0 50,000

Mechanisation of Street Scene 150,000 0 150,000

Waste Infrastructure 16,700 0 16,700

IMPROVE THE ENVIRONMENT AND MY NEIGHBOURHOOD

Repair Canal Bank at M5 29,090 900 29,090

Queen's Crescent CPO 18,000 0 18,000

Kings Arms Bridge 399,630 5,724 399,630

Bowling Green Marshes Coastal Defence Scheme 278,900 0 28,900 (250,000)

Topsham Flood Gates (Ferry Road/The Strand) 100,000 0 0 (100,000)

Exeter Flood Alleviation Scheme 200,000 0 200,000

Exwick Cemetery Ashes Section 32,420 20,023 32,420

Replacement of Mallison Bridge (Exeter Quay) 350,000 17,398 350,000

Parks Infrastructure 150,000 7,800 150,000

2018/19 CAPITAL MONITORING - QUARTER 1 

P
age 187



2018/19 Capital 

Programme

2018/19 Spend to 

Date

2018/19 Forecast 

Spend

2018/19 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

2019/20 and 

Beyond

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

Cemeteries & Churchyards Infrastructure Improvements 60,000 0 60,000

Purchase of Harbour Patrol Vessel for Exe Estuary 50,000 0 50,000

Improved Car Park Security Measures at King William Street & Arena Park 45,000 0 45,000

Repairs to Turf Lock Pier Head 20,000 0 20,000

Repairs to Salmonpool Bridge 45,000 0 45,000

Repair to Walls at Farm Hill 30,000 0 30,000

Bank Repairs & Stabilisation to Watercourses 20,000 11,293 20,000

Matford Centre Fire Alarm Replacement 100,000 0 100,000

KEEP ME/MY ENVIRONMENT SAFE & HEALTHY

Car Park Surfacing - Haven Road 12,350 0 12,350

Replace Lifts at Mary Arches MSCP 240,000 0 240,000

City Wide Property Level Protection 94,400 0 94,400

RAMM Air Monitoring Equipment 89,560 256 89,560

Topsham Lock 180,000 2,001 180,000

PROVIDE GREAT THINGS FOR ME TO SEE & DO

Outdoor Leisure Facilities 296,830 23,082 296,830

Sports Facilities Refurbishment 146,430 44,913 146,430

Passenger Lift at RAMM 73,880 0 73,880

St Nicholas Priory 39,920 180 39,920

RAMM World Culture Galleries 160,440 82,128 160,440

Cowick Barton Tennis Courts 35,000 26,613 35,000

Newtown Community Association - Belmont Park Community Building 150,000 0 150,000

Belmont Park Enhanced Facilities 50,000 0 50,000

MAINTAIN THE ASSETS OF OUR CITY

RAMM Roof Access Improvement 58,520 952 58,520

Pyramids Essential Works 950,000 2,450 950,000

Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements 2,000,000 0 2,000,000

Leisure Centre Additional Enhancements 880,000 0 880,000

Livestock Market Drainage & Toilets 200,000 0 200,000

P
age 188



2018/19 Capital 

Programme

2018/19 Spend to 

Date

2018/19 Forecast 

Spend

2018/19 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

2019/20 and 

Beyond

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

DELIVER GOOD DEVELOPMENT

Leisure Complex - Build Project 4,046,530 162,886 1,399,200 2,647,330

Bus Station Construction 3,251,750 20,741 265,200 2,986,550

Pinhoe Community Hub 90,000 0 90,000

Newtown Community Centre (S106) 75,090 6,100 75,090

Newtown Community Centre (1st Grant) 50,000 0 50,000

Newtown Community Centre (2nd Grant) 43,410 0 43,410

Beacon Heath Martial Arts & Boxing Club - New Roof 14,650 0 14,650

PLACE TOTAL 15,823,840 442,109 9,839,960 5,633,880 (350,000)

CORPORATE SERVICES

WELL RUN COUNCIL

Invest to Save Opportunities 29,550 0 29,550

Guildhall Fire Alarms 50,000 29,695 50,000

Energy Saving Projects 2,011,870 3,790 2,011,870

Belle Isle Temporary Facilities 103,330 34,249 103,330

Council Signage Improvement 40,000 0 40,000

Electoral Registration - Mobile Canvassing 20,000 0 20,000

Building Management System (BMS) 80,000 0 80,000

Civic Centre Air Conditioning Replacement 150,000 0 150,000

Civic Centre Kitchens Replacement 90,000 0 90,000

Customer Contact Platform 155,490 0 155,490

Annual Contribution to Strata 53,900 53,904 53,900

Idox System for Planning 104,300 0 104,300

HR System 39,940 0 39,940

Convergence Projects 294,660 0 294,660

Capitalised Staff Costs 100,000 0 100,000

CORPORATE SERVICES TOTAL 3,323,040 121,638 3,323,040 0 0

P
age 189



2018/19 Capital 

Programme

2018/19 Spend to 

Date

2018/19 Forecast 

Spend

2018/19 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

2019/20 and 

Beyond

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

HRA 

INVESTMENT IN EXISTING STOCK

Adaptations 495,970 40,475 420,975 75,000

Environmental Improvements - General 218,400 4,750 218,395

Programmed Re-roofing 280,590 0 280,590

Energy Conservation 100,000 0 100,000

Garage Upgrades 74,000 0 74,000

LAINGS Refurbishments 1,947,000 0 1,936,000 (11,000)

Kitchen Replacement Programme 1,059,950 183,568 1,059,950

Balcony Walkway Improvements 210,000 0 210,000

Bathroom Replacement Programme 693,760 122,330 693,760

Door Replacements (including Outbuildings) 122,000 0 122,000

Fire Precautionary Works to Flats 28,530 2,951 28,530

Communal Areas 97,890 0 97,893

Structural Repairs 294,280 779 294,280

Rennes House Structural Works 2,200,000 0 350,000 1,850,000

Common Area Footpaths/Wall Improvements 350,000 0 350,000

Soil Vent Pipe Replacement 77,530 0 77,530

Electrical Central Heating 36,940 6,591 36,940

Smoke/Fire Alarms - Older Persons 15,720 0 0 (15,720)

Electrical Re-wiring 826,250 57,719 550,250 (276,000)

Boiler Replacement Programme 560,000 28,281 560,000

Communal Doors and Screens 331,000 0 331,000

Fire Risk Assessment Works 476,810 4,655 476,810

Loft & Cavity Insulation 50,000 0 50,000

Whipton Barton House House Water Mains 50,000 0 50,000

Re-roofing Works Shilhay 164,800 107,912 164,800

Window Replacements 954,300 0 954,300

Replacement Housing Management System 175,100 175,096 175,100

Porch Canopies 102,000 0 102,000

ZEBCat Project 480,000 1,800 480,000

P
age 190



2018/19 Capital 

Programme

2018/19 Spend to 

Date

2018/19 Forecast 

Spend

2018/19 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

2019/20 and 

Beyond

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

PROVISION OF NEW COUNCIL HOMES

Social Housing Acquisitions - Open Market 855,000 142,999 855,000

Social Housing Acquisitions - Section 106 490,000 0 100,000 390,000

COB Wave 2 - Rennes Car Park 271,500 142,229 271,500

St Loyes Extracare Scheme 4,323,080 204 5,100,000 (776,920)

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (COB Wave III) 59,860 33,885 59,860

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (Clifford Close) 141,950 5 141,950

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (Vaughan Road) 321,320 4,415 321,320

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (South Street) 233,130 25,330 233,130

HRA TOTAL 19,168,660 1,085,974 17,327,863 1,538,080 (302,720)

TOTAL CAPITAL BUDGET 39,498,420 1,743,113 31,673,743 7,171,960 (652,720)

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

2019/20 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

Proposed Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 2019/20 

and Beyond at Qtr 

1

Budget 

Reprofiled to 

Future Years

Total 2019/20 

Capital 

Programme

2020/21 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

£ £ £ £ £

PEOPLE

 

HELP ME FIND SOMEWHERE TO LIVE

Disabled Facility Grants 450,000 0 0 450,000 450,000

PEOPLE TOTAL 450,000 0 450,000 450,000

PLACE

WELL RUN COUNCIL

Vehicle Replacement Programme 400,000 0 0 400,000 400,000

Car Park Resurfacing, Lining & Boundary Improvements 200,000 0 0 200,000

Waste Infrastructure 163,000 0 0 163,000 144,000

IMPROVE THE ENVIRONMENT AND MY NEIGHBOURHOOD

Parks Infrastructure 250,000 0 0 250,000 100,000

Cemeteries & Churchyards Infrastructure Improvements 80,000 0 0 80,000 20,000

Repairs to Turf Lock Pier Head 100,000 0 0 100,000

Repair to Walls at Farm Hill 60,000 0 0 60,000

Bank Repairs & Stabilisation to Watercourses 20,000 0 0 20,000 20,000

PROVIDE GREAT THINGS FOR ME TO SEE & DO

Sports Facilities Refurbishment 56,430 0 0 56,430

DELIVER GOOD DEVELOPMENT

Leisure Complex - Build Project 16,831,010 2,647,330 (5,571,290) 13,907,050 12,664,550

Bus Station Construction 2,319,980 2,986,550 (2,852,430) 2,454,100 2,852,430

PLACE TOTAL 20,480,420 5,633,880 (8,423,720) 17,690,580 16,200,980

BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2019/20 AND BEYOND

P
age 193



APPENDIX 2

2019/20 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

Proposed Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 2019/20 

and Beyond at Qtr 

1

Budget 

Reprofiled to 

Future Years

Total 2019/20 

Capital 

Programme

2020/21 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

£ £ £ £ £

BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2019/20 AND BEYOND

CORPORATE SERVICES

WELL RUN COUNCIL

Council Signage Improvement 40,000 0 0 40,000 40,000

Annual Contribution to Strata 53,900 0 0 53,900 53,900

Capitalised Staff Costs 100,000 0 0 100,000 100,000

CORPORATE SERVICES TOTAL 193,900 0 0 193,900 193,900

HRA 

INVESTMENT IN EXISTING STOCK

Adaptations 517,500 75,000 0 592,500 535,610

Environmental Improvements - General 207,000 0 0 207,000 214,250

Programmed Re-roofing 186,100 0 0 186,100 314,140

Garage Upgrades 64,260 0 0 64,260 66,510

LAINGS Refurbishments 1,298,580 0 0 1,298,580 0

Kitchen Replacement Programme 1,347,250 0 0 1,347,250 2,020,880

Balcony Walkway Improvements 105,000 0 0 105,000 108,670

Bathroom Replacement Programme 883,220 0 0 883,220 1,324,840

Door Replacements (including Outbuildings) 143,940 0 0 143,940 231,000

Communal Areas 103,190 0 0 103,190 79,930

Structural Repairs 155,250 0 0 155,250 160,680

Rennes House Structural Works 3,495,275 1,850,000 0 5,345,275 0

Common Area Footpaths/Wall Improvements 94,050 0 0 94,050 95,800

Soil Vent Pipe Replacement 63,950 0 0 63,950 27,000

Electrical Central Heating 19,900 0 0 19,900 21,890

Electrical Re-wiring 756,140 0 0 756,140 566,300

P
age 194



APPENDIX 2

2019/20 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

Proposed Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 2019/20 

and Beyond at Qtr 

1

Budget 

Reprofiled to 

Future Years

Total 2019/20 

Capital 

Programme

2020/21 Budget 

as per Budget 

Book/Council 

Approvals

£ £ £ £ £

BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2019/20 AND BEYOND

Boiler Replacement Programme 575,000 0 0 575,000 590,500

Communal Doors and Screens 246,320 0 0 246,320 254,940

Fire Risk Assessment Works 65,200 0 0 65,200 67,480

Loft & Cavity Insulation 51,750 0 0 51,750 53,560

Window Replacements 733,090 0 0 733,090 758,750

Porch Canopies 90,480 0 0 90,480 55,810

PROVISION OF NEW COUNCIL HOMES

Social Housing Acquisitions - Section 106 250,000 390,000 0 640,000 250,000

St Loyes Extracare Scheme 5,360,000 (776,920) 0 4,583,080 156,360

HRA TOTAL 16,812,445 1,538,080 0 18,350,525 7,954,900

TOTAL CAPITAL BUDGET 37,936,765 7,171,960 (8,423,720) 36,685,005 24,799,780

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

Total Capital 

Budget

Total Spend to 

Date

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £

PEOPLE

 

HELP ME FIND SOMEWHERE TO LIVE

Temporary Accommodation Purchase 584,950 476,560 0

PEOPLE TOTAL 584,950 476,560 0

PLACE

WELL RUN COUNCIL

MRF Air Compressor 13,300 5,460 0

IMPROVE THE ENVIRONMENT AND MY NEIGHBOURHOOD

Repair Canal Bank at M5 64,520 36,331 0

Kings Arms Bridge 410,000 16,094 0

Exwick Cemetery Ashes Section 60,000 47,603 0

KEEP ME/MY ENVIRONMENT SAFE & HEALTHY

RAMM Air Monitoring Equipment 90,000 692 0

PROVIDE GREAT THINGS FOR ME TO SEE & DO

Passenger Lift at RAMM 75,000 1,120 0

St Nicholas Priory 115,000 75,256 0

RAMM World Culture Galleries 368,740 290,429 0

MAINTAIN THE ASSETS OF OUR CITY

RAMM Roof Access Improvement 68,500 10,929 0

DELIVER GOOD DEVELOPMENT

Leisure Complex - Build Project 31,171,509 3,363,592 0

Bus Station Construction 6,870,000 1,319,009 0

Pinhoe Community Hub 100,000 10,000 0

Newtown Community Centre (S106) 85,430 16,443 0

CAPITAL SCHEMES SPANNING MORE THAN ONE FINANCIAL YEAR

P
age 197



Total Capital 

Budget

Total Spend to 

Date

2018/19 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £

Newtown Community Centre (1st Grant) 70,000 20,000 0

Newtown Community Centre (2nd Grant) 50,000 6,578 0

Beacon Heath Martial Arts & Boxing Club - New Roof 21,810 7,158 0

PLACE TOTAL 39,633,809 5,226,696 0

CORPORATE SERVICES

WELL RUN COUNCIL

Belle Isle Temporary Facilities 190,000 120,922 0

CORPORATE SERVICES TOTAL 190,000 120,922 0

HRA 

PROVISION OF NEW COUNCIL HOMES

COB Wave 2 - Rennes Car Park 3,975,370 3,846,094 0

St Loyes Extracare Scheme 10,850,000 1,010,772 0

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (COB Wave III) 459,150 433,179 0

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (Clifford Close) 141,950 5 0

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (Vaughan Road) 321,320 4,415 0

Estate Regeneration - Heavitree (South Street) 372,580 164,779 0

HRA TOTAL 16,120,370 5,459,244 0

TOTAL CAPITAL BUDGET 56,529,129 11,283,421 0

P
age 198



APPENDIX 4

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE

Capital Receipts Brought Forward 4,820,370

GF Capital Receipts 163,590 0 1,259,750 0 2,430,371

GF Ringfenced Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0 1,387,400

Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0 875,053

Disabled Facility Grant 801,181 450,000 450,000 450,000 2,605,550

New Homes Bonus 198,069 13,602,985 0 0 13,842,995

Community Infrastructure Levy 1,664,403 2,758,197 2,402,888 0 7,110,281

Other - Grants/External Funding/Reserves/S106 726,032 720,481 0 0 2,451,884

Total Resources Available 3,553,275 17,531,663 4,112,638 450,000 35,523,905

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Capital Programme 20,329,760 21,124,320 8,421,160 1,167,900 56,614,740

Overspends/(Savings) (350,000) (470,559)

Slippage (5,633,880) (2,789,840) 8,423,720 (1,384,818)

Total General Fund 14,345,880 18,334,480 16,844,880 1,167,900 54,759,363

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Capital Receipts Brought Forward 6,306,833 6,253,895 6,253,895 1,387,400 4,820,370

Resources in Year 3,553,275 17,531,663 4,112,638 450,000 30,703,535

Less Capital Receipts to carry forward (6,253,895) (6,253,895) (1,387,400) (1,387,400) (1,387,400)

Less Spend in Year (14,345,880) (18,334,480) (16,844,880) (1,167,900) (54,759,363)

Borrowing Requirement 10,739,667 802,817 7,865,747 717,900 20,622,858

GENERAL FUND AVAILABLE RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND

P
age 199



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE

Usable Receipts Brought Forward 7,704,749

Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 11,169,004

Other HRA Sales 472,000 0 0 0 472,000

RTB sales 1,067,691 500,000 400,000 400,000 2,367,691

Surrender back to DCLG - pending investment in 

replacement affordable housing (1,097,567) 0 0 0 (1,097,567)

Major Repairs Reserve 3,194,132 3,194,132 3,194,132 3,194,132 12,776,528

Revenue Contributions to Capital 7,196,555 2,500,000 3,000,000 4,500,000 17,196,555

External contributions 364,000 228,424 0 0 592,424

Grant funding - Estate Regeneration Funding 756,257 0 0 0 756,257

Grant funding - Zero Energy Buildings Project 216,000 0 0 0 216,000

Commuted sums 1,447,742 5,219,432 0 0 6,667,174

Total Resources available 13,616,810 11,641,988 6,594,132 8,094,132 58,820,815

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

HRA Capital Programme 19,168,652 16,812,447 7,954,902 9,059,688 52,995,689

St Loyes Extra Care approved budget increase 776,924 2,140,000 233,076 3,150,000

Quarter 1 - Overspends / (Savings) (302,724) (302,724)

Quarter 1 - Slippage  / Re-profiling (2,315,000) 815,000 1,500,000 0

Total Housing Revenue Account 17,327,852 19,767,447 9,687,978 9,059,688 55,842,965

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Usable Receipts Brought Forward 7,704,749 5,541,873 3,011,305 1,521,873 7,704,749

Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 11,169,004 9,620,838 4,025,947 2,421,533 11,169,004

Resources in Year 13,616,810 11,641,988 6,594,132 8,094,132 39,947,062

Less Estimated Spend (17,327,852) (19,767,447) (9,687,978) (9,059,688) (55,842,965)

Uncommitted Capital Resources 15,162,711 7,037,252 3,943,406 2,977,850 2,977,850

WORKING BALANCE RESOURCES:

Balance Brought Forward 10,212,244 6,234,417 6,319,353 6,490,362 8,567,454

HRA Balance Transfer - Surplus/(Deficit) (4,097,145) 472,618 398,191 (623,006) (2,204,552)

Quarter 1 budget monitoring - forecast variances 119,318 (387,682) (227,182) (187,682) (683,228)

Balance Carried Forward 6,234,417 6,319,353 6,490,362 5,679,674 5,679,674

Balance Resolved to be Retained (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000)

Uncommitted HRA Working Balance 2,234,417 2,319,353 2,490,362 1,679,674 1,679,674

TOTAL AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES 17,397,128 9,356,605 6,433,768 4,657,524 4,657,524

HRA AVAILABLE RESOURCES

P
age 201



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO Corporate Services 27th September 2018
Executive 9th October 2018

Report of: Corporate Manager, Democratic & Civic Support
Title: REPLACEMENT OF AUDIO VISUAL EQUIPMENT 

Is this a Key Decision? 

No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Council

1.1 What is the report about?

1.1 This report seeks approval to replace all or some of the Audio Visual equipment at 
both the Civic Centre and the Guildhall so as to improve the meeting experience for 
those attending the meeting and also for those watching meeting broadcasts via social 
media.  

1.2 The report gives various options as to how this can be achieved. 

2. Recommendation: 

2.1 That the Executive consider this matter and make an appropriate recommendation to 
the Council, as there is no budgetary provision for this in the current budget.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 There are various options available which range in financial terms from £30,000 to 
£104,923 in costs.

3.2 There is no financial provision for this equipment to be purchased so the Executive will 
need to consider this proposal against other competing demands.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 None.

5. Section 151 Officer Comments:

5.1 If approved, funding will need to be identified for this project.  It is not appropriate to 
borrow for a relatively short dated asset and therefore funding will have to be identified, 
either from capital receipts or revenue.  Council does not have sufficient reserves to set 
aside revenue for this purpose and therefore it is likely capital receipts will be used to fund 
the project.  This of course means that they are unavailable for any other purpose.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 There are no legal aspects to this report.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

Page 203

Agenda Item 12



 

8. Report details:

8.1 The current Audio Visual (AV) equipment (including microphones) in the Civic Centre’s 
meeting rooms, was installed when the rooms were moved to their current location as 
part of the Customer First project in 2005.  At that time they were on the cutting edge 
of wireless technology.

8.2 The microphones currently used at the Guildhall were those which were replaced as 
per paragraph 8.1 above, and as such are at least 20 years old.  They are all linked by 
a cable and it has been found on occasion, that once a connection has been lost, the 
whole system fails.  

8.3 Technology has moved on significantly since 2005.

8.4 Members will be aware that there have been numerous occasions where the 
technology used in the civic centre meeting rooms and/or Guildhall has failed meaning 
that the experience for those not only participating in the meetings, but also those 
attending the meetings, most particularly the public, has been less than satisfactory.  
This situation has been heightened following the Council’s decision to broadcast some 
of its public meetings via Facebook live.

8.5 Officers have received numerous complaints about this unsatisfactory situation, but 
despite the best efforts of the Council’s IT company, as well as leading suppliers of 
such equipment to solve the issues experienced, no permanent and suitable fix has 
been found.

8.6 Many of those consulted stated that the age of the microphones, and the technology 
supporting them, is most likely to be the cause of the failures, together with a poor 
sound amplification system within the Guildhall.

8.7 To this end, various options have been sought, so that Members can consider which 
may be most suitable.  

8.8 The first option relates to simply replacing the microphones at both the Civic Centre 
and Guildhall.  This would cost approximately £40,000 

8.9 The second option provides for a replacement of the microphone systems as per 
paragraph 8.8 above, together with an upgrade of visual equipment in the main civic 
centre meeting rooms.  This would include replacing the screens and projectors in 
these meeting rooms, with up to date LED screens and all the necessary other 
equipment, which would, amongst other things, allow for easier presentations to be 
given. This will cost approximately £55,000

8.10 The final provides for all that included in paragraphs 8.8 and 8.9 above, together with:-

 The replacement of the speakers in the Rennes and Bad Homburg rooms;
 The replacement of the repeater screens (used in the Bad Homburg room to 

replicate the image shown at Committees on the main screen in Rennes) with LED 
screens;

 The replacement of the radio microphones used at some committee meetings;
 The installation of permanent webcasting cameras in both the Civic Centre and 

Guildhall, to enable better screening of committee meetings.  

Page 204



 

This will “future proof” the facilities within the Civic Centre for a number of years, but 
will be the most costly at approximately £100,000. 

8.11 It is recognised that this is a considerable amount which has not been budgeted for, so 
members are asked to consider:-

 Whether this is considered a corporate priority when taking into account the many 
other competing demands the Council has on its financial resources;

 If so, which of the options should be progressed

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 This decision will help promote the City as one which promotes transparency in its 
decision making process, and encourages members of the public to engage with the 
council’s meetings and democratic process.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 There are no risks associated with the proposals 

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1  None applicable with this decision

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 The Council could decide not to invest in improved equipment which would mean that 
there would continue to be intermittent issues with its broadcasting ability, leading to 
customer dissatisfaction.

12.2 The Council would also not promote itself well as one which wants to promote 
transparency in its decision making process.

 

John Street
Corporate Manager, Democratic & Civic Support 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE 

Date of Meeting: Executive – 9 October 2018
Council – 16 October 2018

Report of: Programme Manager - Communities

Title: Neighbourhood portion of Community Infra-Structure Levy/ Grants 
Roots Grants recommendations October 2018

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.2 A Community and arts grants review is currently taking place: all Council grant giving is part 
of this review including the Neighbourhood Community Infra-Structure Levy (CIL) funding. 
The recommendations from the review will be considered by members through the 
committee process in January 2019. In the meantime the Council continues to respond to 
request from community and arts groups for grants within existing arrangements.

1.3 This report recommends awards to be made to two community organisations in this fifth 
round of the Neighbourhood Community Infra-Structure Levy (CIL) /Grass Roots Grants 
funding  

2. Recommendations:

2.1 That Council approves the recommendation made by the Grass Roots Grants Panel which 
met on the 4 September 2018, to support the following grant applications:

(For more information about these projects see section 8)

1. The Club, Pow’s Place Locarno Road St Thomas. Mental health support project – funding 
towards new heating system and ramps to ensure building is accessible. £10,000

2. Friends of Merrivale Park - St Thomas Community Association - Improving park with new 
play equipment, goal posts and picnic bench. £10,000

3. Reasons for the recommendations:

3.1 At the People Scrutiny Committee held on 2 June 2016, and Council on 26 July 2016 it was 
agreed that the Council would welcome recommendations from the Grass Roots Grants 
Panel in relation to applications for funding from the neighbourhood portion of the 
Community Infra-Structure Levy (CIL). Following a member decision in April 2018 the panel 
membership has been revised to ensure more member involvement. In this fifth round of 
the grass roots grant process the panel  had  two elected members present (and one 
apology) and two representatives from Exeter Community Forum. 
This is the fifth round in this process. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 13



4. What are the resource implications including non- financial resources:

4.1 It is estimated that the neighbourhood portion of the total CIL receipts over the next 10 
years will be approximately £3.75 million.  Executive approved the ring fencing of these 
funds at the 10 February 2015 meeting.  The CIL regulations do not provide for borrowing 
to be undertaken against CIL receipts, and so sufficient CIL receipts must have 
accumulated before projects can be funded.  

4.2 At 15% of total CIL receipts, the neighbourhood portion of CIL receipts, currently equates to 
approximately £1,460,309 (September 2018).  A total of £368,271 has been awarded to 
date.

5. Section 151 Officer Comments:

5.1 The Section 151 Officer notes the proposals and will work with the Programme Manager – 
Communities to ensure that the spend of the Neighbourhood portion of the CIL is 
appropriately administered and accounted for, bearing in mind the decision-making 
procedures put in place and the Council’s ultimate retention of accountability.

5.2 Members should be aware that supporting some applications, particularly buildings, may 
cause the organisations involved further financial challenges, maintaining and running the 
buildings in the future and members should be satisfied that appropriate business plans are 
in place and that there is no expectation of future financial support from the Council 
towards the running costs of the building in question.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1  None identified

7. Monitoring Officer Comments

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring officer.

8. Report Details:

8.1 Grass Roots Grants – A Community and arts grants review is currently taking 
place: all Council grant giving is part of this review including the Neighbourhood Community 
Infra-Structure Levy (CIL) funding. The recommendations from the review will be 
considered by members through the committee process in January 2019. In the meantime 
the Council continues to respond to request from community and arts groups for grants 
within existing arrangement

This is the fifth round of the Neighbourhood CIL/Grass Roots Grants process which focuses 
on community buildings and supporting community action. This includes the setting up or 
running a project that runs over a period of time or towards buildings or equipment. Groups 
were advised that they would be able to apply for up to £10,000 to support building costs, 
or alternatively groups could apply for funding to support community action. 

Three applications were received in the latest round, the panel met on 4 September 2018 
to assess the applications against the evaluation criteria, the panel recommended 
supporting two of the applications at this stage.  One of the applicants has been advised 
that the application did not fulfill the criteria as it did not demonstrate significant community 
consultation and it was at risk of duplicating other work in the city.

 

Page 208



Applications 
supported 
by panel

Project/Initiative Funding 
from 
Grass 
Roots 
Grants

Total cost 
of project

1. The Club 
Pow’s Place
Locarno 
Road
St Thomas

Mental health support project – funding 
towards new heating system and ramps to 
ensure building is accessible.
(City Council owned building)

£10,000 £10,000

2. Friends of 
Merrivale 
Park - St 
Thomas 
Community 
Association

Improving park with new play equipment, 
goal posts and picnic bench. 
(City Council park)

£10,000 £25,749.93

Total recommended                                                                                             £20,000

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan

9.1 Supporting community developments helps us to achieve the Corporate Plan objective of 
Supporting Exeter’s Communities – “Communities in Exeter know best what facilities are 
needed in their areas and where investment should be prioritised. We recognise that 
community and voluntary groups have an important role to play in helping us to shape and 
deliver services in new ways. We will continue to provide support to the community and 
voluntary sector to achieve a range of positive outcomes for our communities through co-
design and co-delivery”.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 Successful applicants will need to provide a monitoring report on their project and will have 
a peer visit to check the process and outputs/outcomes of the work. 

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 
safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and 
the environment?

1.1 Supporting the capacity of community organisations to take initiatives, has the potential to 
support a wide range of groups across the city and thereby address issues such as equality 
and diversity, health and wellbeing. 

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 No.

Dawn Rivers
Programme Manager - Communities

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-

None

Page 209



Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 210



REPORT TO Executive
Date of Meeting: 9 October 2018
Report of: Karime Hassan
Title: TEDxExeter

Is this a Key Decision? 

No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

1. What is the report about?

1.1 This report seeks authority to allocate £10,000 from the existing council events budget 
to TEDx Exeter and the volunteer organisation that makes the hosting of this event 
possible.  

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That £10,000 from existing sponsorship budget be used to support TEDxExeter.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 TEDx are independently organised local events that bring people together to share 
ideas. They are run by grass root volunteers. The licence is granted free by TED.com

3.2 They are run by a team of volunteers from across Exeter who hold a sold out annual 
event every April in the city. Full price tickets help subsidise those which are ring 
fenced for hard to reach groups. The livestream of the speakers is broadcast to varied 
international audiences including schools and colleges, the NHS, local government 
and police.

3.3 The purpose of the cultural portfolio is to provide great things to see and do. 
TEDxExeter is one of the standout events in the Exeter calendar, the event held at the 
Northcott Theatre typically sells out within minutes. The Northcott Theatre has a 
modest seating capacity and the event organisers provide live streaming of the events 
to other venues in the city to give as many people as possible a chance to see the 
presentations. Speakers from TEDxExeter have received 20million views as ideas 
from a stage in Exeter are shared around the world. TEDxExeter are ranked 4th in the 
world for talks with 1m+ views on TED.com. The Exeter organisation come in ahead of 
New York, Brussels, Cambridge, Boston and Toronto. There cannot be many things 
that Exeter ranks on a world stage ahead of these cities. 

3.4 The return on investment of ‘brand Exeter’, combined with the pioneering speakers, 
tone and topics, would not be achievable through conventional marketing means. 
Exeter appears on every one of the 20million views. 

3.5 The network event organised as part of the event is extremely popular and provides a 
learning and networking space for community groups and businesses to exchange 
ideas and build collaboration. As part of the event the organisers bring to the city 
notable speakers and they make an effort to engage with stakeholders in the city, for 

Page 211

Agenda Item 14



 
example, Cormac Russell held a workshop in the city on asset based community 
development, and the RSA held a workshop on inclusive growth. 

3.6   I am in no doubt that the success of TEDx is in large part a consequence of the 
exceptional leadership shown by Claire Kennedy and the team of volunteers that 
support this event. The editorial control and preparation to support the speakers result 
in a quality product that engages millions of viewers. The effort that goes into this 
event is enormous and a major challenge is to secure funding to cover the cost of the 
event, the logistical support for the speakers and maximising the impact of the events 
through video clips etc. 

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 A sponsorship budget has already been approved by members. This year it has 
already supported the premiere of Shrouds of the Somme before touring the country. 
Decisions at this level continue to be made by officers.

4.2 The premise of publicly recognising the achievements and impact of the team of 
volunteers via this council process is as important as the financial contribution. 
The partnership would be reviewed under delegated powers annually in light of 
financial constraints.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The amount forms part of the approved £25,000 budget for Sponsorship and therefore 
there are no additional financial implications arising from the report.

6. What are the legal aspects?

Whilst sponsorship could amount to state aid, the sum of £10,000 is considered 
de minimis and therefore the rules on state aid do not apply.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

Decisions regarding sponsorship are usually made by the Director in accordance with 
the Council’s scheme of delegated authority. However, the decision as to whether the 
Council should sponsor the TEDx event has been bought to the Executive for a 
decision because the Director has declared an interest in this matter having formally 
volunteered his services to this organisation.  In addition, both the Director’s wife and 
his sister volunteer their services to TEDx. 

Page 212



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 
Date of Meeting: 9 October 2018
Report of: Chief Executive & Growth Director
Title: Local Industrial Strategy

Is this a Key Decision? 
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

 No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Executive

1 What is the report about?

1.1 To inform Members on the progress with the development of an Industrial Strategy 
for the Greater Exeter area based on the transformational opportunity around 
environmental science and big data. The Strategy is the culmination of work that 
was started under the initiative led by Sir Steve Smith and supported by the City 
Council entitled Innovation Exeter. 

2 Recommendations

2.1 The Executive welcomes and supports the decision of the Greater Exeter Growth 
Board to endorse the Greater Exeter Industrial Strategy document and to promote 
the strategy to the Heart of the South West LEP Board on the basis of this being 
incorporated within the Local Industrial Strategy for the Heart of the South West 
area  

3 Reasons for the recommendation

3.1 The Government has published the National Industrial Strategy and has confirmed 
that the Heart of the South West LEP will be a wave 2 Local Industrial Strategy. 
Work on supporting a transformational economic growth strategy to meet the aims 
of the national strategy was begun some time ago under the leadership of the 
University of Exeter with the support of the Greater Exeter Authorities. The Greater 
Exeter Industrial Strategy captures a place based approach to supporting growth 
and aligns with the regional work that has identified the key opportunities for 
supporting the transformational economic agenda at Greater Exeter based on data 
and environmental intelligence.  It is important that we seek endorsement for the 
strategy by the Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership Board so as 
to find expression within the forthcoming Local Industrial Strategy for the Heart of 
the South West

4 What are the resource implications including non-financial resources

The strategy is supported by business cases for the key proposals and we are 
seeking Government support to deliver the strategy. However, this strategy is not 
binding and this report is not seeking any commitment to fund the strategy. Should 

Page 213

Agenda Item 15



a proposal emerge to take any of the initiatives forward, a separate report with 
business case would need to be presented to the authorities. 

5 Section 151 Officer comments

5.1 There are no additional financial implications contained in this report.

6 What are the legal aspects?

None identified. 

7 Monitoring Officer’s comments

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer 

8 Report details

8.1 Members have been briefed on the work that was being undertaking to develop the 
Exeter Industrial Strategy.  The foundation for this work was the potential to 
harness the economic opportunity presented by the unique and globally 
recognised strengths in environmental science and big data analytics.  Described 
as the Exeter Pitch further work has been undertaken over the course of the 
summer to develop detailed business cases for each of the proposed ‘asks’ of 
Government.  The Strategy is appended to the report.

8.2 A considerable body of work has been undertaken over the course of the summer 
to develop detailed business cases for the ‘asks’ in the Industrial Strategy 
document.  This is summarised in the attached document which highlights that a 
whole ‘place-making’ approach has been adopted in formulating a locally 
distinctive industrial strategy.  

8.3 The original intention was for this document to form the basis for a more intensive 
period of engagement with Whitehall departments prior to the next Budget in 
November.  It is now clear, following confirmation that the Heart of the South West 
will be the in the second wave of Local Industrial Strategies, that this work needs to 
be fed in to and find expression through the co-creation process that will be 
undertaken with Government to develop this strategy across Devon, Somerset, 
Plymouth and Torbay.  

8.4 It is also clear from various announcements that an ambitious and robust industrial 
strategy needs to sit at the heart of the overall approach to promoting future growth 
including in relation to housing and infrastructure delivery.  It is important that the 
work that has been undertaken to develop an industrial strategy for the Greater 
Exeter area, based on the role of city as economic and utilising unique strengths in 
environmental science and big data, is utilised in support of various allied areas of 
activity.  To ensure that the potential local growth benefits have been considered 
the guidance makes it clear that it will be desirable for proposals to have the 
support of the Local Enterprise Partnership.  

8.5 The Greater Exeter pitch has landed positively with partners and civil servants and 
there is recognition that the Exeter city region is driving the regional economy. It is 
important that the Pitch document continues to form the basis for a clear and 
compelling offer for productivity-led growth that can then be pursued through a 

Page 214



variety of supporting and complimentary avenues over the course of the next 12 
months.  

9 How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The Industrial Strategy seeks government support for infrastructure necessary to 
deliver on the ambition of the Council’s priorities of building neighbourhoods and 
tackling congestion.

10 What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The risks would be identified in the course of any discussion with Government or 
the LEP regarding business cases and funding opportunities.

11 What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1 The thrust of the strategy is to deliver on inclusive growth and to tackle unequal 
growth.

12 Are there any other options?

12.1 N/A

Karime Hassan
Chief Executive & Growth Director.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



UK Industrial Strategy  
Greater Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Page 217



Executive Summary Page 04

Introduction Page 06

Section 1 Page 09

1.1 Why Exeter Page 10

1.2 Growth Challenges Page 12

Section 2 Page 15

2.1 Theme 1: Finance & Infrastructure Page 18 

2.2 Theme 2: Innovation Page 23

2.3 Theme 3: Data & Skills Page 26

2.4 Theme 4: Enabling Environment Page 32

Concluding Remarks Page 34

Contents

Contents
UK Industrial Strategy  
Greater Exeter: the 
engine for regional 
growth

P
age 218



54 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Executive 
Summary 

Our cities and the unprecedented growth of 
urban environments present both the greatest 
challenge and opportunity of our lifetime. 
As drivers of economic growth across wide 
regions, cities are essential to modern life, but 
unsustainable trends in energy use, congestion 
and associated negative consequences 
threaten the health of cities and their citizens. 

Exeter, while no different in this regard, is already the leading growth centre for the 
wider Heart of the South West region and we have the capability to significantly 
scale up and deliver Government’s priorities in terms of productivity and growth.   
In this way, an investment in Exeter is an investment in the success of the wider 
region as we continue to work closely with our neighbours in Greater Exeter, 
Devon, Plymouth and Torbay. Equally, Exeter is a great test bed. It is uniquely 
placed to foster fresh approaches and to promote and share learning. The city 
already enjoys many of the positives associated with aspirational city living, with 
healthy commerce and educational centres primed for innovation and investment.

We are taking a whole ‘place-making’ approach to our Industrial Strategy, 
committing to creating a place that offers clean, sustainable and inclusive growth. 
Our approach supports improved quality of life for all and deals with global 
investment imperatives and local economic need in a financially sustainable way. 
We seek to make Exeter, and ultimately the wider region, an even better place 
in which to live and grow old, to work and study, and will leave a long-lasting 
national legacy of which we can all be proud. 

The city’s leaders also recognise the opportunity to demonstrate a replicable 
approach in delivering the Industrial Strategy and are already working with the 
Heart of the South West LEP to manage conversion from a city pilot to a regional 
programme. Our bold approach to creating transformational change builds on 
our strengths to the benefit of the wider region. We require initial commitment and 
support from government of £502m; to kick-start our new collaborative approach 
that delivers:

• A sustainable finance solution: Our bold approach to creating
transformational change is underpinned by a capital asset strategy and
innovative methods for financing and equity investment that will scale up
growth and investment where other initiatives have failed. Our programme is
being undertaken jointly across the city’s public sector institutions to leverage
the city’s existing asset base and, via a jointly controlled Fund vehicle, obtain
commercial borrowing to create a subsidy-free and commercial city-wide
financing and development capability that delivers place-making housing,
infrastructure and communities within Exeter City.

More broadly, the regional financing programme and seeks to both capitalise
on the city’s increasing prosperity through the City Fund and, equally, to
self-manage the development of the wider Greater Exeter Region and in East
Devon by initial accelerated strategic land acquisition and then delivery of
housing, communities and city-linked infrastructure to complement the growth
of the area.

Executive Sum
m

ary

207
hectares of 
commercial
development

Supporting the 
creation of around 

22,000
jobs

“We will  
deliver world  
class technology 
and innovative 
facilities”

Housing up to
730,000m2 
in employment 

space

This solution will directly deliver or indirectly enable up to 25,000 houses (with 
many available to rent or affordable to buy), up to 207 hectares of commercial 
development – housing up to 730,000m2 in employment space, and helping 
to support the creation of approximately 22,000 jobs over the longer-term. 
Alongside this, there will be a wide range of improvements to the city’s 
infrastructure, including bespoke transport and energy solutions fit for the 
coming century.

• World-class technology and innovation facilities building on the City of
Exeter’s unique and globally recognised strengths in environmental science
and big data analytics. Our new facilities will help translate foundational
research into commercially viable solutions, catalysing the development of a
multi-billion pound global market for Environmental Intelligence, and
attracting regional, national and international businesses to create significant
regional impact.

Investment in these facilities could deliver up to 3.25 hectares for high quality,
innovation-focused commercial development – housing up to 18,000m2 of
high quality in employment space, with the potential to support up to 1,200
highly-skilled, high-value innovation focused jobs. Environmental Intelligence
Institute has the potential to generate over £100m of GVA to the local economy
by project maturity. This highlights that if these projects ‘get it right’, and can
draw out mutual relationships, the potential return on public investment is
highly significant

• New innovative approaches to teaching and learning created and delivered
via partnerships between Exeter’s education institutions and key employers.
The approaches deliver city-wide transformation in mathematics attainment
and support young and adult learners to acquire the higher-level skills required
for jobs in sectors that are critical to the growth of the Exeter economy.

Overall our proposals for enhancing the level of mathematics skills and
attainment within the city could deliver enhancements to productivity of circa
£10m over the initial five years, building to circa £50m over the longer-term.
The proposed South West Institute of Technology – focusing on technical skills
for the digital and advanced manufacturing sectors – has a similar potential to
boost productivity by circa £70m. The individuals will benefit through enhanced
lifetime earnings.

• Establishment of a formal City programme office to mobilise and manage
the delivery of Exeter’s industrial strategy; supported by an Innovation Fund
that enables organisations and communities to access, co-design and
pilot new products and services that address global challenges on a local
scale. This programme office will provide a strong and collaborative enabling
environment that will support and monitor the delivery of the activities set out in
the Strategy.

The wider Heart of the South West area will only meet its stretching productivity 
targets if there is an early and significant investment in the continued growth of 
the greater Exeter economy. Thus, an investment in Exeter is an investment in the 
success of the wider region.

What is learnt in Exeter could be rolled out across the UK. It can provide a 
model of how Cities and regions can harness their individual strengths to 
deliver enhanced productivity and high value employment whilst addressing the 
challenges of unequal growth.

25,000
new houses 

“We are creating 
a place that offers 
clean, sustainable 
and inclusive 
growth”

 “We have the 
capability to 
significantly scale 
up and deliver 
Government’s 
priorities”

P
age 219



76 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Introduction As Government develops its Industrial  
Strategy, local authorities have a unique 
opportunity to contribute and shape the future 
of the UK in this space through their own local 
strategic plans. This strategy will be key to 
ensuring that every part of Britain can prosper 
and that the government has the right policies 
to drive productivity and earning power. 
Embedded within that strategy is the principle 
idea that cities can hold the key and that they 
need to transform.
As the growth engine for the Heart of the South West, Exeter has the capability 
to significantly scale up and deliver Government priorities in terms of productivity 
and growth. The wider Heart of the South West area will only meet its stretching 
productivity targets if there is an early and significant investment in the continued 
growth of the Greater Exeter economy. Thus, an investment in Exeter is an 
investment in the success of the wider region.  

There is a significant amount of evidence that points to rising polarisation and 
social exclusion in our Cities, poorly managed urban growth leads to a growing 
divide between those individuals who are able to benefit from the opportunities 
offered by growth and those individuals who are not. Access to fundamental 
services such as healthcare and leisure, as well as access to education and 
employment, are all limiting factors on the capability development of our citizens.  
A focus on driving attainment in mathematics, digital and technical skills across 
the Heart of the South West region would not only drive individuals’ earnings 
higher (potentially £50m-£100mn over the longer-term), and improve productivity, 
but it would act as a working illustration at a national level as to how skills can 
improve individual wellbeing alongside local economic performance. 

To stimulate and sustain economic development across the region, Exeter 
needs to be a vibrant place with a distinct identity and a heart that can act as 
an economic engine. It needs to focus on attracting and retaining the most 
talented individuals by offering a fantastic quality of life in the very best kind of 
environment. The continued development of key sites such as the Exeter Science 
Park will create the high wage jobs that will sustain the area’s growing population. 
Overall, this could exceed 20,000 new jobs in the area over the longer-term. 

Our bold and collaborative approach to creating transformational change offers 
UK Government an opportunity to demonstrate and validate innovative methods 
for financing and equity investment along with unique approaches to the 
development of skills that enhance the capability of a city population and can be 
replicated across the country.

Our place-making goal is essential to create the momentum and investment 
needed to grow sustainably, inclusively and equitably for citizens and to showcase 
solutions that can be scaled up to support growth across the Heart of the South 
West. What is learnt in Exeter could be rolled out across other growing cities 
across the UK. It can provide a model of how cities and regions can harness their 
individual strengths to deliver enhanced productivity and high value employment 
whilst addressing the challenges of unequal growth.

Introduction

“An investment 
in Exeter is an 
investment in the 
success of the 
wider region.”

“Exeter needs to be 
a vibrant place with 
a distinct identity 
and a heart that can 
act as an economic 
engine.”

P
age 220



98 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 1

Section 1

 “Our economic success to-date has been
welcome but maintaining and expanding on 
that growth in the future, whilst delivering our 
vision for the City, brings challenges.”

P
age 221



1110 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 1.1: 
Why Exeter?

Exeter is a successful city.
In January 2017 Exeter was named by the Centre for 
Cities as the city with the fastest growing population 
in the UK and one of the largest proportionate 
workday growth rates in the UK. 

Between 2001 and 2011 we have experienced a 29.1% 
increase in our workday population, with the City exerting 
a powerful employment pull from Mid Devon, Teignbridge, 
East and West Devon. Exeter draws in 37,000 commuters, 
equivalent to c.45% of its total employment, from across the 
LEP area.

Hosting the largest cluster of digital economy activity south 
west of Bristol, our population is among the best trained in 
the UK. Globally recognised R&D assets in the University of 
Exeter and Met Office ensure that Exeter is a world leader  
in climate science (Science and Innovation Audit (SIA) 
Report 2016). 

1 Oxford Economics local economic model

Section 1.1

Our economic region is prospering, with GVA growth at 
5.7%, Exeter’s performance is bettered only by Milton 
Keynes (8.2%), Warrington (7%), Swindon (6.7%), 
Peterborough (5.9%) and Cardiff (5.8%). Exeter’s growth in 
productivity has moved up the rankings from 23rd place in 
2015 to 17th in 2016 – we are driver for the productivity of 
the wider region (itself one of the lowest performing areas  
in England).

Furthermore, the jobs created in Exeter are not just 
‘average’ jobs. The 2018 Cities Outlook shows that, of 
63 UK Cities, Exeter had the 10th fastest private sector 
employment growth and the 11th highest share of 
residents with high level qualifications (Level 4+). With GVA 
growing 50% faster than output growth across HotSW 
and productivity per full-time employee 25% higher than 
the surrounding area1, Exeter is becoming a hub for the 
knowledge-intensive employment and productivity-led 
growth that the UK needs to deliver to succeed post-Brexit. 

Exeter has exceptionally strong private sector employment 
growth (10th of all UK Cities). 19th on the list of Tech 
cities in the UK, creating as many tech jobs as Cambridge 
Employment across Heart of the South West rose by 6%, a 
quarter of the rate seen in Exeter. Between 2007 and 2017, 
the number of 16 to 64-year olds employed in in the Exeter 
rose by 25% (22,400 FTE). Outside the city, Devon added 
4,000 FTE jobs. Benefits that this nascent agglomeration 

Travel to Work Areas:

“we are driver for the  
productivity of the wider region”

confers across an otherwise peripheral region is evident 
from fact that the wages of residents of East and Mid 
Devon (both £513), boosted by high levels of commuting to 
well-paid and rewarding employment, now exceed those of 
Exeter residents (£507).

Exeter is a collaborative city.
15 years ago, Exeter had the 2nd poorest state schools 
in the south-west and uneven health outcomes. Through 
strong collaborative partnerships we’ve addressed nearly 
every one of those elements, creating pathways to skills 
at every level. Our City has a high level of educational 
attainment and several excellent education institutions 
that include 2 TEF Gold rated educational establishments 
(University of Exeter and Exeter College) and through a 
unique collaborative partnership between the University of 
Exeter and Exeter College we have developed one of two 
dedicated Mathematics Schools in the UK (Ofsted rated 
outstanding at first appraisal). 

“Exeter is becoming a hub for the 
knowledge-intensive employment 
and productivity-led growth”

Exeter is an ambitious city. 
Uniquely placed to foster fresh approaches and to promote 
and share learning, Exeter is a great test bed. Through 
recent successful work done by the City Council and 
collaborations with Exeter City Futures and University of 
Exeter, the city is building data aware communities and 
engaging citizens and businesses in the generation of 
sustainable innovative solutions to the challenges we face.  
The city already enjoys many of the positives associated 
with aspirational city living, with healthy commerce and 
educational centres primed for innovation and investment.

P
age 222



1312 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 1.2Our economic success to-date has been welcome 
but maintaining and expanding on that growth in the 
future, whilst delivering our vision for the City, brings 
challenges. 

Exeter has a vision to be seen as a leading knowledge 
economy and entrepreneurial city in the UK, raising 
productivity attracting significant investment and raising 
income levels for the benefit of its residents and businesses. 
Building on our existing strengths, we aim to be the global 
leader for addressing the challenges of climate change and 
urbanisation, and the world-leading location for applied 
environmental science, health and data analytics.

Section 1.2: 
Growth challenges

We aspire to be the grant and subsidy-free, economic 
engine for the Region; providing 20,000 extra jobs within 
the Greater Exeter area over the next 10 years, supported 
by development of 2,600 dwellings per annum and 
approximately £10bn of private money and £2bn of public 
funds invested in the region. 

To deliver that vision for the City we recognise that we must 
address a range of challenges that exist already in the region 
and which come with ambitious growth targets: 

• Mobility: with one of the largest travel-to-work areas
in the country drawing over 37,000 daily commuters

“we aim to be the global leader for 
addressing the challenges of climate 
change and urbanisation”

there is already pressure on the road and rail network. 
Peak time traffic speed, at average 4.7 mph, is already 
among the slowest in country. Any further development 
of land for housing and employment is likely to result 
in a road network that cannot absorb additional traffic.  
Future developments require innovative, data-led 
mobility solutions tailor made for the city and that align to 
Department for Transport’s mobility mission: 
• Safer streets
• Improved access to transport
• Cleaner freight
• Liveable cities

• Inequality: the spread of benefits in typical developments
is seeing profits leaving the city and the declining quality
of product. As a result, the quality of public spaces is
suffering, affecting both the education and business
prosperity of the greater city region and the overall health
and well-being of its residents

• Exeter is one of only 5 cities where average age of the
population has gone down. Cranbrook has the second
youngest demographics of any community in the country.

Without investment for change we risk a reduction 
in physical and mental health, a gridlocked transport 
system, rising low paid employment and further declining 
productivity. Many cities throughout the UK and Europe 
share the issues raised by rapid growth and our challenges 
are not unique; indeed, they form some of the grand 
challenges that face the whole of the UK. But we believe 
that we can build on the existing strengths of Exeter city to 
unlock the right programme and can be a model for all Cities

20,000
extra jobs
over the next 10 years

Exeter is 1 of only 5 cities 
where the average age of the 
population has gone down

P
age 223



1514 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2

Section 2
 We believe the solution to addressing our

challenges and managing growth in a way 
that delivers raised productivity and the vision 
of a sustainable city, lies in building a strong 
innovative city with the right skills and enabling 
environment that can offer a benchmark for  
the UK’s industrial strategy and plans for clean, 
inclusive, sustainable cities. To do that we need  
to build on our assets and our unique strengths. 

P
age 224



1716 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2:
Our Solution

We believe the solution to 
addressing our challenges and 
managing growth in a way that 
delivers raised productivity and the 
vision of a sustainable city, lies in 
building a strong innovative city 
with the right skills and enabling 
environment that can offer a 
benchmark for the UK’s industrial 
strategy and plans for clean, 
inclusive, sustainable cities. To do 
that we need to build on our assets 
and our unique strengths

Exeter seeks to undertake a 
comprehensive City change 
programme that addresses four key 
interdependent areas, figure 2, that 
together will deliver sustainable and 
lasting transformation.

Section 2

Working together these interdependent and joined-
up approaches have the potential to deliver significant 
economic benefits not just now but in the coming decades. 
Fundamentally, they will address many of the barriers 
that have been building in the city and unlock the growth 
potential within Exeter and the wider region. As shown 
over the past decade, the appetite and ability of Exeter’s 
businesses and population to innovative growth in existing 
and new markets is considerable.

The work done to date on the proposed interventions that 
form part of the Exeter Industrial Strategy proposal indicate 
that the benefits will be multi-faceted and have the ability 
to not only sustain the city’s recent performance but to put 
it on a different growth trajectory – helping to pull along the 
wider region.  

Alongside the 25,000 new houses that will be enabled, up 
to 207 hectares of land could be unlocked for commercial 
development. The continued development of key sites such 
as the Exeter Science Park will create the high wage jobs 
that will sustain the area’s growing population. Overall, this 
could exceed 20,000 new jobs in the area over the longer-
term. 

This will be enhanced by a sharp focus on providing 
the skills needed to deliver the aspirations detailed in 
the Industrial Strategy. A focus on driving attainment in 
mathematics, digital and technical skills would not only drive 
individuals’ earnings higher (potentially £50m-£100mn over 
the longer-term), and improve productivity, but it would act 
as a working illustration at a national level as to how skills 
can improve individual wellbeing alongside local economic 
performance. Our proposals for delivery and research in this 
area will provide invaluable robust evidence showing the 
developing link. Exeter’s potential role as a live testbed for 
future regional policy should not be underestimated.

Building new capability within these themes is critical 
to delivering sustainable City growth aligned with the 
government’s industrial strategy; outwardly focused on 
addressing major global trends, but firmly founded on a 
clear future vision for our place.

Adoption of Exeter’s model would ensure Exeter is a 
vibrant city that delivers on governments Industrial Strategy 
and placemaking aspirations. We believe that the route 
to get there is through the undertaking of a complete a 

Figure 2: Exeter’s approach to addressing the challenges of 
growth and delivering the Industrial Strategy

Sustainable 
Finance & 
Infrastructure
Harness capital flows 
within the City to 
enable investment 
in infrastructure 
development in a way 
that delivers the City 
vision

City Innovation
Create the  
right institutions, 
process and support 
structures to nurture 
the right solutions to 
our challenges

Data & Analytical 
Skills
Develop the skills 
and capabilities to 
harness and interpret 
data to ensure value 
generation globally 
and locally - become 
the world’s leading 
analytical City

Enabling Environment
Build governance structures, policies and processes that foster 

collaborative experimentation and shared vision

25,000
new houses 
that will be enabled

207hectares
of commercial development

“the appetite and ability of Exeter’s 
businesses and population to 
innovative growth in existing and 
new markets is considerable.”

wide-ranging transformational change programme that is 
delivered collaboratively across our City.

The City already has an engaged community of residents 
and businesses who are aggregating skills and expertise to 
contribute towards our goals. Through recent successful 
work done by the City Council and collaborations with 
Exeter City Futures and University of Exeter, the city is 
building data aware communities, driving planning and 
procurement policy reform and engaging citizens and 
businesses in the generation of sustainable innovative 
solutions to the challenges we face.   

There are many ways in which the government can help 
accelerate our activities. Investing in these solutions in 
Exeter can provide a model for how cities and regions 
across the UK can harness their individual strengths to 
deliver enhanced productivity and high value employment. 
Through the following sections we outline each 
transformational theme area along with the benefits that 
these can offer to Exeter and the UK government.

P
age 225



1918 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Offer: Incorporation of a new entity (e.g. Exeter City Fund 
LLP), owned and controlled by the city’s public sector 
institutions (to begin with - City Council, University of Exeter 
and the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust 
(the “Trust”)), whose purpose is to finance and manage the 
program of investments that funds city projects, innovation 
and bridges the housing and infrastructure gap within the 
city.

The fund will provide a single source of finance and project 
management to procure and deliver the housing and 
infrastructure required for the city’s vision and the regional 
exemplar of UK place-making aspirations in the industrial 
strategy. 

The fund is profitable in the round and uses the profits from 
the healthier, vanilla property development schemes to 
finance and deliver energy and transport innovation, projects 
with less traditional profit profiles and projects of higher 
social benefit.

The fund will lead the way in developing out the city, so 
as to then ultimately link with the Greater Exeter region 
development vision via the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan 
(GESP), providing greater city prosperity within the wider 
region and additional commercial investment that augments 
Government’s infrastructure funding pipeline for the area.

The fund also employs an end-to-end, fresh approach to 
procurement, with data driven, challenge-based processes 
that procure regulatory-compliant solutions and drive 
industry innovation side by side. 

Economic outputs

Initial discussions with the Fund’s partners and exploratory 
work have identified 29 potential sites across the city, under 
mixed public sector ownership, for inclusion in an initial 
modelling exercise. These sites represent potential locations 
for redevelopment. These have a combined value of c.£50m 
with which to capitalise the Fund. Using the £50m asset 
base and site list as a starting point for development, a 
12-year housing and commercial site development profile
requires:

Section 2.1

Proposal 1: Sustainable Finance

Project brief

Piloting of a City-controlled, grant and subsidy-free, 
commercial development fund, capitalised by property 
assets owned by the city’s spread of public sector 
organisations, that then independently acquires commercial 
finance to invest in and deliver the infrastructure in Exeter 
City, with a long-term outlook in city placemaking. 

Funding Request

£10m working capital across three gateways:

• Gateway 1: £500k - Development of an Investment
prospectus and detailed financial modelling
demonstrating the investment timeline and project
landscape, governance framework, the shape and
mechanisms of capital recycling and forecast profitability
of the fund structure. Delivered by external consultant
team, with whom the City Fund will partner on an
ongoing basis for both continuity, monitoring and quality.
Where viability of the fund is demonstrated successfully:

• Gateway 2: £2.5m - Incorporation of the City Fund and
recruitment of CEO and senior team.   Establishment of
fund management capability, legal advice framework and
recruitment and engagement of PMO advisor.  Target
operating model development; and

• Gateway 3: £7m - Pilot projects:  Project feasibility
studies, detailed financial modelling, business cases and
procurement innovation procedures for year 1/year 2
capital project profile. PMO set up and implementation.
Investor engagement and consultant advisory.

Funding Rationale

Aim: To harness capital flows within the City to enable 
investment in infrastructure development in a way that 
delivers the Place-making aspirations of the UK’s Industrial 
Strategy in Exeter without long term dependence on 
Government funding.

The finance and infrastructure 
element of Exeter’s approach 
is comprised of two proposals: 
Sustainable Finance; and Land 
acquisition and infrastructure 
investment.   

“Sustainable Finance” concerns a 
programme to leverage the city’s 
existing asset base across its public 
sector institutions and, via a City 
Fund vehicle, obtain commercial 
borrowing to create a subsidy-free and 
commercial city-wide financing and 
development capability that delivers 
place-making housing, infrastructure 
and communities within Exeter City.  

“Land acquisition and infrastructure 
investment” has a broader 
geographical programme and seeks 

to both capitalise on the city’s increasing prosperity through the City Fund and, 
equally, to self-manage the development of the wider Greater Exeter Region and 
in East Devon by initial accelerated strategic land acquisition and then delivery of 
housing, communities and city-linked infrastructure to complement the growth of 
the area.

Each of these proposals aim to unlock and enable housing development to meet 
Exeter’s growing needs, to develop the commercial space which is required to 
allow the economy to continue to grow – particularly in key locations – and to 
underpin this with infrastructure which will be sustainable and address many 
of the barriers to growth currently faced. Given the proposals are inter-linked in 
many respects, the economic benefits that they could deliver are also intertwined. 
However, the scale of impact would be highly significant in the context of the 
growth aspirations of the city. 

Overall, the proposals could directly deliver or indirectly enable up to 25,000 
houses (with many available to rent or affordable to buy), up to 207 hectares of 
commercial development – housing up to 730,000m2 in employment space, 
and helping to support the creation of approximately 22,000 jobs over the 
longer-term. Alongside this, there will be a wide range of improvements and 
enhancements to the city’s infrastructure, including bespoke transport and energy 
solutions fit for the coming century. 

Section 2.1
Theme 1: Finance & Infrastructure

“We aim to unlock and enable 
housing development to meet 
Exeter’s growing needs”

Equity asset 
base value £50m Public sector 

asset base

Capital 
infrastructure 
spend

£600m Commercial 
borrowing

Developed 
out asset 
base value

£678m For holding in 
operational fund

P
age 226



2120 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.1

Proposal 2: Land Aquisition and Strategic 
Infrastructure Investment

Project brief
Acceleration of the delivery of key strategic developments 
in the Greater Exeter area so as to ensure advanced 
site assembly and comprehensive development and 
regeneration proposals are brought forward with improved 
pace and quality.  

The scheme seeks to ensure an infrastructure-led approach 
and the timely delivery of critical infrastructure improvements 
and to realise wider place making objectives and a 
coordinated and integrated programme of development 
across the city region. 

The scheme will also enable a transition to a sustainable 
funding model which realises wider social and environmental 
benefits and augments the approach of the City 
Development Fund (Proposal 1).  This provides a cohesive 
Greater Exeter development strategy that maximises the 
contribution to productivity growth in the region and as a 
model for the UK. 

Funding request

The total funding request is £350m.

The request represents the net funding requirement over the 
next 5 years for land acquisition and infrastructure costs and 
takes into account receipts from land disposal and other 
funding contributions from existing known sources e.g. 
s106, CIL, HIF or other public funding.

Rationale for the project

This approach aligns with and augments the City 
Development Fund proposals as part of a wider sustainable 
finance approach (See Proposal 1: “Sustainable Finance”).  
It will provide further investable propositions and help to 
unlock the wealth of the city region both in terms of the 
delivery of new homes and jobs. This integrated approach is 
intended to achieve wider place-making objectives as well 
delivering recyclable and profit-making capital, for example 
through an enhanced ability to capture land value uplift.  

Currently around 2,500 new homes are delivered per year 
in the Greater Exeter area which is in line with Local Plan 
targets. The housing market remains buoyant, underpinned 
by a strong economic performance. But housing affordability 
remains a very significant challenge with ratios of average 
house prices to earning exceeding 10:1.

When developed out, this set will produce:

• Up to 5,000 new rented dwellings within the city

• 300,000ft2 of rented commercial space

• Enhanced mobility and bespoke transport infrastructure
(as-yet unmodeled)

• Accompanying energy network innovation (as-yet
unmodeled)

• Pre-tax surplus on development spend of £78m and NPV
of £25m over 12 years

• Collaboration with the Greater Exeter Region (See
Section/Business case 2: “Land Acquisition and Strategic
Infrastructure Investment”) and the future of grant and
subsidy-free infrastructure. The City Fund aims to gather
momentum and profitability, and then augment the
regional funding by providing commercial, local capital,
generated by the city’s own developments, to link into
the wider region’s developments and support them in
perpetuity, subsidy-free.

• Leading the generation of growth and prosperity: by
tackling transport through innovation and densifying
its own housing provision to drive ‘place-making’
with which communities can grow in a live-and-work
context, the regional vision is bolstered by the Fund
developing a growing, vibrant city to provide jobs and a
growth economy.

• The heart of the Fund’s success is its collaboration
across the key public sector and private sector
organisations in the city.  With these city leaders all
working together to finance Exeter’s infrastructure, it
gives the region’s wider plans and bids to government
greater leadership by example (and vice versa).

The Local Authorities have a track record of working 
proactively with our partners to unlock and bring forward 
major development sites. Moving forward we know that 
we will face new challenges.This includes achieving a step 
change in the density and intensity of development within 
the City including the potential for car free developments 
(ref: Proposal 1: “Sustainable Finance).  

There is a need to lead the market rather than just react 
to individual proposals. Equally we need to learn from our 
experience of bringing forward major greenfield sites in the 
wider travel to work area. We recognise the critical ‘master 
developer’ role that is required to drive the quality and pace 
of delivery and ensure that we create the type of places of 
which we can all be proud. 

The local partners are bringing forward a new strategic plan 
for the Greater Exeter area.  Control of land is seen as an 
essential ingredient in the ability to significantly reduce the 
lead in time for new development to come forward.  Equally 
the ability to act as the master developer will ensure that 
quality objectives are met.  

The emerging Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) 
promotes growth in several key strategic areas across 
the city region and to support this the partners have 
considered the sites where direct intervention by the public 
sector is likely to be most effective. A portfolio of potential 
acquisitions has been developed and discussed in the first 
instance with Homes England. In line with the strategy for 
growth and productivity they represent a range of large scale 
opportunities for new settlements and urban extensions 
through to brownfield urban regeneration.  

Together these sites will deliver around 10,000 new homes 
on around 380ha of land to support our growing economy.
High up-front infrastructure costs are a recognised 
barrier to delivery. We have successfully unlocked major 
developments through the application of revolving 
investments where critical infrastructure improvements are 
brought forward at an early stage with funds being recouped 
as development proceeds.   

We wish to further build from this platform to create a 
revolving infrastructure fund as part of a sustainable 
financing model which also captures the growth dividend 

5,000
new rented 
dwellings 

300,000ft2
of rented commercialspace

2,700
on site jobs 
to be aquired

“There is a need to lead the  
market rather than just react to 
individual proposals.”

in terms of enhanced revenues such as non-domestic 
rates. This will enable comprehensive control over regional 
investment strategy, finance and delivery and achieve 
greater social impact. 

Economic outputs

The proposal is likely to generate the following outputs:

• Number of new homes – 9,500 existing density to
11,000 at higher density on sites to be acquired out of
total of 25,000 homes enabled by infrastructure. This will
deliver 9,500 direct housing outputs and a further 15,500
indirect outputs enabled;

• Average 30% affordable – 2,900 at existing density;

• Employment land – 26 Ha on strategic sites out of a total
of 207 Ha potential for GESP;

• Amount of commercial floorspace – 90,600m2 on sites to
be acquired out of 733,000m2 potential for GESP;

• Number of jobs accommodated – 2700 on sites to be
acquired out of a total of 22,200 including jobs enabled
by infrastructure;

• Private sector investment Housing - £2.8bn on the
strategic sites and a total of £7.3bn for the whole GESP
area;

• Private Sector Investment Employment floorspace -
£136m on strategic sites out of £1.1bn for the GESP
area;

• Public sector investment - £95m identified from s106,
existing CIL and other partners.

P
age 227



2322 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.2Innovation is at the heart of a 
strong economy, from transport 
and energy to sustainable 
construction and healthcare, it 
keeps Cities attractive to investors, 
it provides export opportunities, 
creates jobs and maintains a 
higher standard of living. 

Innovation must be underpinned by 
strong, globally recognised institutions 
and facilities that can attract and 
nurture entrepreneurial and academic 
talent in our region and in turn deliver 
high-value employment and economic 
growth. The innovation element of 
Exeter’s approach is comprised of 
two proposals: expansion of the R&D 
and innovation capacity at the Exeter 
Science Park and the development 
of a world leading Environmental 
Intelligence Accelerator.

Each of these proposals aims to maintain the momentum generated in Exeter’s 
innovation base. The proposals aim to significantly enhance capacity in the 
city and develop a new institution which harnesses the city’s expertise in 
environmental analytics and digital technology. It is proposed that the Accelerator 
be located at the Science Park as part of the development of the Global 
Environmental Futures Campus, alongside the Met Office Supercomputer and 
Collaboration Hall. Taken together, the scale of impact would be highly significant 
in the context of the city’s fast-growing innovation and science base, allow Exeter 
to build on its key research assets (of global renown), and see the UK take the 
leadership in the development of the market for environmental intelligence.

Overall, the below proposals could deliver up to 3.25 hectares for high quality and 
innovation-focused commercial development – housing up to 18,000m2 of high 
quality in employment space, with the potential to support up to 1,200 highly-
skilled and high-value innovation focused jobs. A potential key element of these 
plans is the establishment of an Environmental Intelligence Accelerator, which will 
build-on the initial development of a Global Environmental Futures campus on the 
Science Park. This project alone has the potential to generate over £100mn of 
GVA to the local economy by project maturity. This highlights that if these projects 
‘get it right’, and are able to draw out mutual relationships, the potential return on 
public investment is highly significant.

Section 2.2
Theme 2: Innovation

P
age 228



2524 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.2

Proposal 4: Environmental Intelligence 
Institute

Project brief

Development of an Environmental Intelligence Accelerator 
at the Exeter Science Park Global Environmental Futures 
Campus, which builds on the City of Exeter’s unique and 
globally recognised strengths in environmental science 
and big data analytics. The Accelerator will provide the 
resources and infrastructure to bridge the ‘valley of death’ 
in the translation of foundation research to commercially 
viable Environmental Intelligence Solutions. This will catalyse 
development of a multi-billion pound global market for 
Environmental Intelligence and deliver substantial regional 
benefits.

Funding request

Funding is requested to support the full direct costs of the 
project - £30m for a situation in which accommodation is 
rented, or £40m in which purpose-built accommodation is 
developed.

Rationale for the project

The Environmental Intelligence Accelerator seeks to address 
the following key challenges and drivers:

1. The City of Exeter’s strengths in Environmental and
Data Sciences are globally renowned, but their potential
to drive regional economic growth is currently under-
exploited due to a lack of capacity for translational
research and development.

2. A changing climate, dwindling natural resources, and
requirement to transition to a low-carbon economy,
means that there is growing need for individuals,
businesses and governments to use environmentally-
related information in their operations.

3. Opportunities afforded by The Fourth Industrial
Revolution to address environmental challenges for social
and economic good, are currently underutilised.

These key challenges mean there is opportunity for the City 
of Exeter to draw upon its strengths and global reputation 
to lead the development of a world-wide market for 

Proposal 3: Exeter Science Park

Project brief

Exeter Science Park Ltd (ESPL)2 is owned by its public 
sector shareholders’ (Devon County Council - DCC, East 
Devon District Council - EDDC, Exeter City Council – ECC, 
and the University of Exeter - UoE), who had a vision to 
develop a science park to stimulate a knowledge-based 
economy delivering high-value jobs, improved productivity 
and economic growth. 

ESPL’s mission is to help innovative STEMM (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Mathematics, Medicine) 
companies to deliver extraordinary growth (a Gateway Policy 
is used to maintain this focus). The aim of this project is to 
accelerate the development of Exeter Science Park (ESP) in 
order to create a sustainable, critical mass of innovative and 
entrepreneurial STEMM businesses by 2027. The high-level 
objectives are:

• Create and communicate a strong, highly-differentiated
value proposition to attract regional, national and
international STEMM-based businesses.

• Advance the release of development land with outline
planning permission for a deliverable EPIC design.

• Accelerate the development of 195,000 sqft (18,120 m2)
of cost-effective, efficient and flexible space.

• Extend the Science Park Centre to become a vibrant hub
for on-site client-staff and off-site guests.

• Deliver two world-class technology facilities as well as
flexible laboratory and office space.

• Create a sustainable, critical mass (2000 client staff) of
sustainable, innovative STEMM businesses by 2027.

• Transition to a sustainable funding model which realises
broad, regional innovation benefits.

2 Exeter Science Park Ltd (ESPL) is run on a ‘not for distribution’ basis 
meaning that it is effectively a ‘not for profit’.

“This will catalyse development of 
a multi-billion pound global market 
for Environmental Intelligence and 
deliver substantial regional benefits.”

‘Environmental Intelligence Solutions’. This opportunity is 
aligned with a range of regional, national and international 
policies including Industrial Strategy Strength in Places and 
Clean Growth; Climate Policy commitments such as the 2 
degrees target; and the 2 Year Environment Plan. 

In particular, it builds on the City of Exeter’s aspirations 
to drive growth through building on existing strength to 
become an Analytical City.

Economic outputs

Assuming that the accommodation is rented, for an 
investment of £30m over 5 years, economic benefits can be 
summarised as follows:  

• Net Additional GVA of £75.3m by Year 5, rising to
£144.2m by Year 10 under sustainable operation

• 5 Year cumulative Net Additional GVA of £225.2m rising
to £817.4m in Year 10

• 5 Year Net Present Value of £180m - representing a
Benefit Cost Ratio of 6.

• Net Additional GVA of 10 Year cumulative 10 Year Net
Present Value of  £595m

In the scenario where the accommodation is purpose 
built, investment increases to £40m over 5 years, with the 
following expected economic benefits:

• Net Additional GVA of £75.3m by Year 5, rising to
£144.2m by Year 10

• 5 Year cumulative Net Additional GVA of £241.3m rising
to £824.7m in Year 10

• 5 Year Net Present Value of £177.5m - representing a
Benefit Cost Ratio of 4

• 10 Year Net Present Value of £593m

• Potential to increase GVA and NPV through use of
additional c. 15,000 sqft available space - at least
additional £500k per annum income.

1,216
skilled jobs
over 10 years

“a vision to develop a science park 
to stimulate a knowledge-based 
economy delivering high-value 
jobs, improved productivity and 
economic growth” 

Funding Request

The total funding request is £65m.

The request represents the forecast build cost of the EPIC 
project adjusted for projected construction inflation. The 
funding requirement includes costs for:

• Land acquisition and master planning £1.5m

• Construction costs £50.8m

• Construction professional fees £10.7m

• Landscaping, removal costs, attenuation ponds £0.8m

Rationale for the project

This project directly supports the achievements of national 
and local economic growth, productivity and diversification 
objectives, including a recognised need to invest to support 
high-value jobs, productivity gain, innovation and growth.

There is an identified market need for the provision of 
accommodation to support development of a sustainable 
and critical mass of innovative and entrepreneurial STEMM 
and data businesses. By addressing this market failure, the 
project contributes to the continued and sustained growth 
of Exeter, Greater Exeter, Devon and the wider region whilst 
recognising the potential barriers to accommodating higher 
growth rates with the core of the city.

Economic outputs

The proposal is likely to generate the following outputs:

• The unlocking/release of 3.25 ha of development land in
the first year

• 18,122 ft2 of commercial rental space

• 1,216 skilled jobs over 10 years

P
age 229



2726 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.3

Analytical skills are at the heart of 
any successful city development 
programme of the future. The skills 
element of Exeter’s approach is 
comprised of 4 proposals: “Exeter 
Digital and Data Education Hub 
(EDDE-Hub)”, “Sparx Roll-out”, 
“Skills Escalators” and leadership 
of the “South West Institute of 
Technology”. 

These proposals address how we 
will use data more effectively to 
enhance the city’s planning, education, 
businesses and communities and 
to develop the skills that will be 
needed for the future employment 
opportunities within our City. 

Together, “EDDE-Hub” and “Sparx 
roll-out” will achieve city wide 
transformation of data, digital and 
mathematics skills. Through research 
informed, data enabled innovation 
they will create behaviour change 
that leads to systemic improvement. 
Via the establishment of the EDDE-
Hub and the associated educational 
technology rollout we will: i) create 
widespread capacity for data, digital 

and mathematics teaching; ii) embed educational technology across the city 
– generating a comprehensive education data set; iii) create interconnections
between employers, schools and learners of all ages to improve employability and
productivity.

Working in combination these proposals will enhance the skills base within the 
city, delivering significant benefits in the medium-to-longer term through higher 
value and paid jobs, a better supply of skilled employees for Exeter businesses to 
expand, and eventually improvements to productivity levels.

Overall the proposals for enhancing the level of mathematics skills and attainment 
within the city could deliver enhancements to productivity of circa £10mn over the 
initial five years, building to circa £50mn over the longer-term. 

The proposed South West Institute of Technology – this time focusing on 
technical skills for the digital and advanced manufacturing sectors – has a similar 
potential to boost productivity by circa £70mn. The individuals will benefit through 
enhanced lifetime earnings. 

A key focus for local partners will be to retain a significant proportion of these 
benefits within the Exeter economy. 

This highlights the important links to the other proposals – a key element of 
retaining highly-skilled people will be the continued development of high-value 
jobs enabled through the coordinated approach to strategic investment within the 
city. 

The development of a city-wide mathematics programme for all school children 
in the city has the potential to deliver benefits over the longer-term at a scale 
much greater than those indicated above. The enhanced earnings potential in this 
scenario would have a transformational element, although uncertain at this time.

Section 2.3
Theme 3: Data & Skills

Proposal 5: EDDE-Hub

Project brief

The Exeter Digital and Data Education Hub will bring 
Exeter’s schools together with employers, educational 
technology innovators, one of the UK’s top 5 schools of 
education and an ‘Outstanding’ (Ofsted) FE College, to: 

• Raise awareness, understanding and aspiration to
progress into sectors that are critical to the growth of the
Exeter economy

• Co-create innovative approaches to teaching and
learning and new curricula in key sectors address
recruitment difficulties that are impacting on both
employer competitiveness and teaching capacity

• Provide a research underpinning and holistic framework
that maximises the successful adoption of education
technology by multiple learning groups (cross reference
Section 8)

Funding request

The total funding request is £5.05m over a period of five 
years. 

The request represents the cost of establishing the 
resource to deliver the EDDE-Hub and finance to support 
engagement with academics and teachers.

Rationale for the project

Exeter is developing as a national and international hub for 
data analytics. However, growth is potentially constrained 
by a lack of skills. Exeter continues to host many 
neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation. Aspiration 
and rates of progression to higher level learning are low. 
We need to raise understanding of the job opportunities 
being created by growth in Exeter and to create a pathway 
that enables young people to benefit from the employment 
opportunities being generated in and around the city. 

Learning identities, e.g. that ‘maths is boring’, are forged at 
an early age. New technologies and flexibilities are creating 
opportunities to better engage young people through 

more engaging and meaningful approaches to teaching 
and learning, forged by bringing academics, teachers and 
employers together to co-create new curricula. 

We need to address recruitment difficulties and difficulties 
that teachers have keeping up to date with the rapid pace of 
change in technologies and working-practice in sectors that 
are critical to successful delivery of the city vision.

Economic outputs

Deriving an estimated economic return on investment in 
the EDDE-Hub, involves estimating the extent to which it 
is likely to encourage the 2,500 students that we propose 
to reach over five years to take up higher levels of study in 
relevant subjects such as computer science, mathematics 
and data science. Taking a prudent assessment of students 
progressing to higher education, the proposal is likely to 
generate the following outputs:

• Increase in lifetime earnings of individuals directly
supported by EDDE-Hub by £30m.

• Increase individuals’ earnings over just the first five years
of operation can be estimated to be around £5.7m

• Productivity impact of EDDE-Hub approximately £9
million over its first five years

• Lifetime productivity impact of the EDDE-Hub’s first
five years of operation is estimated to be around £47m
(although labour mobility means that not all of this will be
experienced within Exeter.)

“we will use data more  
effectively to enhance the city’s 
planning, education, businesses 
and communities”

£30m increase in
lifetime earnings
of individuals 

£9million 
productivity impact
over the 1st 5 years

P
age 230



2928 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.3

Proposal 7: Skills Escalators

Project brief

This project brings education and training providers 
together to contribute to the National and local LEP 
priority of increasing productivity. The key objective is to 
raise awareness, understanding and aspiration to pursue 
employment opportunities in sectors and businesses that 
are critical to the growth of the Exeter economy.  

By integrating the skills provision, we will enable young 
people to move seamlessly between providers progressively 
acquiring the higher-level skills required for jobs in these 
sectors. Building on the development of the Data Analytics 
Skills Escalator, this project seeks create pathways to skills 
and employment:  

• To offer curriculum in specific areas to allow adults to
upskill or retrain in a priority area

• To better engage employers in the development of
careers information advice and guidance, curriculum
content, teaching and learning methods, provision of
placements

• To better educate parents so that they are aware of local
job opportunities in priority industries and to promote the
benefits of the Outstanding local education offer

• To give clarity on curriculum options and qualification
types for young people, adults, parents and employers

Proposal 6: Sparx

Project brief

This project seeks to achieve city-wide transformation 
of mathematics skills through the development and roll-
out of education technology. This programme will lead to 
improved educational outcomes and related wider social 
and economic benefits.  

This ambitious programme will be underpinned by 
outstanding research driven through the Exeter Digital & 
Data Education Hub (EDDE-Hub) and will be supported 
through the City’s associated data skills escalator. The 
programme had been co-developed by Sparx, the University 
of Exeter and schools.

Funding request

The total funding request is £16.1m (across 5 years). 
This funding represents:

• £14.1M to cover costs of supplying Sparx products to all
schools, prison, FE college and all eligible individuals in
Exeter free of charge

• £2M to fund the Sparx ECR team (Exeter City Research)
working alongside / with the EDDE-Hub  to generate
city wide research and analytics on the improvement
to educational outcomes through the use of Sparx
technology and the wider social and economic impacts
of those improved educational outcomes

Rationale for the project

There are 3 primary drivers for this programme:

1. Mathematics attainment levels in Exeter and across the
UK are not at the desired level

2. Existing research shows that poor mathematics
attainment leads to poor productivity

3. The Industrial Strategy calls for an increase in the number
of people skilled in mathematics

With this in mind there are 4 core objectives of the 
programme

1. To improve the education provision and learning
outcomes in mathematics for all eligible learners in Exeter

2. To provide a consistent platform for mathematics learning
across all schools and individual learners

3. To capture an accessible city wide data set on
mathematics attainment and progress that can be linked
to other datasets (e.g health - Exeter 10,000)

4. Via the EDDE-Hub undertake research on city-wide
educational outcomes in mathematics and to understand
the wider social and economic impacts of these
outcomes.

This aligns closely to the core mission of Sparx which 
is ‘To improve educational outcomes through research-
based technologies that empower educators and motivate 
students’ as well as the key drivers of city leaders of smart, 
sustainable and inclusive growth.

“‘To improve educational 
outcomes through research-
based technologies that empower 
educators and motivate students’”

Economic outputs

A regional-scale mathematics programme such as proposed 
here, has considerable potential to generate improvements 
across a wide range of economic indicators, ranging from 
educational attainment to increased wages and even 
improved health. 

In the high outcome scenario, this project could result in 
individuals obtaining up to 0.42 additional years of schooling 
and increase the probability of obtaining at least a higher 
education degree by up to 15%. The programme could 
further increase hourly wages up to 14%, increase the 
probability of employment by up to 3% and decrease the 
probability of being NEET (Not in Education, Employment or 
Training) upon finishing school by up to 17%.

“bringing education and training 
providers together to contribute 
to the National and local LEP 
priority of increasing productivity”

Funding request

The total funding request is £3.5m.

The request represents the costs of establishing specialist 
careers guidance, development of apprenticeship schemes 
and enhancing the teaching and learning provision by 
recruiting specialist teachers.

Rationale for the project

Exeter is one of the fastest growing cities and home to 
leading national employers, such as Flybe. This growth is 
potentially constrained by a lack of skills.

Young people locally and nationally are poorly informed 
about the careers and job opportunities that are available to 
them. Where they do have careers in mind, the learning and 
skills pathways required to gain these jobs are often poorly 
understood or poorly developed. 

To provide opportunities for adults, including those in low 
skilled employment, to upskill or change career to a local 
priority industry. There is a high proportion of adults qualified 
up to level 3 in Devon, however there is still a large number 
in low paid jobs. 

Education and training providers in the region are coming 
together with strategic partners to develop coherent 
approach to the skills needs of pivotal industries, through 
the creation of skills escalators.

Economic outputs

This proposal is in an early stage of development. 
Stakeholder meetings are in progress and the specifics 
requirements of the programme are yet to be finalised. It 
is expected that this project will deliver benefits in terms 
of lifetime earnings and productivity. However, at this 
stage, it is difficult to state, with any robust assumptions, 
what the outcomes will be. Furthermore, these are likely 
to be strongly linked into outcomes delivered by the other 
business case sin this theme and therefore hard to extract.

0.42 additional
years of schooling

15% increase 
in obtaining a higher 
education degree

P
age 231



3130 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.3

Proposal 8: South West Institute of 
Technology

Project brief

Led by the University of Exeter, the South West Institute of 
Technology (SWIoT) will deliver industry standard, higher 
level technical education from levels 4 to level 7 for the 
digital and advanced manufacturing (4.0) sectors across 
Cornwall, Devon and Somerset.  SWIoT will, among other 
investments, combine DfE capital funding with partner 
investments to establish two new buildings in Exeter, 
providing a purpose-built, professional environment for 
teaching a range of digital technologies and data sciences. 

A SWIOT Employer Leadership Group and Observatory will 
be established to track labour market and industry trends 
and to ensure that provision is tailored to employers’ needs 
and meets industry standards.   

A SWIOT Staff Development Academy will support 
recruitment and development, translating SWIOT 
Observatory findings into practical advances in evidence-
based teaching and learning.

Funding request

The total SWIOT Capital programme is valued at £25.1M, 
including a request for DfE capital funding of £15.1M. This 
funding will support a mix of new build, refurbishment and 
equipment at delivery sites across the region ensuring 
extensive coverage of the SW’s travel to learn areas. 

This business case requests funding of £16m.

Rationale for the project

Skills gaps and recruitment difficulties are a major constraint 
to growth in digital and data analytics-based sectors. This 
project will deliver the intermediate and higher-level technical 
skills required to drive employer competitiveness in key 
strategic high-productivity sectors for Exeter and the wider 
region. 

£44m increase 
in the earnings 
of trained individuals 

“the South West Institute of 
Technology will deliver industry 
standard, higher level technical 
education from levels 4 to level 
7 for the digital and advanced 
manufacturing sectors”

Young people’s awareness of the interesting and rewarding 
employment opportunities or these sectors is poorly 
developed. 

Exeter College is experiencing difficulties recruiting talented 
teaching staff, including staff from industry, with cutting edge 
digital and data skills. 

There is a need for innovation and improved approaches to 
the teaching in maths and computer science and to ensure 
that these approaches are informed by the latest industry 
practice. 

Economic outputs

The training delivered during SWIOT’s first five years of 
its operation is estimated to generate an increase in the 
earnings of individuals trained by £44m over the course of 
their working lives.  

On the basis that SWIOT generates the profiled skills / 
qualifications at a constant state over the first five years of 
operation, the impact of the Exeter University and Exeter 
College’s contribution to SWIOT on individuals earnings 
over the first five years of operation is around £8.5m and an 
estimated productivity impact of around £13.75 million over 
its first five years.

P
age 232



3332 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Section 2.4

Ensuring the right enabling 
environment is key to ensuring 
that our City can harness the 
collective energies of business  
and institutions across the City 
to make change and deliver the 
proposed economic outputs of  
our industrial strategy. 

This theme contains a single proposal to develop a single organisation that 
formalises the collaboration across the City and creates a programme office 
to own the transformational goals for our City and mobilise and coordinate 
organisations and individuals to work towards the delivery of our city vision.

Putting in place the right institutional capability and capacity will be crucial in 
unlocking the benefits highlighted elsewhere in this proposal. In this sense, the 
economic benefits of this proposal are indirect, but they crucially reflect the 
enabling aspect of this proposal. Without having the right institutional support  
in place, the benefits will be delivered more slowly, in a less integrated fashion  
and in a lower quality.

Section 2.4
Theme 4: Enabling Environment

Proposal 9: Exeter City Futures

Project brief

Exeter City Futures is an independent Community 
Interest Company that is working to help Exeter to solve 
its urbanisation challenges in a way that reduces social 
inequality and contributes to economic growth. Our vision 
is to help Exeter live better by bringing together local 
government, private sector and communities through 
a single programme to jointly solve the big challenges 
facing our city. Through a range of innovation and data 
programmes we are co-creating solutions that meet the 
needs of the City and inspiring action that contributes 
towards sustainable change.

Funding request

The total funding request is £6.7m over 5 years.

The request represents £350k pa to establish and fund an 
independent City Programme Office team to manage and 
measure progress towards the Goals. The team would 
coordinate projects to address the Goals, build a network of 
organisations with the right governance structure to embed 
long-term change and actively promote and share the model 
for change being delivered in Exeter to support other Cities.  

In addition a further £5m fund is requested to support 
organisations across the City (and the wider region) to 
access and co-create innovations that deliver our Goals.  
Funding would be allocated by the cross-stakeholder Board 
of Exeter City Futures to support: 

• Facilitation and workshop support to city organisations to
undertake analytical challenge definition and identify clear
challenges to be solved

• Acceleration support and grants for commercial and
social enterprises to build sustainable projects and
businesses that address our city goals

• Open competitions offering funded pilots to start-ups
and social enterprises who have the potential to address
challenges

• Funding for data collection equipment that can support
development and delivery of collaborative innovation
projects

Rationale for the project

Exeter is a City that is growing fast, we have an opportunity 
to provide a blueprint for how other cities can address the 
challenges of continued economic and population growth. 
Financial constraints and the complexity of the challenges 
faced by Cities restrict what can be done by local authorities 
alone. There is a need for a new model. 

As Exeter continues to grow and we build the housing 
numbers required to support this growth, it is critical that 
we form strong collaborative partnerships across the city 
including with Devon County Council and neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that we can meet our vision of a 
connected city that is a great place to live, work, study, visit 
and socialise in.

Exeter City Futures enables the City Council to formally 
partner with other leading organisations from across the city 
to harness individual effort, create shared responsibility for 
delivering a better Exeter and bring coordination and focus 
to the challenges we face.

Through this programme we aim to create the right 
governance structures which will provide clarity of vision, 
commitment to place making and stability which enables the 
city to manage risk and raise investment. Exeter City Futures 
will function as a city programme office; holding a set of 
shared goals, removing the need for individual negotiations 
and business plans and working at a faster pace to deliver 
for all organisations within the City.

“We aim to create the right 
governance structures which 
will provide clarity of vision, 
commitment to place making and 
stability which enables  
the city to manage risk and raise 
investment”

Economic outputs

The proposal does not directly deliver economic outputs 
that can be quantified. Instead Exeter City Futures is an 
enabling programme that formalises partnerships and 
ensures the efficient and coherent delivery of all the projects 
within this proposal. Exeter City Futures brings greater 
surety that the other projects go ahead in a timely manner, 
are of high quality and that they fit with strategic aims.

P
age 233



3534 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Concluding
Remarks

Our vision and delivery plan for Exeter 
supports and enhances the identified pillars of 
government’s Modern Industrial Strategy.  
The commitment, now, from central 
government will help us to demonstrate that 
our collaborative approach is a solution to 
Exeter’s (and other cities’) growth targets and 
its place-making vision. 

Moreover, with central government committed to helping us taking a fresh 
approach to the infrastructure investment it will likely need to make anyway over 
the next 20 years in the area, we can build a more financially efficient, planning 
controlled investment programme that truly delivers for Exeter’s ambition as well 
as providing a benchmark for the UK’s industrial strategy and plans for clean, 
inclusive, sustainable cities.

Concluding Rem
arks

The City has a growing list of supporters and programmes which complement the 
approach described in this proposal. To truly deliver the place-based industrial 
strategy our approach recognises the team of stakeholders and their importance 
to the programme:

• Exeter City Council - ECC is the driving force behind the city’s
transformational programme and is the key partner to ECF in its role as the
innovation and sustainable finance enabler. The Council is already exploring
strategic sites across the city to develop sustainable urban villages through a
new vehicle. Our sustainable finance approach seeks to collaborate and build
on that work to deliver a truly scaled solution.

• The University of Exeter - with a new Innovation, Impact and Business team,
the university is ambitious in its plans for regional economic transformation
and recognises the strength in delivering the City’s vision in partnership with
the City Council and ECF. The University is also establishing a new Institute
for Data Science, and is a partner in SetSquared, recognised last year as the
number one University-Business incubator in the world

• Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Trust - The health agenda is at the heart of the
benefits within the programme. As Trust is currently considering its own site
development plan including decisions around land disposal, housing, retail and
car parking, it recognises the need for innovative input on design solutions and
potential financing models.

• Exeter College - Recently rated as the number one FE College in the Country
by FE Week, the College and the University have submitted an Expression of
Interest to bid for an Institute of Technology, specialising in Data Science and
data Analytics. Along with upcoming data apprenticeships planned at ECF, the
College is integral to the key innovation and data themes and part of building
our support for the collaborative, innovative approach required.

• The Met Office - The Met Office has an international reputation for world-class
environmental science: its climate research centre, the Hadley Centre, has
been ranked as the world’s leading geophysical institution, ahead of Harvard
and Princeton, in terms of the influence of its peer reviewed publications. The
recent south-west Science and Innovation audit classified the MET Office as a
key regional asset and catalyst for growth.

• County and District Councils - through the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan
(GESP), wider planning development in the region and more devolved asset
management in the next two decades, the Councils in the Greater Exeter area
are key partners in the joined up approach recognised as required.

• Exeter City Futures Partner Network - the ECF partner network, comprised
of city-wide professional services and infrastructure firms, is already mobilised,
having signed declarations of support for the programme, pledged expertise,
attended strategic planning events and shared critical data sets for analysis in
feasibility project work.

This stakeholder group is in Exeter is making an intervention now. Recognising 
the need for reform in how we develop and interact with our cities and its citizens 
and recognising the opportunity that exists to harness better finance, data, 
and innovation, the collaborative approach set out in this White Paper is a bold 
solution.  

With the support of this group, and alongside central government, Exeter is ready 
to deliver the place-making benefits that will be an example of success for the 
UK’s industrial strategy.

P
age 234



36 UK Industrial Stragety - Exeter: the engine for regional growth

Exeter City Council
Civic Centre, Paris Street
Exeter, Devon, EX1 1JN 
United Kingdom

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 261

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 267

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 291

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 293

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 325

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Corporate Plan
	ECC Strategy 2018-21

	6 South Street Regeneration
	South Street Urban Design Proposals_Final MC, 13/09/2018 Place Scrutiny Committee

	7 PSPO Spotlight Review Report
	PSPO Map of PSPO border shaded AMH, 13/09/2018 Place Scrutiny Committee

	8 Proposal to introduce an updated Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy
	Appendix A & B - Gambling Consultation Responses, 18/09/2018 Licensing Committee
	Draft Gambling Policy May 2018, 18/09/2018 Licensing Committee

	9 Additional Staffing to deal with changed in Mandatory Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing
	10 Overview of the General Fund Budget 2018/19
	GF Overview June 18 - Appendix A, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	GF Overview June 18 - Appendix B, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	GF Overview June 18 - Appendix C, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee

	11 2018/19 Capital Monitoring Statement - Quarter 1
	Appendix 1, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 2, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 3, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 4 GF, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 4 HRA, 27/09/2018 Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee

	12 Replacement Audio and Visual Equipment
	13 Neighbourhood portion of Community Infra-Structure Levy/ Grants Roots Grants recommendations October 2018
	14 TEDxExeter
	15 Local Industrial Strategy
	Industrial Strategy Report

	16 Future of Growth & Enterprise
	17 Additional Resources - Finance
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D
	APPENDIX E




